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Sustainability reporting in terms of the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)

This report is prepared in accordance with the guidelines for sustainability reporting
developed by the GRI, which is attracting growing support from organisations such as
ours around the world.

It presents and analyses the performance of Barloworld in economic, environmental and
social terms, which are generally agreed to be the crucial determinants of sustainability
and are known as “the triple bottom line”. 

We believe that the GRI structure, which is the framework for this report, promotes
transparency, enhances the clarity and credibility of our communication with our diverse
stakeholders, facilitates comparisons across organisations throughout the world and
addresses issues that concern the broad sweep/spectrum of stakeholders.

Our intention is to give users of this report a clearer understanding of our operations, the
principles that drive them and the impact that they make on the economic, social and
physical environments in which we conduct our business.

In fact, the elements of sustainability are embedded in Barloworld’s Value Based
Management approach, in which our entire business is geared to creating value for all
our stakeholders simultaneously – our shareholders, customers, employees, principals and
suppliers, and the wider community, including custodianship of the physical environment. 

These value creation objectives underpin the sustainability of our enterprise.

For further information on the GRI visit www.globalreporting.org
www.globalreporting.org

The GRI Index

Throughout this report, the GRI content index is referenced in the margins of the pages.
All “Core Indicators” are discussed in the report. The references in the margins also
indicate those aspects of the GRI framework that have not been reported on. These are
listed as “NOT ASSESSED” and are all “Additional Indicators”.

Photography

The photographs on pages 17 to 41 illustrate some of Barloworld’s diverse product
range. The photographs on pages 45 to 61 are of the business unit finalists in our annual
CEO’s Award competition. The overall winner for 2004 was Alex Frielingsdorf of
Barloworld Motor (see page 61).

SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

Financial year-end 30 September
Annual general meeting 20 January 2005

Reports and profit statements Published:
• Half-yearly interim report May
• Results for the year November
• Annual report December

Dividends Declared: Paid:
• 6% cumulative preference shares March April

September October
• Ordinary shares – interim May July

– final November January

Details of final dividend declared
• Cents per share 265
• Date declared Monday, 15 November 2004
• Last day to trade cum dividend Friday, 7 January 2005
• First trading day ex dividend Monday, 10 January 2005
• Record date Friday, 14 January 2005
• Payment date Monday, 17 January 2005

Share certificates may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between Monday, 10 January 2005 and Friday, 14 January 2005, both
days inclusive.

Secretary
MJ Barnett

Business address and registered office
180 Katherine Street
PO Box 782248, Sandton, 2146
South Africa
Telephone +27 11 445 1000
Telefax +27 11 444 3643
Website www.barloworld.com

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche
Deloitte & Touche Place
The Woodlands
Corner Woodlands and Kelvin Drives
Woodmead, 2199
South Africa
Telephone +27 11 806 5000
Telefax +27 11 806 5003

Attorneys
Bowman Gilfillan Inc
165 West Street, Sandton
PO Box 785812, Sandton, 2146
South Africa
Telephone +27 11 669 9000
Telefax +27 11 669 9001

Transfer secretaries
Ultra Registrars (Pty) Limited
11 Diagonal Street
PO Box 4844
Johannesburg
2000
South Africa
Telephone +27 11 834 2266
Telefax +27 11 834 4398
E-mail barloworld@ultrareg.co.za

United Kingdom registrar
Lloyds TSB Registrars
The Causeway, Worthing
West Sussex, BN99 6DA, 
England
Telephone +44 190 350 2541
Telefax +44 190 385 4031

Principal bankers
Absa Group Limited
Australia and New Zealand Banking
Group Limited
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria S.A.
Bank of America, NA
Citibank International plc
FirstRand Bank Limited
Lloyds TSB Bank plc
Nedbank Limited

Royal Bank of Scotland plc
(National Westminster Bank plc)
The Standard Bank of South Africa
Limited
WestLB AG, London Branch

Company registration number
1918/000095/06
JSE codes: BAW and BAWP
ISIN codes: ZAE000026639 and

ZAE000026647

Sponsor
Cazenove, South Africa (Pty) Limited

(Johannesburg)
First Floor, Moorgate
Dunkeld Park, 6 North Road
Dunkeld West
PO Box 412468, Craighall, 2124
Johannesburg, South Africa
Telephone +27 11 280 7900
Telefax +27 11 341 0377

(London)
20 Moorgate
London EC2R6DA
England
Telephone +44 207 588 2828
Telefax +44 207 606 9205

CORPORATE INFORMATION

G R A P H I C O R
3 1 2 8 4



Bar lowor ld annual  report  2004.  Wri t ten in accordance with the GRI  guide l ines 1

This is an important time in our 102 year history. We are approaching
the half way mark in the first decade of the twenty first century with
a quiet confidence. Our track record is our credentials.

In 2004 we generated record profits from our highest ever revenues.

We have achieved this through focused teams of industry specialists
backed by a powerful integrated approach to business.

We strive for leadership in what we do. That demands innovation
and evolution.

Our success is built on a foundation of diversity. 

We seek to create value for all our stakeholders. 

This stems from our vision to create a sustainable organisation
through the way we do business – the Barloworld way of ethics,
integrity, long-term relationships – of leadership.

In 2004 we have:

• Grown headline earnings per share 45% to 857 cents

• Declared dividends of 380 cents per share, up 31% from 2003

• Increased the number of people we employ by 2 484 to 25 233

• Maintained our presence in 31 countries

• Introduced many new products and services to our customers

• Continued to invest 1% of our after tax profits on social and

environmental initiatives

BARLOWORLD IS A DIVERSIFIED 
INTERNATIONAL INDUSTRIAL COMPANY



CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

WAM CLEWLOW

Through a strong operational perfor-
mance, Barloworld Limited has produced
excellent results in the diverse world
markets in which we operate.

The results, in South African rands,
prepared in terms of International Financial
Reporting Standards show:

• Turnover increasing by 6% from
R34 603 million to R36 673 million

• Operating profit increasing by 21%
from R2 342 million to R2 836 million

• Net profit after taxation increasing by
32% from R1 342 million to 
R1 776 million.

All of this translates into headline
earnings per share of 857 cents – an
increase of 45% over last year’s
achievement of 593 cents.

The cash generated at operational
level was R4 251 million. The group’s
balance sheet remains sound and all key
Balance Sheet ratios are conservative.

For our shareholders we are well on track
to achieving the four year goal of
doubling the value of our group by 2006.

The board announced a final dividend of
265 cents making a total for the year of
380 cents – an increase of 31% over last
year.

2

FINANCIAL SUMMARY 2004 2003 % 2004 2003 %
for the year ended 30 September 2004 Rand Rand change US$ US$ change

Revenue (millions) 36 673 34 603 6 5 552 4 305 29

Operating profit (millions) 2 836 2 342 21 429 291 47
Cash generated from operations (millions) 4 251 3 523 21 644 438 47
Headline earnings per share (cents) 857 593 45 130 74 76
Ordinary dividends per share (cents) 380 290 31 58 36 61
Net asset value per share (cents) 5 576 5 122 9 861 728 18
Total assets (millions) 27 842 23 756 17 4 300 3 377 27
Cash flow return on investment (CFROI®) (%) 8.9 8.1
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It is pleasing to see the growth in our
shareholder base from all parts of the
world. For our international shareholders
the group results translated into sterling
show:
• Revenue increased by 15%
• Operating profit increased by 31%
• Headline earnings per share increased

by 57%; and
• the dividend for the year increased by

42%.

When translated into US dollars and euros
the results reflect the same positive trend.

Barloworld Limited operates in 31
countries around the world with 49% of
our revenue generated in currencies other
than in South African rands.

As a South African domiciled company,
the corporate office which provides
leadership for the group is based in
Sandton, South Africa, and this is a
proven base from which to direct
effectively the various businesses we
operate in the global markets.

The Barloworld Group is led by the Chief
Executive, Mr Tony Phillips, ably backed by
experienced executives and staff
worldwide.

The non-executive directors with their
local South African and international
experience add to the effectiveness of the
group’s strategy, operations and
governance.

I am privileged to lead a board and
executives who work well together and
trust one another. We acknowledge the
sound principles of the past on which the
group was built, and ensure modernity by
constantly adapting to current conditions
and today’s best practices.

The No 1 priority of Barloworld has
always been its integrity and the
protection of shareholders’ funds.
Profitability follows. It is not the
other way round.

THE WORLD ECONOMY
The past year has seen very positive
developments on the economic front in
South Africa. Inflation has largely been
brought under control, helped by the firm
rand, and this has enabled interest rates to
fall to levels last seen in the early 1980s.
This in turn led to improved confidence
with firms taking advantage of the climate
to modernise plant and equipment
(private gross fixed capital formation grew
by 11% in the 12 months to June 2004).
Plans for further significant investment
over the next few years have increased,

ranging from mining to industry, tourism
and construction. The public sector has
also become more active, with substantial
infrastructural spending starting to take
place.

Lower interest rates, reasonable gains in
personal incomes and a broadening of
economic participation helped to push
consumer spending significantly higher.
This was particularly true in durable
goods, where car sales reached record
highs as the year progressed.

The South African government’s
consistent economic policy approach is
again to be applauded. Disciplined fiscal
policies have made possible necessary
spending on infrastructure and social
needs, and the achievement of inflation
targets has resulted in lower nominal and
real interest rates. The process of
normalising capital flows was further
enhanced by the successful foreign
exchange control and tax amnesty, and
further exchange control relaxation on
companies late in the year. This steady
calculated approach carries the support of
the IMF and has proved effective over the
past few years.

The international environment was also
broadly supportive. South Africa’s
reduced risk premium helped increase the
attractiveness of local assets and
contributed to rand strength resulting in
the reduced cost of capital. Dollar
weakness and robust international
demand, particularly from China,
increased commodity prices and exports
of minerals and metals. Unfortunately,
rand strength did have its darker side,
impacting negatively on certain
manufactured exports and import-
replacement industries.

Growth in the global economy where
Barloworld divisions operate has been
strong and exceeded expectations. This
growth was driven by the sustained
expansion of the Chinese economy which
created tremendous demand for materials
and manufactured imports, and by
consumer spending in the USA. The
recovery of the USA economy was wider
than expected and extended to business
investment plans.

The UK economy maintained its sound
performance on the back of its strong
service sector whilst Australia continues to
power ahead fuelled by exports to Asia.
Spain is keeping its economy on an even
keel still achieving an annual growth rate
in excess of 3% with its strong emphasis
on infrastructural development. Some of
the other European economies and

particularly Germany have not succeeded
in raising their performances in sync with
these achievers. This poor performance is
ascribed to the relative strength of the
Euro, but the main impediment I think,
remains labour market rigidity.

THE ECONOMIC OUTLOOK
In South Africa many of these benign
conditions are expected to persist in
2005. The rand is not expected to ease
significantly given expected inflows and
persistent dollar weakness. Inflation is
therefore likely to remain within the
Reserve Bank’s 3% to 6% target range,
making strong rises in interest rates
unlikely. However, some tightening in
monetary policy may be necessary given
the speed of the build up in consumer
debt following the stronger spending
patterns of the past 18 months.

The key risk to growth is the global
economic and financial environment.
Stimulatory policies in the US are on the
wane and China has taken measures to
cool off an overheating economy. The
combination could lead to a weaker
climate than is generally expected, which
would have negative implications for
commodity prices and export volumes.

The activities of the business divisions of
Barloworld are spread out into many
countries of the world, with emphasis on
fixed investment development. Our
businesses will make progress in line with
the economic performance in the
countries in which we operate.

The challenge is to translate profits into
higher stakeholder value in every one of
the different parts of Barloworld.

EQUIPMENT
Our Caterpillar operations in Iberia
continued to perform strongly at the
same high level as in the previous year.
Government’s strategy is to continue with
the local development of infrastructure
and this will give us further business
opportunities through the broad range of
Caterpillar products. We have made good
progress with the installation of the
Finaltair power plant in Spain and expect
to finalise commissioning shortly. This is
an excellent example of moving down the
solution path in what has typically been a
product business.

In our dealer operations in southern
Africa, we have experienced mixed
fortunes. Many customers have had to
deal with the adverse impacts of the ever
strengthening rand. Despite this, our
team, working closely with Caterpillar,
has remained focused and delivered



excellent results. Operating margins have
continued to show improvement and the
consistent forward cover policy has
enabled us to emerge unscathed from
another year where currencies have been
volatile and the rand has continued to
show strength.

Our existing operations in Siberia
continue to grow and made a profit for
the second successive year. We have
recently mounted a major expansion to
our Caterpillar dealer territory in partner-
ship with the American Caterpillar dealer
Wagner of Denver in Colorado. Siberia is
a difficult but exciting area to operate in
and has the potential for great growth in
the future.

The unprecedented worldwide demand
for Caterpillar products which is growing
from strength to strength has caused real
supply challenges in meeting the
demands of our customers. In times like
this our strong dealer principal
relationship and understanding comes
into its own.

We expect the global demand
for commodities to remain firm and with
infrastructural development a high
priority in many of the areas in the world
where we operate we are poised to
further grow our Caterpillar business
strongly backed by our principal.

INDUSTRIAL DISTRIBUTION
In UK/Europe our Materials Handling
business ended on a strong note after a
relatively quiet year. The addition of
territory in Holland boosted European
activity. The USA economy strengthened
during the year generating increased
demand for both Hyster lift trucks and
Freightliner heavy duty trucks. Unit sales
rose 6% and 145% respectively and
profits increased considerably over last
year. Our trading conditions are strongly
supported by our leasing business which
continued to achieve satisfactory returns.

MOTOR
The past year has been a significant one
for Barloworld Motor with considerable
gains having been made in our strategic
pursuit of transforming the division from
a vehicle retail and service operation into
a customer focused vehicle solutions
provider.

We have made much progress in the
alignment of our dealership network to
support our strategy of “Fewer, Bigger,
Better” while securing the full ownership
of Avis Southern Africa as from the end of
March 2004. This provides us with

challenges to expand our offering to our
customers throughout the life of a vehicle
and create significant synergistic benefits.

Avis had a sound operational perfor-
mance and enjoyed a profitable growth
over the comparable period. We welcome
the Avis team to our group and together
we will become a formidable force in the
southern African markets.

The South African operations ended the
year with much improved results with a
strong increase of sales of new units,
improved margins and a greater market
share.

Our BEE joint venture, NMI Durban South
Motors in which we hold a stake of 50%
performed well.

Barloworld Motor in Australia did not
perform well considering the favourable
market conditions and is being realigned
and strengthened with the strategies
which have served us well in the past. We
are building a sound base from which to
grow in the future.

Economic conditions in the markets in
which we operate are expected to remain
favourable and all our businesses
anticipate real growth in the year ahead.
25% of Barloworld employees are now
accounted for in this growing division.

CEMENT AND LIME
Pretoria Portland Cement (PPC) where
Barloworld has a 72% shareholding again
produced strong results. South African
domestic cement demand grew at a
higher rate than originally anticipated and
ended almost 16% up on last year.
Operating profits increased by 35% with
the cement margin reflecting an
improvement on the back of these higher
volumes, continued production
efficiencies and tight cost control.
Improved levels of infrastructural
development spending and a buoyant
housing construction market continued
while further interest rate cuts also
stimulated the growth in this market. As
PPC does not face heavy capital
expenditure in the short term, in addition
to the normal dividend a special dividend
of R14 per share was declared to
shareholders.

With PPC’s continued involvement with
environmental issues, small business
ventures in communities, and its people
development with emphasis on
transformation, it is clearly evident that all
stakeholders have benefited greatly from
PPC’s well-rounded performance.

COATINGS
The Coatings division experienced a
record year. All sectors performed well
bolstered by good margin management,
volume growth in southern Africa and an
improved product mix. The performance
of the Australian business was adversely
affected by one-off costs.

The division is in a growth phase
and during the year the International
Colourant Corporation (ICC) was
acquired and successfully positioned as a
strategic free-standing business unit. The
colourant systems it offers constitute a
key component of the very promising
project in China which is currently the
subject of a confidentiality agreement
with a major multinational in the
Coatings field.

SCIENTIFIC
Overall results were disappointing. In
Melles Griot, whilst the previous year’s
operating loss was turned into a profit, it
is below what we would expect to earn.
Operations have been streamlined and
there are encouraging new product
offerings. In Europe the laboratory
business experienced mixed trading
conditions with stronger performances in
the UK, Spain and Italy contrasting with
flat markets elsewhere in the Euro zone.
A fundamental review of the entire
business is under way to return it to
acceptable levels of profit.

STEEL TUBE
The trend of improving profits returned to
this division this year with a substantial
increase in profitability.

This business has a dependence on the
prospects of the mining sector, its
suppliers and exports. This prevented this
year’s results from reaching a new high.

The determination of the government to
upgrade the nation’s infrastructure will be
a positive factor for improved future
results.

CORPORATE AND OTHER
The corporate operations are primarily the
corporate offices in South Africa and the
United Kingdom and include shared
services such as treasury, risk
management, group insurance and
information technology. Other operations
include the developing logistics
businesses in Spain and South Africa.

TREASURY RISK MANAGEMENT
The group’s policies with respect to the
hedging of foreign currency exposures
and the management of treasury risks, in

4
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place for many years, have been
formalised this year in a Group Treasury
policy document. The policy firmly
outlines the group’s risk philosophy and
provides a framework within which
financial and operational risks are
identified and managed in a structured,
transparent and controlled manner.
Authority levels and limits are set and
reviewed semi-annually. For a group
such as ours trading internationally the
adherence to this discipline is a
cornerstone for successful financial
management.

BLACK ECONOMIC
EMPOWERMENT
Barloworld is committed to the Black
Economic Empowerment (BEE) process.
And not just any form of BEE. Rather, we
are committed to BEE that is broad-based,
the most difficult yet rewarding form of
such empowerment possible.

We do so because a courageous
approach to broadening the stakeholder
base of our operations will be to the
benefit of the company and the countries
well beyond the borders of South Africa.
Indeed, properly done, Black Economic
Empowerment holds the promise of
strengthening the social fabric by giving
vastly greater numbers of people a stake
in the economy.

The pillar of the Barloworld BEE strategy
is to continue with the process which is
already well under way of continuously
improving the quality of life of our
employees and that of their families and
dependants. This is done through skills
upgrading, opportunities for career
advancement and greater all-round job
satisfaction.

This, and attention to employment equity,
skills and enterprise development as well
as focused corporate social investment
has been our approach for some time. But
it will increasingly be supported by
dedicated attention to a shareholder
component for our black stakeholders.

Crucially, our approach will see
Barloworld introduce an innovative
programme of broad-based external black
shareholding components to our
ownership. We do so because we believe
in the commercial advantage of genuinely
broadening our ownership base.

Barloworld is a strong believer in and
supporter of the South African
government’s Nepad (New Partnership for
Africa’s Development) initiative. We have
long since recognised that South Africa

cannot exist successfully as “an island of
prosperity in a sea of poverty”, to quote
a speaker of foresight at a recent Eskom
african business leadership forum. The
thrust of Nepad is to encourage political
stability, develop the economic potential
of the continent (a potential which is
undoubtedly there and richly enhanced by
Africa’s oil reserves) and to promote intra-
Africa trade. The setting of good
governance examples is also a high
priority.

Africa needs leaders who craft modern
democratic states that embrace a vision in
which all Africans support each other and
achieve positive change together.
Shouldn’t we in South Africa be a prime
mover in providing this leadership and
talent?

Barloworld, alongside other enterprising
South African companies, is playing a role
in this process but what is needed is a far
greater all-inclusive South Africa-led effort
in this regard. I had hoped BEE would
become a driving force for the attainment
of Nepad’s goals, but the way BEE has
been undertaken has not always lived up
to this challenge. For instead of being a
process primarily of developing and giving
opportunities to our people of hitherto
untapped talent, we see a BEE developing
where, cynically, some in business buy off
a few politically influential and fortunate
(and now overstretched) individuals to
provide a veneer of legitimacy to claims
that shareholder and management
patterns are changing in the formal
sector. BEE has to date sometimes sent
out the wrong message about
entitlement, is stifling the spirit of black
entrepreneurship; and fills ordinary
citizens of every hue with resentment.

Through these missed opportunities of
the BEE process and its promise, we
risk throwing away a wonderful
opportunity of preparing our people to
play the leadership role in sustainable
development throughout Africa and
particularly the southern African region.
So let it be “back to the drawing board”
– and let’s then honestly, properly and
unselfishly assess where the next priorities
and opportunities in the carrying out of
much needed and broad-based
empowerment really lie.

BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
During the year Mr Peter Maybury, having
reached the mandatory retirement age,
retired from the Board. Peter served our
overseas interests with great distinction
for many years and we wish him well in
his retirement. I have great pleasure in

welcoming Mr John Blackbeard as an
executive director and Mr Gonzalo
Rodriguez de Castro Garcia de los Rios as
a non-executive director to the board.
Both these gentlemen know the group
well and we will benefit from the
contributions they will be able to make to
group affairs.

Finally I wish to thank all my colleagues on
the board and the executive teams and
the staff worldwide ably led by Chief
Executive, Mr Tony Phillips, for their
support and dedication in working
towards the achievement of all our
objectives.

PROSPECTS
As a diverse group operating in world
markets we have to carefully assess the
economic prospects and market sectors in
which we operate, as well as
unpredictable currency fluctuations and
political factors which could have a
bearing on business and consumer
confidence.

Having weighed up all these factors as
best we can, the outlook for 2005 is
positive and knowing that we have a
dedicated strong team backed by an
experienced and engaged Board, I believe
we can look forward to next year with
confidence. I anticipate another year of
solid progress and improved results,
backed by a strong cash flow.

WAM Clewlow
Chairman
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1
VISION AND 
STRATEGY 

1.1 Our vision and
strategy for
sustainable
development Our overriding goal is to sustainably add value for our stakeholders – our

shareholders, our customers, employees, principals and suppliers – and the
communities in which we operate, including our custodianship of the
physical environment.

We strive to make a distinct and positive contribution in the local markets
in which we compete. Our strategies are designed to ensure that the
benefits we bring to all stakeholders will continue for the long term.

VALUE BASED MANAGEMENT
Value Based Management (VBM) is at the heart of how we do business.
What makes VBM different is the recognition that we seek to create value
for all our stakeholders simultaneously.

BUILDING SUSTAINABLE VALUE

SHAREHOLDERSSHAREHOLDERS

CUSTOMERSCUSTOMERS

EMPLOYEESEMPLOYEES

COMMUNITY 
(SOCIAL & ENVIRONMENT)
COMMUNITY 
(SOCIAL & ENVIRONMENT)

PRINCIPALS &
SUPPLIERS
PRINCIPALS &
SUPPLIERS



CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
STATEMENT

AJ PHILLIPS

1.2 CEO’s statement
describing key
elements of the
report
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Barloworld had another successful year in which
we achieved the necessary steps to reach our
medium-term goal of doubling the market value
of our business for all our stakeholders from
2002 to 2006. 

In achieving our economic objectives, we
continued to meet the challenges associated
with our social and environmental performance. 

Where our operations are a potential threat
to the environment we have made steady
progress in minimising possible adverse impacts
by conserving materials and reducing waste.
We also made some notable advances in adding
value for our principals. 

Barloworld’s four main stakeholder

groups are represented by the points of a

pyramid (see opposite) which constitutes

the core of our VBM business model. At

its apex are our shareholders. At its base

are our customers, our employees and

our suppliers and principals. Without all

of these stakeholders, Barloworld could

not survive, let alone grow and prosper.

The VBM approach means that we

measure our businesses success by the

extent to which they add value for all

stakeholder groups within the context of

our all-encompassing social and physical

environments.

CREATING VALUE FOR OUR

SHAREHOLDERS

The remarkable continuing success of our

value adding processes is evident in the

highly satisfactory growth in earnings and

the continuing improvement in our Cash



Flow Return on Investment (CFROI®)

performance measure. I am pleased that,

in an era of increasing globalisation,

through this report, our shareholders will

be able to gain a detailed understanding

of the ways in which we are ensuring the

long-term sustainability of our enterprise,

as evidenced by our performance in

economic, social and environmental

terms.

An important strategic move was to exit

from the pure asset finance business by

disposing of our Caterpillar Equipment

leasing book in South Africa. This

concluded a process that commenced

with the sale of our Motor Leasing book

last year.

Another noteworthy achievement from

the shareholders’ point of view is that we

have refined our Treasury policy in

response to the massive global currency

volatility and particularly the rand. 

ADDING VALUE FOR CUSTOMERS

Most of our divisions measure their

progress in adding value for their

customers though regular customer

satisfaction surveys, often conducted by

independent agencies. All of them rate

customer satisfaction as a key business

driver.

During the past year, the most striking

move towards adding value for

customers was made by Barloworld

Motor. This division now includes Avis

Southern Africa, which was acquired

primarily in order to reposition the

organisation to enable it to offer

customers a more comprehensive range

of vehicle transport and mobility

solutions.

As a result, the reconstructed Barloworld

Motor division is now in a position to

offer customers far more than it could as

a motor retailer. It is able to take care of

every customer’s needs, from purchasing

a new or used vehicle to car rental, from

vehicle service to parts supply, from fleet

services to motor body repairs in

manufacturer-approved facilities. In this

scenario, marking a gradual move away

from traditional notions of vehicle owner-

ship towards varied forms of vehicle

usage, the customer more than ever has

become the central focus of business.

Similarly, our Handling business, in moving

further towards a customer solutions

focus, has implemented integrated supply

chain solutions in the USA and the UK. In

South Africa it has established call centres

for customers requiring new parts and is

increasingly using information technology

to improve customer service. Field

technicians in the UK, for example, are

being equipped with hand-held palm-top

computers to facilitate on-the-job parts

ordering and delivery.

Barloworld Cement has introduced

telemetric signalling re-order levels in

cement silos for customers using its

products, and Barloworld Coatings has

brought new meaning to the concept of

customer service through an advanced

computer-aided colourants system which

allows consumers to take delivery of their

colour choice at the point of sale and at the

time of the transaction. Further advances

in customer service are in the pipeline.

These are a few examples of how our

businesses are adding value for customers.

You will read of others elsewhere in

this report.

GROWING VALUE FOR EMPLOYEES

A second corner of the pyramid base

represents employees, who are the

foundation of our success and by far

our most important asset. Improved

employee performance creates value for

Barloworld and thus a better life for the

wider community in which we have our

businesses.

Our long-term employee value pro-

gramme began with our first enterprise-

wide survey in 1999. Since then we have

leveraged the commitment of our

employees to our values and business

plans. We have sought to enhance their

understanding of how they can make a

difference to our business and to engage

their emotional commitment to actually

making that difference.

We believe that clear and regular

two-way communication between

employees and management across all

businesses is vital if we are to build and

keep a truly global organisation. As part

of this in 2004 we launched Tony On-line

to expand and refine the feedback we

were getting from the column “Chatting

with Tony” which is a regular feature of

our quarterly internal staff video and

newsletter communication process,

“Building Barloworld”. Tony On-line

offers another forum for our people to

give feedback, make suggestions and

question a wide range of issues. It is a

useful addition to the array of regular

group and divisional newsletters,

occasional publications such as “Stories

to Inspire”, video presentations, face-to-

face meetings, the group-wide intranet

and functional team forums. Together,

they are powerful cohesive agents

through which our 25 000 people in
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Chief executive officer’s statement continued 

Our success during the past year has been a consequence in large measure to
the work we have done over a number of years to improve the strategic planning
processes throughout the company. This is just one example of the many ways
in which the corporate office adds value to the business.

1.2 continued

VISION AND 
STRATEGY
CONTINUED
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31 countries around the world share

information and ideas, developing the

unity of purpose that is important for

consolidating our brand.

As part of creating value for employees,

we continue to extend the performance

incentive component of the remuner-

ation packages to all employees, and a

fully developed system now applies 

to corporate-office employees for the 

first time.

Our basic policy on HIV/Aids is that the

condition should be managed in the

same way as other chronic or life

threatening diseases, always bearing in

mind the magnitude of the pandemic.

Key elements of our strategy are

voluntary counselling and testing,

preventing new infection, and care and

treatment, including the provision of

antiretroviral medication.

Communication with employees, especially

in regions where the disease is known to

be prevalent, is an essential element of our

approach and we are continuing our

strategy of encouraging employees to find

out whether they are HIV-positive.

Once they know, they are able to become

key participants in the management of the

condition. If they are HIV-positive and

should they choose to, they are supported

in gaining access to care and appropriate

assistance, treatment being provided

for them and their families by one or more

outside disease management organi-

sations. In this way confidentiality is

maintained, treatment optimised and

compliance levels upheld.

We have made considerable progress

with our important enterprise-wide

Intellectual Capital Review, which

considers the people in each of our

businesses from the top down in terms of

a nine-box matrix assessing their

performance and potential. This is a

useful tool in leveraging performance,

ensuring alignment of our people with

our business objectives and facilitating

succession planning. The process

continues and we have already evaluated

in excess of 500 people.

BUILDING VALUE FOR OUR

SUPPLIERS AND PRINCIPALS

Our relationship with Caterpillar, which

dates from 1927, continues to be of the

utmost importance to us and has gained

added significance from the doubling of

our Caterpillar dealership territory

in Siberia in partnership with Wagner.

This enlarged territory now covers a

staggering 9.9 million square kilometres

– an area larger than the USA. This is a

tribute to our success over the past few

years in providing reliable equipment and

first class back-up services in one of the

world’s last underdeveloped frontiers

with enormous economic potential.

This year, we also celebrated the 75th

anniversary of our association with

Hyster, another vital component of our

success over the years.

We remain committed to our Motor and

Avis principals and look forward to these

relationships continuing to add value for

all stakeholders.

BLACK ECONOMIC

EMPOWERMENT (BEE)

The starting point of our BEE policy is

that it is necessary to help rectify the

economic imbalance that exists as

a consequence of the legacy of apartheid

policies in the Republic of South Africa.

We support and accept our responsibility

to comply with the government’s BEE

initiative, including sector-based charters

and the use of a balanced scorecard

approach to measure progress.

In the box on the next page is a summary

of our BEE policy which is the result of

two years of careful study of the evolving

BEE landscape. Our approach is founded

on broad-based initiatives structured

around sustainability. Our business units

are already successfully implementing

many scorecard elements including skills

development, affirmative procurement,

corporate social investment, enterprise

development and employment equity.

During the year we conducted a number

of equity transactions advancing broad-

based BEE:

• PPC sold 75% of packaging company

Afripack to the Nozala Investments

consortium and management.

• BMW Selby was sold to a BEE

consortium, Joburg City Auto (Pty)

Ltd.

• BMW Auto Atlantic Claremont was

sold into the Auric Auto (Pty) Ltd joint

venture. We hold a 49% stake until

November 2006.

• The Garden City Motors

DaimlerChrysler motor dealership in

Pietermaritzburg in KwaZulu-Natal

was sold into the Garden City Motors

(Pty) Ltd joint venture. We hold a

65% stake.

• In our steel tube business 26%

of Shosholoza Steel was sold to

an outside BEE investor and an

employee trust.

• The Sizwe Paints joint venture which

was initiated in 2000 in the Western

Cape was formally extended to cover

the Eastern Cape in 2003. This year a

separate joint venture, Sizwe Paints

Gauteng and KZN was formed. It

is envisaged that as the regional

structures continue to grow their

capabilities and capacity, an

integrated empowerment structure

will be formed.

In September 2004 external rating

agency EmpowerLogic completed a

review of all our South African operations

and gave us an overall average

empowerment rating of 42%, on a scale

where 65% and above is considered to

be a good contributor to empowerment.

This sets a baseline from which to

measure our progress and we are

confident we will exceed the 65% hurdle

in all our South African operations within

our five-year planning timeframes.
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Chief executive officer’s statement continued 

IN NOVEMBER 2004, BARLOWORLD ESTABLISHED A FORMAL 
BLACK ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT (BEE) POLICY

This policy will be translated into shorter term objectives aligned to Barloworld’s five-year strategic planning horizon. These will be
reviewed on an annual basis. Its elements are:

DIRECT EMPOWERMENT
Equity ownership
Black employees and previously
disadvantaged communities should have
an equity stake in our South African
business interests. We do and will
continue to participate in joint ventures
and other commercial arrangements with
black enterprises. This involvement
includes a transfer of equity, as well as
skills and resources. All equity transactions
should be with active managers rather
than passive investors. They must also
address the development and training of
individuals in small enterprises. Equity
participation in Barloworld Limited should
be by direct investment at market value.

We will:
• Finalise an appropriate BEE structure

for the Barloworld Group that
recognises the leadership role that
Barloworld needs to assume, in terms
of transformation of the South African
economy, ensuring BEE delivers long-
term shareholder benefits.

• Identify and pursue BEE opportunities
at all levels to either unlock value for
the business or preserve current value
into the future.

• Choose BEE partners where possible
who have both a broad-based
ownership structure and can play an
appropriate value-adding role in our
businesses.

• Promote the productive and sustainable
participation of black enterprises and
black people in Barloworld.

• Promote initiatives aimed at
progressing broad-based BEE.

• Ensure joint ventures or partnership
arrangements are meaningfully
structured with equitable division of
the risks and rewards to each party.

Management
As an international organisation,
Barloworld Limited’s board must reflect
the international nature and composition
of its various business units and the
geographic regions in which it operates.

Likewise, management structures of our
regional business units must reflect the
demographics of the societies in which we
operate. In South Africa and other African
regions, targets are in place in all business
units to ensure that this objective is
achieved.

HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT
Skills development and
employment equity
We undertake to continually redress race,
gender and disability inequalities present
amongst our employee base and to
accelerate the normalisation of this
position. We will do this through our
ongoing commitment to:
• Ensuring that our workforce represents

southern African demographics in
terms of race, gender and disability at
all levels.

• Actively driving internal promotion
opportunities through structured
development programmes and career
planning.

• Encouraging the recruitment of black
management talent.

• Incentivising and rewarding senior
divisional managers to achieve the
targets set.

All our businesses have effective
employment equity development plans
which are submitted to the authorities on
a regular basis and progress is monitored
at segment board level. Comprehensive
internal training programmes are in place
at all levels.

INDIRECT EMPOWERMENT
Preferential procurement
A procurement initiative (Barloworld Black
Economic Empowerment through
Preferential Procurement) has already been
launched focusing on our South African
operations. Its goals are to increase our
procurement from enterprises that have
made significant progress in the area of
BEE and are rated as good or satisfactory
contributors to BEE, based on the South
African Department of Trade and Industry
(DTI) balanced scorecard; to reduce the
cost of goods and services we purchase;
to set affirmative procurement targets for
our business units and to monitor and
report on our procurement performance.
In conjunction with company-wide
procurement initiatives, each business
is required to actively pursue BEE
procurement initiatives. It is the intention
to use South African Department of Trade
and Industry (DTI) approved, independent
rating agencies, to rate Barloworld’s key
suppliers’ empowerment status.

Enterprise development
We will focus on enterprise development
as a means, where appropriate, of

increasing our empowerment supplier and
customer base. This may entail investment
in black owned and black empowered
enterprises, as well as establishing joint
ventures with these enterprises including
the transfer of necessary skills to increase
the value of the business. A number of our
South African businesses have already
effected transactions which can be
classified as enterprise development. Each
division within Barloworld will set and be
monitored against their targets.

Residual issues including corporate
social responsibility (CSI)
CSI is an important component of
corporate citizenship. Our CSI spend will
focus on projects and initiatives that can
be replicated with other communities,
either with funding from Barloworld or
other donors. An underlying principle is
that the majority of the CSI spend goes
towards the intended project and not on
administration costs.

We will continue to take a developmental
and transformational approach to
initiatives that are linked to the upliftment
of South Africa’s black youth in the areas
of education, health, sport, welfare and
environmental awareness. The Barloworld
Foundation is the main vehicle through
which we conduct these activities. Our
approach includes the allocation of
employees’ time and skills, as well as
appropriate financial resources.

AUDITING AND REPORTING
It is our intention to ensure our South
African business units achieve a minimum
of 65% in terms of the scorecard to enable
Barloworld to be classified as a good
contributor to BEE. An assessment of our
BEE performance will be incorporated in
our annual report.

IMPLEMENTATION
An executive director has been appointed
to manage and co-ordinate the BEE
process and each South African business
will submit a scorecard biannually,
commencing December 2004. Employ-
ment equity and skills development
committees have been established to
specifically focus on employment equity
targets. Delivery on the policy objectives
will be set as a key performance measure
for senior managers in areas under their
influence.

1.2 continued

VISION AND 
STRATEGY
CONTINUED



Bar lowor ld annual  report  2004.  Wri t ten in accordance with the GRI  guide l ines 11

GROWING BARLOWORLD

Our growth strategy centres on increasing

the geographical penetration of our

existing products and services while at the

same time adding complementary offerings

in sectors we know and understand well.

The purchase of the balance of the shares

which we did not already own in Avis

Southern Africa Limited was completed

during the year. This important move

was an indication of the readiness of

Barloworld Motor to reposition itself as

an integrated vehicle transport and

mobility solutions business.

Our acquisition strategy seeks to add

incrementally to our business, while we

expand within our existing enterprises.

In effect, as illustrated in the Avis

transaction, our businesses are engaged

in a process of constantly reinventing

themselves as they seize opportunities

that arise from their own current activities

as well as others that come from outside.

The growing Caterpillar rental activities in

Spain and southern Africa illustrate our

capacity to respond quickly and effectively

to changing customer needs.

A small but geographically significant

step this year was the establishment of

our logistics business in Dubai. This is our

first operation in the Middle East.

Similarly, the grassroots development of

our logistics businesses in South Africa

and in Spain is a demonstration of our

ability to adapt our core competencies to

new areas of enterprise offering good

growth prospects.

In line with our VBM approach to

achieving sustainable business growth,

we are as ready to pursue exit strategies

as to embark on promising ventures that

meet our exacting criteria for good cash

flow returns on investment. Thus we

continue our policy of disposing of

businesses that fail to create sustainable

value for the organisation. Examples in

2004 included Melles Griot’s UK business

and the Henry Cooke paper business.

In general, our long-established process

of restructuring the Barloworld Group

will continue in the year ahead as we

seek to add optimum value for all our

stakeholders in growing the quantum of

our earnings and improving their quality

amid an ever-changing business environ-

ment and continually evolving stake-

holder requirements.

AJ Phillips

Chief Executive Officer
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2
ORGANISATIONAL
PROFILE

2.1 Name of reporting
organisation

2.2 Products and
services

2.3 Operational
structure

2.4 Descriptions of
major divisions 

2.5 Countries in which
we operate

2.6 Nature of
ownership

2.7 Nature of markets
served

2.1
As a diversified company, Barloworld Limited is organised in focused teams of
industry specialists.

2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.7

EQUIPMENT
Built on the foundation of being a Caterpillar dealer for 77 years, we supply total solutions in
earthmoving equipment, power systems and related equipment in Andorra, Angola, Botswana,
Cape Verde, Lesotho, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Portugal, São Tomé and Principé, Siberia,
South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Zambia and Zimbabwe. Our core Caterpillar offering to our
customers in the mining, construction, marine and electrical power generation industries is
supported by complementary brands which in southern Africa include: Bitelli (vibratory
compactors), Boart Longyear (underground mining equipment), Dezzi (earthmoving equipment),
Ingersoll Rand (drill rigs) and Perkins (diesel engines). We also provide Amazone, Claas,
Gehringhoff and Massey Ferguson agricultural products in southern Africa, Mak engines in Spain
and Portugal and Mitsubishi lift trucks in Portugal. Our business model is built on providing total
solutions to customers who buy our products. These may include rentals and maintenance and
repair contracts.

INDUSTRIAL DISTRIBUTION
We are the world’s largest independent lift truck dealer offering our customers a full range of lift
trucks and related warehouse/handling equipment in the Southeast United States, United
Kingdom, Holland and Belgium. We have represented the market-leading Hyster brand for over
75 years and have leveraged the strength of the brand by leading the market in the introduction
of innovative total solutions to our manufacturing and distribution industry customers’ materials
handling needs. We distribute Freightliner trucks in Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Texas and
Tennessee and Ditch Witch trenching equipment in Georgia, USA. We also assemble vacuum
conveyance systems and floor maintenance equipment in the UK for global money and document
conveyance markets. We provide finance to our Hyster long-term rental customers through our
UK and US-based leasing businesses.

MOTOR
We are a leading provider of a range of motor vehicle transport and mobility solutions. Avis Rent-

A-Car delivers short-term rental from over 110 customer service centres throughout southern

Africa and more than 250 customer service centres in Norway and Sweden. Avis Fleet Services

provides long-term rental and value added services to operators of passenger and light commercial

vehicles in South Africa, Botswana, Mozambique and Namibia. Our Motor Franchises operate a

network of 58 dealerships in South Africa, Botswana, Namibia and Australia where we represent

passenger, light, medium and heavy commercial brands. Our offering includes panelshops. We are

the sole Subaru importer and distributor for southern Africa.

CEMENT & LIME (71.6% owned PPC)

We manufacture and distribute cementitious products and aggregates in South Africa, Botswana
and Zimbabwe for construction companies, retail DIY/builders merchants and concrete product
manufacturers. Our 8 cement factories can produce in excess of 6 million tons of cement per
annum. In South Africa, we are also the market leader in metallurgical grade lime, limestone,
burnt dolomite and related products which we manufacture in the Northern Cape. Our lime
customers are the pyro-metallurgical industries, mining and water treatment industries. Our
Afripack business, also based in South Africa, makes paper sacks for cement and food product
manufacturers and produces high-quality reel to reel products.



Bar lowor ld annual  report  2004.  Wri t ten in accordance with the GRI  guide l ines 13

COATINGS
We are the market leader in architectural and automotive coatings in South Africa with factories
in Durban, Port Elizabeth, Cape Town and Johannesburg. We also have operations in Botswana,
Malawi, Namibia, Swaziland and Zambia, with sales in these and other sub-Saharan African
countries. Our architectural brands include the premium Plascon range as well as Crown,
Professional and Polycell. We also supply specialised coatings in southern Africa to industrial
and furniture markets. In Automotive we supply both car manufacturers and the refinish
industries with the Plascon, Spies Hecker, Standox and Du Pont brands in southern Africa.
In Australia we are the third largest architectural paint manufacturer with factories in Sydney,
Melbourne and Brisbane. We service the DIY and trade markets through both resellers as well
as our own distribution network of stores. The Bristol brand is distributed exclusively through
this network of 83 Bristol corporate and 43 franchised stores. We currently export into New
Zealand as well as into China through 20 franchised Bristol outlets. Our brands are Bristol,
Taubmans and White Knight.
We also produce and supply colourant systems in South Africa and export these to a growing
number of countries.

SCIENTIFIC
Within our Laboratory Group we manufacture an extensive range of premium branded

consumables and benchtop equipment in the United Kingdom and Spain. We also have

distribution centres in the USA, France, Italy, Germany and Spain. Our customers are educational

organisations, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies and quality control laboratories.

In Melles Griot we are a market leader in lasers, optics, opto-mechanical components and

assemblies which we manufacture in California, New York State,  Colorado and Japan. Our

customers include semiconductor capital equipment manufacturers and the test and

measurement, biotechnology, medical and telecommunications industries.

STEEL TUBE
We manufacture and sell steel tube, piping systems, flanges and fittings, couplings, sheet and

plate from our base in Gauteng, South Africa. We are the market leader in South Africa and

export both regionally and internationally. Our customers are the building and construction,

mining, automotive, agriculture, fluid handling and general engineering industries.

2.5
We sell our products
and services in 
over one hundred
countries.

We have Barloworld
operations in 
31 countries:
Andorra, 
Angola, 
Australia, 
Belgium, 
Botswana, 
Canada, 
Cape Verde, 
China, 
Dubai*, 
Denmark, 
France, 
Germany, 
Italy, 
Japan, 
Lesotho, 
Malawi,
Mozambique,
Namibia,
Netherlands,
Norway*, 
Portugal, 
Russia, 
Singapore, 
South Africa, 
Spain, 
Swaziland, 
Sweden, 
USA, 
United Kingdom,
Zambia, 
Zimbabwe

*New in 2004

2.6

Barloworld is a public joint stock company with its primary listing on the
JSE Securities Exchange South Africa (www.jse.co.za)

CORPORATE AND OTHER
Our corporate operations include finance, strategic planning, property management, treasury,
IT, communication, tax, legal, risk services, company administration and internal audit. The main
operations are in Johannesburg, South Africa and London, England.

Our developing logistics businesses are third and fourth party logistics managers, providing
outsourced services in the design, implementation and management of supply chain solutions.
We operate in southern Africa, Portugal, Spain, Dubai, the United Kingdom and the USA,
providing services to manufacturing, retail and defence industries.
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ORGANISATIONAL
PROFILE 
CONTINUED

2.8 Scale of
Barloworld

THE SCALE OF BARLOWORLD
Employees by segment

Capital Equipment
Material Handling

Motor
Cement & Lime

Scientific
Coatings

Steel Tube

2004 2003

Corporate and Other

22% (5 568)
14% (3 534)
20% (5 138)
11% (2 893)
7% (1 699)

11% (2 683)
7% (1 740)
8% (1 978)

23% (5 308)
14% (3 199)
17% (3 774)
14% (3 085)
8% (1 729)

11% (2 589)
6% (1 372)
7% (1 693)

25 233 22 749

Revenues by segment (R million)

Capital Equipment
Industrial Distribution

Motor
Cement & Lime

Scientific
Coatings

Steel Tube

2004 2003

Corporate and Other

28% (10 236)
18% (6 673)
27% (9 742)
9% (3 440)
4% (1 623)
7% (2 408)
5% (1 739)
2% (812)

32% (10 908)
16% (5 644)
24% (8 422)
9% (3 016)
5% (1 768)
7% (2 253)
5% (1 736)
2% (856)

36 673 34 603

Net assets by segment (R million)

Capital Equipment
Industrial Distribution

Motor
Cement & Lime

Scientific
Coatings

Steel Tube

2004 2003

Corporate and Other

20% (3 755)
21% (3 929)
27% (5 163)
11% (2 145)
6% (1 091)
4% (675)
2% (481)
9% (1 629)

31% (4 768)
24% (3 702)
9% (1 382)

13% (2 103)
8% (1 278)
4% (626)
3% (507)
8% (1 226)

18 868 15 592

Total capitalisation (R million)

Equity
Debt

2004 2003

59% (11 154)
41% (7 710)

61% (9 728)
39% (6 143)

18 864 15 871
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2.9

The diverse geographic and product nature of our business gives us a wide
variety of stakeholders.

2.9 List of
stakeholders, key
attributes of each
and relationship to
Barloworld

ABOUT OUR STAKEHOLDERS

BARLOWORLD ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE
Barloworld shares have a primary listing on the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa and secondary listings on the Brussels, Frankfurt,
London, Namibia and Swiss SWX exchanges.

The company’s access codes are:
JSE: BAW and BAWP
ISIN: ZAE 000026639 and ZAE 000026647

At 30 September 2004, beneficial owners of in excess of 5% in the company’s issued share capital were:
• Public Investment Commissioners – 18.37%
• Barloworld Investments (Pty) Ltd  (share buy-back) – 8.26%

The portfolios of twenty institutional investment companies account for 77.29% (2003: 83.73%) of the company’s issued share
capital. Those managers controlling in excess of 5% were:
• RMB Asset Management – 13.95%
• Sanlam Investment Management – 12.00%
• Old Mutual Asset Managers – 11.57%
• Stanlib Asset Management – 7.65%

Shareholder spread as at 30 September 2004
Type of shareholder No. of shareholders No. of securities held % of securities held

Public 17 936 202 951 458 91.05
Non-public 23 19 940 945 8.95

SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PROVIDERS OF CAPITAL 
Barloworld has a simple shareholder structure with over 98% of our shares held by institutional investors. Approximately 80% of these are
based in South Africa with the balance being mostly in the United States and Europe. The company borrows from a range of South African
and multinational banks. A list of our main bankers is on the inside back cover. These banking relationships are managed primarily in
Johannesburg and London.

CUSTOMERS 
Our customers are a mixture of retail, wholesale and corporate. They range from multinational mining and construction companies who may
purchase tens of millions of US dollars of earthmoving equipment from us annually to low income individuals who may buy a single bag of
cement for under R50.00 from a builders merchant. Our sales to governments constitute well below 1% of our total revenues.

EMPLOYEES 
Our employees are equally diverse and are based in 31 countries (see page 13). They typically have a minimum of full secondary education. Many
have long-term service with the company as throughout the world people joining Barloworld often make a career in the company.

PRINCIPALS AND SUPPLIERS 
Our enduring relationships with a number of capital goods manufacturers are a key component of our supply chain. Pre-eminent amongst these is
Caterpillar Inc., NACCO (who provide our Hyster lift trucks), DaimlerChrysler (Freightliner trucks and Mercedes-Benz cars and trucks) as well as
many of the worlds’ other leading automotive manufacturers. Another key stakeholder group in this category is organisations from whom we
license brands and technology. An example of this is the licensors of the Avis brand. Our supplier base is as diverse as our businesses and includes
individuals and small, medium and large enterprises in every territory in which we operate.

COMMUNITIES
We have always had a profound belief in being a responsible company. In this context we address the question of our communities at a series
of levels and intensities across the many parts of the world in which we operate. Where we have substantial operations our community focus
is on the immediate areas in which we operate and where our employees live. A typical example would be a cement factory in South Africa
where we may be the primary employer in the town where it is located. In these circumstances we are intimately and directly involved in all
aspects of that community’s life, from the schools to the roads to community forums. Where our businesses are in urban areas we typically
form a smaller part of the landscape. However, we see ourselves in successive layers as part of regional, national and global communities and
take our responsibilities of corporate citizenship seriously at all these levels.
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2.10

For background information on this

report contact Mark Drewell, Head of

Corporate Communications, Corporate

Office, Barloworld Limited, 180 Katherine

Street, Sandton, 2146

ph +27 11 445 1204

email mdrewell@barloworld.com

2.11, 2.12

This report covers the financial year ended

30 September 2004 and its predecessor

was published in December 2003.

2.13

It covers the activities of the Barloworld

group including all subsidiary companies,

partially and wholly owned. It does

not seek to provide comprehensive

information on the entire supply chains

of the industries in which we operate.

2.14

Since the previous report we have acquired

100% of Avis Southern Africa Limited

adding some R4 billion of assets and a

business with 1 458 employees in

8 countries.

2.15

Partially owned subsidiaries are treated as

an integral part of Barloworld for

reporting purposes. In the financial

reports, joint ventures are equity

accounted.

2.16, 2.17

There have been no significant re-

statements in this report compared with

the 2003 report except as set out in note

31 on page 157. We have applied GRI

principles throughout the report without

exception. 

2.18, 2.19

For accounting definitions see page 122.

There have been no significant changes

to the measurement methods used in the

report.

2.20, 2.21

Barloworld has strong administration

systems and our internal confidence level

on the accuracy of the information

presented is high. The management

systems that yield the financial data

reflected in the report are well established.
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2.10 Contact person

2.11 Reporting period

2.12 Date of previous
report

2.13 Boundaries of
the report

2.14 Significant
changes since
previous report

2.15 Basis of reporting
joint ventures,
subsidiaries, etc

2.16 Re-statements

2.17 Decisions not
to apply GRI
principles or
protocols

2.18 Criteria and
definitions used
in accounting
for economic,
environmental
and social costs
and benefits

2.19 Changes in
measurement
methods

2.20 Internal assurance 

2.21 External
assurance

2.22 Additional
information

This annual report sets out to report comprehensively on the full range of
the economic, environmental and social performance of Barloworld during
the 2004 financial year – the “triple bottom line”. 

The business principles and practices described in this report can be verified
by reference to board minutes, established standards and policies (written
and unwritten). 

The report also discusses the implementation of these principles and
practices, as well as non-financial measurement mechanisms.

Except where specifically stated, the

information has not been externally

verified. Independent auditors monitor

data collected in terms of International

Financial Reporting Standards. In addition,

some non-financial data is verified by

external auditors where our activities are

for example ISO 14001 or ISO 9002

compliant.

2.22

Additional information amplifying the

activities of our individual business

units which are covered in

summary in this report can be

obtained by contacting the Corporate

Communications team at Barloworld’s

corporate office in Johannesburg, South

Africa (ph +27 11 445 1155 or e-mail

invest@barloworld.com).



CATERPILLAR 740 DUMP TRUCK

Since 1927 Barloworld has represented Caterpillar as a dealer. Today our equipment

business remains one of our largest single sources of profits.
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WAM (WARREN) CLEWLOW ◆
OMSG CA(SA), DEcon (hc), Chairman
Warren (68) joined the group in 1963 and rose to the position of
CEO by 1983. He became Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive
in 1985 and Chairman in 1991. He retired as an executive in 1999.
His numerous contributions to civil society include past Chairman
of the State President Economic Advisory Council (1985). He is
currently Deputy Chairman, Old Mutual Life Assurance Company
(South Africa) Limited; Director, Old Mutual Life Holdings; Director,
Old Mutual plc; Chairman, Nedbank Limited; Chairman, Nedcor
Limited; Director, Sasol Limited; Director, Rustenburg Wines (Pty)
Limited; Chairman, Carl and Emily Fuchs Foundation and Honorary
Treasurer, African Children’s Feeding Scheme. He is also a trustee
of Project South African Trust, the Nelson Mandela Children’s Fund,
the Colleges of Medicine Foundation and Business South Africa.
He is a Fellow of the Duke of Edinburgh’s Award World Fellowship
and Chairman of both the President’s Award for Youth
Empowerment Trust and the Duke of Edinburgh’s South African
Foundation.

GONZALO RODRIGUES DE CASTRO (Spanish) ◆
Gonzalo (62) studied at the School of Industrial Engineering in
Madrid, then began his career with Canada Dry at their plant in
Madrid. In 1970 he joined Bankinter rising to the position of
controller general. He left the bank in 1986 to establish an IT
consultancy business focussed on strategies for marketing and
management information systems for financial institutions, and
has had published a book and numerous articles in this area. In
1989 he was appointed CEO of the Madrid Stock Exchange and
led the modernisation of the exchange over the next three
years. He served chairman of Euroquote in Brussels, the first
attempt by the Federation of European Stock Exchanges to
create a central European stock exchange. For the past decade
he has worked as an IT consultant for clients in service
industries. Gonzalo has been a non-executive director of
Barloworld’s Spanish equipment business since 1995.

MJ (MIKE) LEVETT ◆
BCom, DEconSc (hc), FIA, FFA, FASSA 
Mike (65) is chairman Old Mutual plc and deputy chairman of
Mutual & Federal Insurance Company Ltd. He was appointed to
the Barloworld board in 1985. He is a director of the Central
Africa Building Society (Zimbabwe), Nedcor Ltd, Old Mutual
South Africa Trust plc and Old Mutual South African Growth
Assets Fund Ltd. Mike is a life governor of the University of Cape
Town Foundation, founding patron of the Red Cross Children’s
Hospital Trust and a trustee of the Nelson Mandela Children’s
Fund, The College of Medicine Foundation and the World Wide
Fund for Nature (South Africa).

RC (ROBERT) TOMKINSON ◆
MA, FCA, FCT, (British)
Robert (63) has been a non-executive director of Barloworld
since 2001. He was group finance director of
Electrocomponents plc, the major electronic and electrical
distribution group, from 1986 until his retirement in 1997. Prior
to that he was group finance director of Automotive Products
plc. His earlier career was spent in the energy industries and
merchant banking. He is the non-executive chairman of Pittards
plc, of KIG Holdings Ltd and of the Council of the University of
Buckingham and a non-executive director of UGC Ltd (The
Unipart Group of Companies).

SB (STEVE) PFEIFFER  ●
BA, MA (Oxon), JD (Yale), (American)
Steve (57) is partner of Fulbright and Jaworski LLP, a US-based
international law firm he joined in 1976, and is currently serving
a four year term as chairman of the executive committee of that
firm. He is a director, Iridium Holdings LLC (a satellite telephone
company based in Washington, DC), Riggs National Corporation
(the oldest and largest bank holding company based in
Washington, DC), the non-executive chairman of Riggs Bank
Europe Ltd. in London, chairman emeritus of Wesleyan
University in Middletown, Connecticut, USA, a trustee of The
Africa-America Institute in New York and a director of Project
HOPE in Washington, DC. He has had a number of articles
published on a range of business-related and legal topics, is
prominent in civic and professional organisations, and served in
the US Navy, from where he retired as Commander, US Naval
Reserve. He was appointed to the Barloworld board in 2001.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1818



DB (DUMISA) NTSEBEZA ◆
LLB, BProc, BA
Dumisa (54), who joined the Barloworld board in 1999,
completed his studies for a law degree while serving a long prison
term for political activism in the mid-70s. He was admitted as an
attorney in 1984 and practised in the Eastern Cape. He
represented a number of political prisoners throughout the 80s
and early 90s. In 1995 he served as a commissioner on the Truth
and Reconciliation Commission. He is the founder and former
president of the South African National Association of Democratic
Lawyers and a past president of South Africa’s Black Lawyers
Association. While still an attorney, he was appointed acting
judge of the High Court of South Africa. In March 2000, he
entered the bar and took chambers as a member of the Cape Bar.
He has worked in private practice in Cape Town as an advocate
since July 2000. In 2002, he was the Visiting Distinguished
Professor of Political Science and Law at the University of
Connecticut – Storrs and Hartford campuses.

LA (LOUISE) TAGER ◆
BA, LLB, HDip Tax Law, LLM (Harvard)
Louise (68) has been a director of Barloworld since 1992. Rising
to prominence as executive director for a decade from 1985 on
the ground-breaking Law Review Project, she now serves, and
has served, on numerous bodies in both the public and private
sectors. She has been recognised for her many achievements
across a broad spectrum of activities in public and private sector
business, as well as in academic life, where she has published
extensively. She was the first woman to be appointed dean of
any faculty in a South African university and the first to head up
a parastatal enterprise in South Africa.

EP (EDDIE) THERON ◆
BCom, LLB, FIBSA
Eddie (63) played a major role in banking in South Africa during
his career. He was one of five executives involved in the
formation of Standard Merchant Bank and retired as group chief
executive of Standard Bank Investment Corporation Ltd in 1995,
following which he was appointed as a non-executive director.
He was appointed to the Barloworld board in 1996 and also
holds non-executive directorships on the boards of Mutual and
Federal Insurance Co Ltd and Pretoria Portland Cement
Company Ltd.

AJ (TONY) PHILLIPS# (British) ▲
BSc (Eng), Chief Executive Officer
Tony (58) joined Barloworld in 1968 and has spent most of his
career in the capital equipment business, initially in South Africa
and then in Spain. He made his mark when between 1992 and
1995, he led the turnaround to profit of the then listed Spanish
subsidiary, Finanzauto SA. He was appointed to the Barloworld
board in 1995 and became CEO on 1 October 1998. He is a
trustee of the Bright Kid Foundation (Edutainers) and Business
Against Crime. Tony is on the board of governors of
Michaelhouse School in Balgowan, KwaZulu-Natal, the Advisory
Council of the University of the Witwatersrand School of Civil
and Environmental Engineering, and is a director of NOAH
(Nurturing Orphans of AIDS for Humanity), and WWF.

J (JOHN) BLACKBEARD ▲
BSc (Eng), Chief Executive Officer, Scientific
John (47) has an engineering degree from the University of
Cape Town. He spent the first years of his career with Eskom
in a variety of roles from operations, design, research and
development, construction and project management to general
management. He joined Barloworld in 1996 as Group Technical
Director of Pretoria Portland Cement. He moved to Operations
Director and then to Managing Director of PPC Cement in 1999.
He was appointed as Chief Operating Officer of Pretoria
Portland Cement in 2002. He was appointed to the Barloworld
Board in May 2004 and as Chief Executive Officer of the
Scientific division in July 2004.

MD (MIKE) COWARD ▲
CA(SA), Chief Executive Officer, Steel Tube
Mike (51) joined Barloworld in 1977 and worked on the
financial side of the business in the mining, electronics, steel and
ferro-alloys disciplines before moving across into an operational
management role in 1990. In 1992 he was appointed to head
the Steel Tube operations of the company as managing director
of Barloworld Robor and was appointed to the Barloworld
board in 1995.

◆ Independent director
● Non-executive director
▲ Executive director
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LS (LESTER) DAY ▲
CA(SA), Chief Executive Officer, Equipment  (British)
Lester (58) joined Barloworld in 1973 and worked in the
equipment operations in South Africa, Zimbabwe and the
United Kingdom, as well as holding a senior financial role at the
Barloworld head office. In 1994 he was appointed financial
director of Barloworld Equipment. A year later he was
appointed managing director of the same business unit and
joined the Barloworld board in 1998.

BP (BRANDON) DIAMOND ▲
ACIS, MBA, Chief Executive Officer, Industrial Distribution
Brandon (53) joined Barloworld in 1970. He initially worked in
the equipment business fulfilling various roles in accounting and
finance. In a varied career he has been managing director of
Barlow Shipping Services and later Circle Freight as well as
Barloworld Namibia. He was appointed chief executive officer
of Barloworld Motor in 1994 and his appointment to the
Barloworld board took effect in 2001. He was appointed to his
current role in  2003 and resides in Charlotte, North Carolina.

JE (JOHN) GOMERSALL ▲
CA(SA), Chief Executive Officer, PPC Cement & Lime,
(British)
John (58) joined Barloworld in 1971. He started his career in
Robor Limited and was subsequently transferred to Middelburg
Steel & Alloys (Pty) Limited, ultimately being appointed group
managing director in 1986. He joined the Barloworld board in
1989 and was appointed group managing director of PPC, to
the board of that company in 1992 and subsequently CEO. He
is Chairman of Barloworld Logistics and heads up the group
strategy unit. In 1990 he led the business team that created the
Middelburg Peace Forum, which was the role model for the
National Peace Accord in South Africa. He is a past deputy
president of the International Chrome Development Association
which is headquartered in Paris and past chairman of the South
African Cement and Concrete Institute.

AJ (ANDRÉ) LAMPRECHT ▲
BCom, LLB, PED-IMD, Chief Executive Officer, Barloworld
Coatings
André (52) practised as an advocate of the High Court of South
Africa prior to joining the Barloworld group in 1981. From 1983,
he played a leading role in steering the group through a turbulent
decade of political transition into a post-apartheid South Africa. He
was appointed to the board in 1993, assuming responsibility for the
company’s interests in Namibia and Botswana in addition to human
resources, social investment and other responsibilities. In 2003 he
was appointed CEO of Barloworld Coatings having been on the
board of Plascon and the Coatings division for many years. He has
served on behalf of Barloworld on numerous public bodies and is a
past chairman of Business South Africa, a past president of the AHI
and its Board of Trustees and a former business convener of the
Trade and Industry Chamber of Nedlac. He is also a director of PPC,
the National Business Initiative (NBI), trustee of the Business Trust
and a member of the Retirement Funds Advisory Committee of the
Minister of Finance. He serves on the Councils of Business Unity SA
(BUSA) and CHAMSA and is a member of the Millennium Labour
Council.

PM (PETER) SURGEY ▲
BA, LLB, Executive Director, Human Resources
Peter (49) joined Barloworld from the legal profession in 1983
and worked in the human resources and industrial relations
arenas until his appointment as managing director of Plascon
Inks and Packaging in 1990. In 1992, he became chief executive
officer of Barloworld’s Coatings business and was appointed to
the Barloworld board in 1995. He is a board member of the
Business Against Crime initiative in South Africa and a past
president and current board member of the NOVA Paint Club,
an alliance of international paint manufacturers. His new
responsibilities include Human Resources, Group Risk, Black
Economic Empowerment, Group Pensions and Medical Aid and
Corporate Social Investment.

CB (CLIVE) THOMSON ▲
BCom (Hons), CA(SA), MPhil (Cantab), Finance Director
Clive (38) joined Barloworld in March 1997 as Finance Director
of the Barloworld Coatings division where he had overall
financial responsibility for the group’s paint interests in southern
Africa, Australia, and the United Kingdom. He was appointed
to the Barloworld board as Finance Director on 1 April 2003.
Previously he was a partner of Deloitte & Touche where he
served in audit, technical advisory and education portfolios. He
spent a year with Deloittes in Princeton, United States as part
of an international project team designing and implementing
technology solutions for the global practice. In 1993 he
completed his Master of Philosophy (M.Phil) degree at
Cambridge University, England in the Economics and Politics of
Development.

Board of directors continued 

For ease of cross-reference, all Barloworld-related companies referred to in these profiles have been incorporated
using the current names of the businesses rather than the names in use at the time.

◆ Independent director
● Non-executive director
▲ Executive director



FREIGHTLINER CENTURY CLASS ST

Since acquiring Barton Freightliner in 2000 we have built our Freightliner dealership

into one of the largest in America. We have operations in Arkansas, Louisiana,

Mississippi, Tennessee and Texas.
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3
GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE AND
MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEMS 

3.1 Governance

structure including

major board

committees

Barloworld and its subsidiaries are fully committed to the principles of fairness,
integrity, accountability, responsibility and transparency associated with good
corporate governance.

3.1

The management of Barloworld has

conducted its business with the highest

degree of ethics and probity since the

company was founded in 1902. The rapid

evolution of the global market in which

Barloworld operates and the parallel

growth of civil society has greatly

increased the range of stakeholders in our

activities. The board and management

have evolved a series of processes and

procedures constituting systems of

corporate governance that are designed

to ensure that the company makes profits

in a manner that conforms to the strictest

requirements for transparency and

sensitivity to the needs of the business,

physical and social environments. These

systems are continually evolving with the

changing needs and expectations of

stakeholders.

The company is incorporated in South

Africa under the provisions of the

Companies Act, 1973, as amended. It

is listed on the JSE Securities Exchange

South Africa, and complies with the

Code of Corporate Practices and

Conduct contained in the King Report on

Corporate Governance in South Africa

published in March 2002. Amendments

to the JSE Securities Exchange listing

requirements and continuing obligations

making certain disclosure requirements

of the Code of Corporate Practices and

Conduct mandatory came into effect

on 1 September 2003 and have been

applied in this report.

As a company with a secondary listing on

the London Stock Exchange, we have

taken note of the Combined Code of

Principles of Good Governance and Code

of Best Practice adopted by that

exchange. Where the relevant provision

of the combined code is an indicator of

best practice, the company has taken

note of it.

The company is not registered with the

Securities and Exchange Commission in

the United States and has unsponsored

American Depository Receipts. Accordingly,

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 does not

apply to it. The principles of that Act have

however been considered in formulating

our corporate practices.

Board accountability

and delegated functions

The general powers of the directors of

Barloworld Limited are conferred in the

company’s articles of association. They

have further unspecified powers and

authority in respect of matters which may

be exercised or done by the company but

which are not expressly reserved to the

members of the company in a general

meeting, either by the South African

Companies Act or the provisions of those

articles.

In accordance with a formal charter

which has been reviewed during the year,

the board has reserved to itself the

following responsibilities:

• Approval of the strategic plan and

the annual business plan, the setting

of objectives and the review of key

risks and performance areas,

especially in respect of technology

and systems

• Monitoring the implementation

of board plans and strategies

against a background of economic,

environmental and social issues

relevant to the company and

international political and economic

affairs, as well as the mitigation of

risks by management

• Appointment of the chief executive

officer and maintenance of a

succession plan

• The appointment of directors, subject

to election by the company in general

meeting

• Determination of overall policies and

processes to ensure the integrity of the

company’s management of risk and

internal control

The charter expresses the board’s

philosophy in regard to customer

satisfaction, quality and safety of

products and services; optimisation in the

use of assets and drawing the best out

of employees; respect for human dignity

and observance of fundamental human

rights; national and international

corporate citizenship, including sound

relationships with regulatory authorities.

While retaining overall accountability and

subject to matters reserved to itself, the

board has delegated to the chief

executive officer and other executive

directors authority to run the day-to-day

affairs of the company.

Audit, general purposes, nominations

and remuneration committees assist

the board in the discharge of its duties.

Each committee acts within terms of



3.2 Percentage of

independent

directors

3.3 Process for

determining board

expertise
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reference, under which certain functions

of the board are assigned with defined

purposes, membership requirements,

duties and reporting procedures. Board

committees may take independent

professional advice at the company’s

expense when necessary. The committees

are subject to regular evaluation by the

board in regard to performance and

effectiveness. Chairmen of the board

committees are required to attend annual

general meetings to answer any

questions raised by shareowners.

Board of directors

At the last annual general meeting 

Mr RKJ Chambers retired as a non-

executive director. During the year, 

Mr PJ Maybury retired as an executive

director.

Mr G Rodriguez de Castro Garcia de los

Rios (independent) and PJ Blackbeard

(executive) were appointed by the board

to fill these vacancies.

The King Code of Corporate Practices

and Conduct states: “The board should

comprise a balance of executive and non-

executive directors, preferably with a

majority of non-executive directors, of

whom sufficient should be independent

of management so that shareowner

interests (including minority interests) can

be protected.”

Considerable thought has been given to

board balance and composition and the

board believes that the current mix of

knowledge and skill meet the present

requirements of the company.

3.2

The following directors are regarded as

independent in terms of the JSE listing

requirements, WAM Clewlow, MJ Levett,

DB Ntsebeza, G Rodriguez de Castro

Garcia de los Rios, LA Tager, EP Theron

and RC Tomkinson. These seven account

for 41% of the board and there are nine

executive directors (53%) and one non-

executive director.

Mr SB Pfeiffer is a partner in a law firm

in the United States that provides

advice to the company from time to time

and as such is technically not considered

to be independent. The board considers

Messrs MJ Levett and WAM Clewlow to

be independent, having noted that

Mr Levett is the chairman of Old Mutual

Life Assurance Company (South Africa)

Limited. Mr Clewlow is father-in-law to

the finance director, Mr CB Thomson and

is the deputy chairman of Old Mutual

Life Assurance Company (South Africa)

Limited, which holds 4.11% of the issued

ordinary share capital of the company

comprising 9.9 million shares.

Prior to each board meeting the agenda

and supporting papers are distributed

to all directors electronically. The

appropriate executive director motivates

business requiring decisions in the

meeting, bringing relevant facts and

circumstances to the attention of

directors, who, in any event, have

unrestricted access to all company

property, information and records.

Where directors are based in countries

other than where a meeting is held and

are not able to attend, video and tele-

conferencing facilities allow them to

participate in the debate and conclusions

reached.

During the year under review, seven

meetings of the board were held,

three in South Africa, three in the

United Kingdom and one in the

United States.

All directors attended the meetings

personally, or were included in the

proceedings through video or tele-

conferencing facilities, with the

exception that Mr DB Ntsebeza was

unable to attend the meeting held on

10 May.

3.3

Any new appointment of a director is

considered by the board as a whole, on

the recommendation of the nominations

committee. The selection process involves

consideration of the existing balance of

skills and knowledge and a continuous

process of assessing the needs of the

company.

The secretary arranges an induction

programme for new directors. This

includes an explanation of their fiduciary

duties and responsibilities and visits to

operations, where discussions with

management facilitate an understanding

of the group.

Directors are apprised, wherever relevant,

of any new legislation and changing

commercial risks that may affect the

affairs of the company.

In certain circumstances it may become

necessary for a non-executive or

independent director to obtain

independent professional advice in order

to act in the best interests of the

company. Such a director also has

unrestricted access to the chairman,

Independent (7)
Non-executive (1)
Executive (9)

Board composition



executive directors and the secretary.

Where a non-executive or independent

director takes reasonable action and costs

are incurred, these are borne by the

company.

By convention, executive directors retire

from the board at 63 years of age whilst

non-executive and independent directors

retire at the next annual general meeting

following the director’s 70th birthday.

A summary curriculum vitae of each

director of Barloworld Limited is

published on pages 18 to 20.

At every annual general meeting, at least

one-third of the directors retire from the

board. In addition, a director appointed

by the board to fill a vacant seat must

retire from that office at the next annual

general meeting. Directors retiring in this

manner may offer themselves for re-

election subject to any recommendation

made by the nominations committee.

At the forthcoming annual general

meeting Messrs G Rodriguez de Castro

Garcia de los Rios and PJ Blackbeard

retire in terms of the Companies Act

1973, as amended.

In addition, Messrs WAM Clewlow,

BP Diamond, JE Gomersall, DB Ntsebeza

and EP Theron retire by rotation. In terms

of the articles of association. All retiring

directors are available for re-election and

have been respectively nominated by the

nominations committee.

Chairman and chief executive

officer

No individual has unfettered powers of

decision-making. Responsibility for running

the board and executive responsibility

for conduct of the business are

differentiated. Accordingly, the roles of

the chairman of the board and of the

chief executive officer are separate.

The secretary

The secretary provides the board as a

whole and directors individually with

guidance on the discharge of their

responsibilities. He is also a central source

of information and advice to the board

and within the company on matters of

ethics and good governance.

Appointment and removal of the secretary

are matters for the board as a whole.

He sees that in accordance with the

pertinent laws, the proceedings and

affairs of the directorate, the company

itself and, where appropriate, owners of

securities in the company, are properly

administered. He ensures compliance

with the rules of the JSE Securities

Exchange South Africa, and other stock

exchanges on which the company’s

securities are listed. The secretary also

assists in developing the annual board

plan and administers the share option

scheme as well as the statutory

requirements of the company’s sub-

sidiaries in South Africa.

Directors have direct access to him at all

times.

He is kept advised about all dealings by

directors and officers in securities of the

company and a report is tabled at each

board meeting.

Audit committee

RC Tomkinson (Chairman), MJ Levett,

and EP Theron.

Following the retirement of Mr RKJ

Chambers, Mr RC Tomkinson was

appointed as Chairman of the audit

committee in his stead. During the year

and in terms of good corporate gover-

nance considerations, the chairman of

Barloworld Ltd, WAM Clewlow, stood

down from the audit committee.

The audit committee consists exclusively

of independent directors. The quorum for

a meeting is two.

The head of internal audit and the lead

client service partner in charge of the

external audit attend all meetings. They

have unrestricted access to the chairman

and other members of the audit

committee. The financial director and any

other executives may, at the discretion of

the chairman of the audit committee, be

invited to attend and be heard. No

attendee has voting rights.

The audit committee has written terms of

reference. Its duties relate to the manage-

ment of risk across the Barloworld Group,

the safeguarding of assets, the identifi-

cation of and exposure to significant risks,

the operation of adequate systems and

control processes and the presentation of

accurate and balanced financial statements

and reports complying with all relevant

corporate disclosure requirements and

accounting standards.

A meeting of the audit committee was

held on 9 May 2004 primarily to consider

the draft interim report. The report of the

head of internal audit was tabled

together with the detailed internal audit

plan for the year. The lead client service

partner in charge of the external audit

tabled the report of the external auditors

which supported their review opinion on

the interim results. Having taken account

of these reports, the committee was

satisfied that the interim financial

statements were accurate and, with the

draft interim report, were recommended

for approval by the board.

The chairman of the audit committee

reported on the interim results,

supported by the external auditors, at the

board meeting held to adopt the interim

results on 10 May 2004. In addition

the external audit scope and budgeted

fees for the forthcoming audit were

considered.
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BARLOWORLD MOTOR

Following the acquisition of Avis Southern Africa, we are in the process of creating a

range of motor vehicle transport and mobility solutions for our customers.
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On 29 September 2004, the audit

committee met to consider the results of

the annual risk assessment, internal

audit activities and recommendations

regarding the risk management process,

and disaster recovery, business continuity

and information security issues. 

Draft corporate governance reports were

reviewed.

The audited annual financial statements

for the year ended 30 September 2004

were submitted to the meeting of the

audit committee held on 14 November

2004, together with the reports of the

auditors. The lead client service partner

responsible for the audit as well as the

head of internal audit were present.

The committee considered the assessment

at the year-end of the company’s ability

to continue as a going concern, the

valuation of investments and exceptional

items. The audited annual financial

statements and the drafts of the

preliminary profit statement were

recommended to the board for approval.

The audit committee has also

recommended to the board that, at the

forthcoming annual general meeting, the

external auditors be re-appointed for the

current year.

The committee also considered the report

of the head of internal audit regarding

the status of internal controls in the

group, as well as the proposed internal

audit plans for the 2005 financial year. 

The chairman of the audit committee

reported on the annual results, supported

by the external auditors, at the board

meeting held to adopt the annual results

on 15 November 2004.

The audit committee has inter alia

adopted the following policy in regard to

the provision by the external auditing

firm of any non-audit services:

• non-audit services will not be

obtained where the provision of such

services could impair audit

independence;

• total annual fees for non-audit

services in any financial year shall not

exceed the total audit fee for that

year unless any excess is justified and

approved by the chairman of the

audit committee in consultation with

the members of the committee, if

necessary.

All members attended the three

committee meetings referred to above.

The board has determined that the audit

committee, which has no executive

powers, has satisfied its responsibilities

for the year under review in compliance

with its terms of reference.

General purposes committee

WAM Clewlow (Chairman), MJ Levett,

SB Pfeiffer, AJ Phillips, EP Theron,

RC Tomkinson.

During the year, Mr RKJ Chambers retired

and Mr SB Pfeiffer was appointed to the

committee in his stead.

The general purposes committee,

comprising a majority of independent

directors, considers issues of significance

to the company. It advises the board on

matters having local and international

political, economic and social

implications regarding the affairs of the

company. Progress in regard to

the strategic plan is reviewed and

recommendations in respect of any

adjustment to it are submitted to the

board. The committee is able to ensure

that matters requiring the attention of

the directorate, such as acquisitions and

disposals, as well as other issues of high

importance, are submitted timeously for

proper deliberation. Its terms of reference

were formalised in 2003 and approved by

the board.

During the year under review, the

committee met six times to discuss and

make recommendations to the board on

matters impacting the group’s strategic

plan, as well as other issues considered

significant to the company’s affairs.

Annually, the committee appraises the

performance of the chairman of the

board, the chief executive officer and of

the board as a whole. The chairman and

the chief executive officer do not

participate in discussions regarding their

own performance.

All committee members attended the six

meetings, three of which were held in

South Africa, two in the United Kingdom

and one in the United States.

The board has determined that the

general purposes committee, which has

no executive powers, has satisfied its

responsibilities for the year under review

in compliance with its terms of reference.

Nominations committee

WAM Clewlow (Chairman), MJ Levett,

SB Pfeiffer, EP Theron, RC Tomkinson

During the year Mr RKJ Chambers retired

and Mr SB Pfeiffer was appointed to the

committee in his stead. In terms of good

corporate governance considerations, the

chief executive officer of Barloworld Ltd,

Mr AJ Phillips, stood down from the

nominations committee during the year.

The nominations committee makes

recommendations to the board on

the composition of the board and the

balance between executive, non-

executive and independent directors. Skill

and experience, demographics and

diversity are taken into account in this

process.

It is responsible for identifying and

nominating candidates for the approval
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For some years the company has had an

incentive bonus scheme. This includes

factors linked to Value Based

Management, pre-determined objectives

and Cash Flow Return on Investment

targets.

Targets are set at group and operational

levels and are weighted appropriately to

a person’s ability to influence results

and add value. They include “year-on-

year stretch” to ensure value creation.

A portion of the incentives is linked

to personal or team goals with the aim

of improving performance while

balancing short, medium and long-term

company objectives. These include

minimum standards, corporate values,

performance improvement, people

development and employment equity.

For the year ended 30 September 2004,

the remuneration committee approved

a scheme in terms of which each

executive director would receive the

greater of:

1. a proportion of annual basic salary

arising from the increase in:

• headline earnings per share of

Barloworld in 2004 over 2003

and less a factor approximating

the rate of inflation; and

• return on net assets (excluding

leasing) of Barloworld above a

predetermined “stretch” target;.

2. a proportion of annual basic salary

arising from the increase in:

• 2004 over 2003 of the Cash

Flow Return on Investment

achieved by the relevant

business unit; and

• the increase in Cash Flow

Return on Investment achieved

by Barloworld 

in each case multiplied by a factor

reflecting the extent to which the

of the board as additional directors or to

fill any board vacancies when they arise.

They also advise the board on succession

planning, especially in respect of the

chairman of the board and chief

executive officer.

In addition, the committee recommends

for re-election, directors who retire in

terms of the company’s articles of

association.

Its terms of reference were formalised in

2003 and approved by the board. All

committee members attended the six

meetings, three of which were held in

South Africa, two in the United Kingdom

and one in the United States.

The board has determined that the

nominations committee, which has no

executive powers, has satisfied its

responsibilities for the year under review

in compliance with its terms of reference.

Remuneration committee

WAM Clewlow (Chairman), MJ Levett,

SB Pfeiffer, EP Theron, RC Tomkinson

During the year Mr RKJ Chambers retired

and Mr SB Pfeiffer was appointed to the

committee in his stead.

Composed of a majority of independent

directors, this committee makes

recommendations to the board, within

terms of reference formalised in 2003

and approved by the board, regarding

the structure and development of policy

on executive and senior management

remuneration, taking into account

market conditions. The chief executive

attends meetings, but does not

participate in discussions regarding his

own remuneration.

The committee approves the remuner-

ation levels and benefits of executive

directors and senior executives.

Recommendations are made in respect of

fees – for a service as a member of the

board or on a board sub-committee – to

be paid to each independent and non-

executive director. Once these fees have

been adopted by the board, they are

submitted to the shareholders in general

meeting for approval prior to

implementation and payment.

REPORT OF THE 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The company’s philosophy is to set

remuneration at appropriate levels,

taking into account scales of

responsibility, in order to attract and

retain the directors and executives

needed to run the company

successfully. A proportion of executive

directors’ remuneration is structured so

as to link corporate and individual

performance. This approach is being

extended to other levels in the

organisation. Participation of employees

will be achieved through consultative

processes aimed at aligning job and

corporate purposes and the

introduction of a uniform measurement

system. This has been largely

accomplished and a framework set for

the year ahead.

During the year under review, the

committee met to determine specific

remuneration packages for executive

directors and executives of the

company, (including performance-

based incentives, grants under the

Barloworld share option scheme) and to

determine criteria that will encourage

good performance, as well as achieve

fair reward for their individual

contributions.

Basic salaries are reviewed annually in

light of targeted median and individual

performance. Annual increases are not

guaranteed.



company may determine in general

meeting. The total remuneration of

each executive director takes into

account the value of services as a

director, in addition to executive

remuneration. No remuneration has

been authorised in general meeting in

respect of remuneration for services as

directors of the executive directors. This

has been controlled through the

remuneration committee.

A non-executive or independent director

who, in the opinion of the directors,

performs services beyond the scope of

the ordinary duties of a director may be

paid such extra remuneration or

allowances as may be determined by a

disinterested quorum of directors.

All committee members attended the six

meetings held during the year, three of

which were in South Africa, two in the

United Kingdom and one in the United

States.

The board has determined that the

remuneration committee, which has no

executive powers, has satisfied its

responsibilities for the year under review

in compliance with its terms of reference.

Internal audit

With its responsibilities clearly defined in

a charter, approved by the audit

committee, internal audit continued to

function throughout the group during

the year under review.

Audit activities principally addressed the

following areas:

• appraising and advising on systems,

procedures and management controls;

• assessing the effectiveness of risk

management processes;

• evaluating the reliability and integrity

of management and financial

information;

• assessing the control over assets and

verifying their existence;

• reviewing compliance with policies

and procedures; and

• recommending improvements in

procedures and systems to enhance

efficiencies and prevent fraud.

Risk focused audit plans for the year, with

input from divisional management, were

approved in May 2004. Audit findings

were formally reported to operating

division audit committees in May and

again at financial year-end. These

committees are chaired by officers who

are non-executive to the respective

divisions.

The head of internal audit co-ordinates

the internal audit function worldwide

and reports to the chairman of the audit

committee of Barloworld Limited who is

an independent director.

She reported formally to the audit

committee in May, September, and

November on activities, providing details

of audit coverage and of any significant

findings.

The internal audit process did not

highlight any breakdowns in internal

control that were known to have had a

material impact on the reported financial

information.

Internal audit undertook a high level

review of the risk management processes

across the group and reported at the

special risk focused meeting of the audit

committee in September.

Although not reliant on external auditors

for any resource support the head of

internal audit continues to liaise with

them with a view to maximising

efficiencies of audit coverage where

possible.
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objectives of each director have been

achieved. The quantum of the bonus

payout is not capped.

Executive directors and selected key

executives participate in the

Barloworld share option scheme.

Allocations of options are generally

made annually, based on the market

value of the company’s shares. One-

third of each allocation becomes

exercisable by the employee after

three years have elapsed from the

date of allocation. After four years, a

maximum of two-thirds of the original

allocation are exercisable. On the

expiration of five years, the full

allocation is available to the

employee. All options must be

exercised in full by the employee or

ceded by the employee to a family

company or trust or sold to an

approved financial institution within

ten years of grant or six years for

options granted after 29 January

2004. An employee must be in the

employ of, or have retired from, the

Barloworld Group at the time of

exercise or cession of any options.

In respect of each director, details are given

in note 33 to the annual financial

statements of salary, bonus, retirement and

medical contributions, gains from share

options exercised or ceded and other

benefits. Also given are details of shares in

the company owned, and of unexercised

share options held, by each director.

There are no contracts of service between

any directors and the company or any of

its subsidiaries that are terminable at

periods of notice exceeding one year and

requiring payment of compensation

apart from normal length-of-service

related severance for executives.

The directors are entitled to such

remuneration as the members of the



PPC SUREBUILD CEMENTPPC SUREBUILD CEMENT

Our 71.6% owned cement and lime business PPC generates benchmark returns for a

cement business compared with any of its international peers.
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Insider trading

The South Africa Insider Trading Act

No 135 of 1998 regulates transactions by

directors and officers in securities issued

by the company.

No employee, his/her nominee or

members of their immediate family may

deal either directly or indirectly, at any

time, in the securities of the company on

the basis of unpublished price-sensitive

information regarding the company’s

business or affairs. No director or officer

may deal in the securities of the company

during the embargo period determined

by the board in terms of a formal policy

implemented by the secretary. Periods of

embargo are from the end of the interim

and annual reporting periods to 24 hours

after the announcement of financial and

operating results for the respective

periods. A list of persons who are

restricted for this purpose has been

approved by the board and is revised

from time to time. A register of directors

and officers is available for inspection at

the company’s registered office in

Sandton, South Africa.

The rules of the JSE Securities Exchange

extend obligations regarding transactions

in the securities of the company to

include those of any major subsidiary

as well. Those whose trading transactions

have to be disclosed to the market

within 48 hours specifically include the

directors and the secretary but now also

embrace any associate of the directors

or secretary or any independent entity or

investment managers through which

the directors or secretary may derive a

present or future beneficial or non-

beneficial interest.

The directors or officers of the company’s

major subsidiaries, whether wholly or

partially owned, are also included in the

list of directors, secretary and officers.
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Trading in the company’s shares and any

cessions of options over such shares is

conducted on completion of an

application form, in the case of securities

subject to the Barloworld Share Option

Scheme, or a letter in any other case.

Authorisation of the transaction is given

in writing by the chairman of the board,

the chief executive officer or a divisional

chief executive officer, as appropriate.

The written authority is kept by the

secretary with the record of the

particular transaction. In the event that

the chairman wishes to trade, permission

to do so is obtained from the board.



PLASCON DOUBLE VELVET

In southern Africa the foundation of our success in our coatings business is market-

leading premium brands.
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3.4

MANAGEMENT OF RISK

The King Code of Corporate Practices

and Conduct contains numerous

guidelines relating to the management of

risk and the responsibilities of the board

and the audit committee in that regard.

In the 1990s, the risk management

strategy committee was formed which,

with the participation of outside experts

and specialists, has developed and

extended the management of risk within

the group. Benefits have been derived

from serious efforts to mitigate risk and

innovative techniques for financing any

losses that might occur.

Risk management strategy

committee

PM Surgey (Chairman), PJ Blackbeard,

MD Coward, LS Day, BP Diamond,

JE Gomersall, AJ Lamprecht, M Laubscher,

AJ Phillips, CB Thomson, HS Wilton.

In terms of a written risk management

philosophy statement issued by the chief

executive officer and endorsed by the

directorate, the company is committed to

managing its risks and opportunities in

the interests of all stakeholders. Every

employee has a responsibility to act in

this manner.

An ongoing systematic, multi-tiered and

enterprise-wide risk assessment process

supports the group’s risk management

philosophy. This ensures that risks and

opportunities are not only adequately

identified, evaluated and managed at the

appropriate level in each business, but

also that their individual and joint impact

on the group as a whole is taken into

consideration.
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3.4 Processes to
manage risk

The risk management strategy

committee, which is a sub-committee of

the audit committee and includes the

chief executive officer of Barloworld

Limited, the chief executive officers of all

businesses and the group risk manager,

reviews the activities and effectiveness of

the risk management function three

times each year. Business unit boards and

senior managers carry out an annual self-

assessment of risk at the beginning of

each calender year. This process identifies

critical business, operational, financial

and compliance exposures facing the

group and the adequacy and

effectiveness of control factors at all

levels.

The top risks, elevated to group level, are

adequately addressed through action

plans put in place with responsibilities

assigned.

The annual risk assessment process is

conducted at business unit and board

levels. The assessment methodology takes

into account the severity and probability

of occurrence and applies a variable,

based on the quality of control, thereby

ranking risks and setting priorities.

The group risk services department

oversees the process from the

perspective of strategic direction,

ongoing improvement in methodology

and process, and technical assistance.

Both independent external auditors and

internal auditors check for robustness

and thoroughness and comment

thereon in their own assessment reports.

The risk tolerance levels are set in each

business unit and vary depending on the

nature, scope and size of the business.

The tolerance levels are based not only

on financial impact, but also on the

potential threat to the integrity of the

business as a going concern, its

reputation and the well-being of

employees and other stakeholders.

Development of the risk management

intranet into a knowledge repository

assists this process. It also provides

an information database for risk

management and risk control practitioners

throughout the group.

As the group develops new business and

expands into new markets and

territories, it is faced with increasingly

complex and changing environments. By

integrating the risk management process

with the group’s strategic direction,

which incorporates the principles of

Value Based Management, the risk-

return trade-off is optimised. This

enhances competitive advantage,

growth and the employment of capital.

In the case of joint ventures and

associates, the company encourages

adherence to the same risk management

philosophy and policies.

The services of Marsh Inc. are used to

examine the quality of risk control and

the adequacy of insurances.

The audit committee has determined

that the risk management strategy

committee has satisfied its respon-

sibilities for the year under review in

compliance with its terms of reference.



BIBBY STERILIN TUBE ROTATOR

The products we make in our UK-headquartered laboratory business are used in

research and medical institutions in over 100 countries.
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Barloworld Group top risks – 2004

KEY RISKS MANAGEMENT RESPONSE

Currency volatility Financial risk

Movement of the rand against other currencies • The responsibility for monitoring and managing these 

creates risks relative to the translation of non-rand profits, risks is that of line management in conjunction with the  

the marking-to-market of financial instruments taken central treasury. A Group Treasury Policy is in place which 

out to hedge currency exposures, the cost of imports into clearly sets out the philosophy of hedging, guideline 

and the profitability of exports from South Africa. parameters within which to operate and permissible financial

instruments. 

• Preventative measures are implemented around determination

of pricing mechanisms and structuring of commercial

contracts to swiftly negate the impact of any adverse currency

fluctuations.

Defined benefit scheme exposure Market risk

There are risks of a decrease in the market value of equities • Suitably qualified representative Boards of Trustees 

and bonds, coupled with the impact of increasing fund exist which together with separate investment 

liabilities as a result of changing actuarial assumptions sub-committees, are responsible for evaluating the 

and/or member life expectancies. This could have an adverse  effectiveness of investment decisions. We also use 

impact on group results due to the need to make up professional investment advisors to administer our 

funding shortfalls. investment portfolios with a view to conservatively 

The group’s largest exposure in this regard pertains to two  preserving and enhancing fund valuations. Complex 

defined benefit schemes in the United Kingdom where the investment risk models are run by actuaries to assess 

combined actuarial deficits approximate £50 million. optimum risk balance. They also conduct regular valuations. 

• Funding shortfalls are made up within appropriate time 

frames via increased company and employee contributions, 

together with an adjustment to benefits. 

• Existing defined benefit schemes have been closed to limit

company exposure with all new employees required to join

recently established defined contribution schemes.

Dependence on principals and suppliers Strategic risk

Some of the businesses in the group are dependant • Add value to our principals by giving constant feedback 

on a small number of principals and/or suppliers. on market movements and product competitiveness.

The success of our business is therefore linked to the • Continually improve/build our relationship with our 

success of the principals and major suppliers,   principals and major suppliers and ensure that we 

their ongoing financial stability and the are their best dealer/customer.

competitiveness of their products and services. • Provide the best customer service and lead in our markets.

• Build “Smart Partnerships” with customers.

• Enter into longer term contracts with customers.

Exposure to equipment buy-backs and 

residual values Financial risk

Some of the group’s businesses could be exposed to losses • Line management is responsible for operationally 

on buy backs and residual values due to contractual managing this commercial risk by ensuring adequate 

obligations to buy back equipment previously sold or valuation competencies, managing inventory levels,

rented out, at prices below market or optimally structuring contracts, modelling transactions 

replacement cost at the time of being compelled to to ensure adequate economic return, continually

repurchase. This risk could arise, inter alia, scanning market conditions, hedging currency risks and

through market conditions at the time, currency monitoring the use and condition of equipment in

appreciation related to imported equipment, inadequate respect of which obligations exist.

valuation skills at the time of determining the buy-back 

amount, or poor condition of equipment repurchased.
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KEY RISKS MANAGEMENT RESPONSE

Protracted downturn in the global economy Market/political risk

A recession in the global economy is uncontrollable and • Maintain geographic diversity of businesses as in the 

has the potential of affecting group businesses in all event of a global downturn, some regions will always 

locations. be affected less than others.

• Include a downside scenario in our strategic planning 

to ensure that we develop proactive responses and have key

contingency plans in place.

• Adjust operations to circumstances as they arise.

Regulatory environment Regulatory risk

Many of the group’s activities are governed, one way • Influence legislation, lobby governments, and find ways 

or another, by regulations and it is imperative that to limit negative impacts of legislation where possible.

management are aware of the current thinking of 

the regulators and changes in policy direction which 

may be imminent.

Acquisition underperformance Acquisition risk

The risk of future net cash flows from • A Business Acquisitions Policy and Procedure is in place 

acquisitions failing to realise anticipated value upon that sets out a structured approach and framework to be 

which the initial purchase consideration was based may used when acquisitions are being made. This includes 

result in a subsequent impairment of the asset valuation. a pre-acquisition phase that includes the requirement to

conduct a comprehensive strategic analysis of intended

targets, development of acquisition criteria, both strategic and

financial and quantification of risk adjusted value creation

potential for the respective business unit and the group.

• The Group Strategy department reviews all acquisitions and

provides increasing involvement and contribution according

to specified levels of materiality within a group context.

• The CEOs and CFOs of each business unit are responsible for

ensuring that the policy and procedures are adhered to.

• Following acquisitions, planning and task teams are

established to focus on the realisation of possible synergies.

Strategic people skills People risk

Barloworld’s key asset in solution based businesses • Employee Value Creation (EVC) is the technique that 

is the intellectual capacity and skills of its people. Barloworld has been rolling out globally to create value 

This necessitates ongoing management of the for its employees.

challenges regarding succession planning and skills • EVC identifies, aligns and integrates all employee elements 

retention and development. of a value creating organisation including processes that

ensure sustainable competence and intellectual capacity using

“Intellectual Capital Reviews” to identify and retain future

leaders.

• Through performance management systems, employees’

purpose, role, function and accountabilities are defined.

• Using competency based assessments, employees are regularly

reviewed to ensure the appropriate skill sets are available to

enable performance at optimum levels.

• Reward and incentives schemes have been implemented to

ensure recognition and retention of high performing

employees.



3.5

Fees payable to non-executive directors

are recommended by the board and fixed

by the shareholders in general meeting.

Details of remuneration, fees or other

benefits earned by directors in the past

year are given on pages 162 to 166.

3.6

The board is responsible for the approval

of all major policies and accordingly this

includes all policies relating to

sustainability.

The company has no integrated

objectives relating to sustainable

development although a number of

individual business units have specific

targets and programmes. The

establishment of company wide

objectives will be considered by the board

during 2005.

Third party management

No part of the company’s business was

managed during the year by any third

party outside the Barloworld group in

which any director had an interest.

3.8

Communication with the

investment community

The company subscribes to the principles

of objective, honest, timeous, balanced,

relevant and understandable communi-

cation, of both its financial and non-

financial matters. The focus is on

substance, not form, and communication

with stakeholders with a legitimate
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3.5 Executive
compensation 

3.6 Responsibility for
oversight,
implementation
and audit

3.7 Codes of conduct 

3.8 Mechanisms for
shareholder
engagement interest in the company’s affairs is

sensitive and systematic. The company

regularly enters into dialogue with

institutional investors having due regard

for statutory, regulatory and other

directives prohibiting the dissemination

of unpublished price-sensitive inform-

ation by the company and its directors

and officers.

Employment

The integrity of new appointees to the

group is assessed through selection and

promotion procedures. Due care is

exercised in delegating discretionary

authority to individuals.

All employees are expected to adhere to

the group’s values, standards and

compliance procedures.

3.7

The values of the company are enshrined in our code of ethics which has
12 words:
• Obey the law
• Respect others
• Be fair
• Be honest
• Protect the environment

This is the foundation of our approach to sustainable development and has been
implemented and entrenched in the company for several years.

Ethics Line
The Barloworld Ethics Line was

introduced in 2002. It is an

independent and confidential system

by which employees or others can

report unethical or risky behaviour.

Such reports can be submitted to:

Barloworld Ethics Line
Telephone
South Africa 0800 203242

Telefax

South Africa 0800 007788

Postal address

Barloworld Ethics Line

C/o Tip-offs Anonymous

Free Post DN298

Umhlanga Rocks

KwaZulu-Natal

4320

South Africa

Barloworld Ethics Line is outsourced

to Tip-Offs Anonymous which is an

independent body within Deloitte.

This provides an opportunity to

anyone wishing to report unethical

activities or dishonest behaviour that

affects the Barloworld group. Total

anonymity, if desired, is assured.

The code of ethics is enforced with

appropriate discipline on a consistent

basis and action is taken to prevent a

re-occurrence of an offence.



STEEL TUBE

We are a market leader in steel tube.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

3.9, 3.10, 3.11

We identify our major stakeholders as the people for whom we add value and
who are critical to the success of our sustainable performance.

They are our shareholders, customers, employees, principals and suppliers and the communities in which we operate. A basic feature

of our Value Based Management approach to doing business is that we try to add value for all these stakeholders simultaneously.

Because we affect each of these groups of people in different ways, however, our patterns of engagement and interaction with them

differ.

promptness of delivery; offering

warranties; meeting promises of parts

availability.

• Field Service Technicians: response

time; quality of communication;

ability to solve problems; technical

knowledge; maintaining uptime.

• Customer Service Representative:

ability to negotiate; understanding

customer’s business; responsiveness;

adding value to customers’

business; understanding value

drivers of customer business;

understanding the needs of

customers’ business.

• Service Department overall:

response time; ability to do the job

right first time; convenient hours of

operation; problem resolution.

Industrial Distribution is adopting a

similar Markinor survey with effect from

2005.
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3.9 Basis for
identification of
stakeholders

3.10 Approach to
consultation

3.11 Type of
information
generated in
consultations 

3.12 Use of
information
resulting from
shareholder
engagements

Shareholders

Barloworld communicates details of its

performance to the investment

community formally twice a year, and

more often if special circumstances arise,

such as a change in prospects or a major

transaction. Barloworld Limited and our

Cement & Lime Division, which is listed

on the JSE Exchange SA as Pretoria

Portland Cement Company Limited

(PPC), issue separate reports to

shareholders. Other interaction with

shareholders includes group presen-

tations and one-on-one meetings as

well as operations visits. The overall

aim is to add value for shareowners

by comprehensive disclosure of all

aspects of operational performance

and prospects.

Customers

Our business units have continual

dialogue with their customers in

approaches that are specific to the

businesses in which they operate. A

common feature is regular individual

face-to-face contact and focus meetings

or forums to discuss common issues

relating to products and processes.

Barloworld Equipment, for example,

consults customers informally on a daily

basis. Many of our businesses conduct

regular independent customer

satisfaction surveys and engage in other

ad hoc communications. Barloworld

Scientific’s Melles Griot division engages

its customers in strategic pursuit, in that

its product development goals aim to

keep customers technically competitive in

their respective markets. It solicits and

considers customer feedback pertaining

to all its product development

programmes. The process of adding

value for customers is strengthened by

quick response to feedback from

customer interaction. Barloworld Cement

& Lime measures customer and consumer

satisfaction by means of toll free lines,

customer focus interface, surveys and

customer interaction. Market surveys are

undertaken by independent external

companies. Both the Avis and motor

franchise operations in Barloworld Motor

conduct ongoing and independent

customer satisfaction surveys.

Feedback from customers is continually

acted upon in numerous ways. For

example the annual Markinor customer

survey in Barloworld Equipment

indicates various strengths and weakness

(improvement areas) which are then

addressed by the relevant business unit

directors and managers. Examples of

issues raised are:

• Parts: responsiveness of parts

departments; reliable service; 
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Employees

Most employee communications are

conducted through personal contact

supported by newsletters, committees,

Value Based Management briefings and

mission directed work teams

(Invocoms). The frequency of such

interactions varies. Issues raised by

employees in the various forums and

meetings are usually addressed

immediately after they are raised. In

addition, there are structured negotiations

and consultation with recognised unions

at various workplaces and enterprises.

The majority of our employees have

access to our Intranet, affording them the

opportunity of being kept fully informed

about developments in their business

unit and the company as a whole.

Council meetings and has high-level

and regular engagement with Avis

Europe Plc. Acquisition channels such as

travel agents, airlines, tour operators and

related systems are also important to

Barloworld Motor.

Supplier issues are raised at the regular

meetings and are dealt with by the

responsible business unit director or

manager. The major issues are market

shares and sales volumes.

Suppliers and principals

Suppliers and principals are often vital

stakeholders, particularly in instances

such as the long-standing relationship

between our equipment businesses

and Caterpillar Inc. or our motor

businesses and the manufacturers of

the vehicles that we market. In cases

like these, meetings are frequent;

the equipment division meets

Caterpillar regularly at various levels of

the company (executive, mining,

construction, parts and service); the

motor division meets the local

representatives of the major

international suppliers (e.g. BMW,

DaimlerChrysler, General Motors, Ford,

Nissan, Toyota) as well as attending

frequent international dealer confer-

ences. Ongoing and regular informal

meetings with suppliers are held by our

management teams on an ad hoc basis,

particularly with significant suppliers,

manufacturers, or principals in addition

to regular formal meetings in terms of

established structures. Thus for example

Barloworld Motor attends Dealer

Communities

For the communities in which we

operate engagement varies

depending on the level of impact we

make. Our cement and lime plants

and quarries are located in rural areas

where we often create our own

residential villages and infrastructure

for employees and where we are

typically the lifeblood of the local

community. Under these circum-

stances we are in a constant process

of engagement through both ad hoc

and formal meetings with community

bodies and individuals. However in

most of our operations we are a small

part of large urban communities and

accordingly community engagement

takes place more generally on a needs-

based approach.

Governments, as the source of

legislation and regulation that may

have a profound effect on our

operations are another important

stakeholder for all our businesses. We

have regular individual contact

between senior management and key

members of government departments

and portfolios.

3.12

Information from stakeholder engagements is used to benchmark against the
industries in which we operate and to improve our own performance.
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OVERARCHING POLICIES AND 

MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

3.13

The application of the

precautionary principle is part of

Barloworld’s environmental policy

(see page 43).

3.14

Endorsement of externally

developed charters

Barloworld endorses various externally

developed charters. These include:

• The Code of Corporate Practices and

Conduct contained in the King

Report on Corporate Governance in

South Africa.

• The Global Compact initiated

by the Secretary General of

the United Nations in 1990

(www.globalcompact.org)

• The Global Reporting Initiative’s

Sustainability Reporting (GRI)

guidelines on economic, environ-

mental and social performance as a

tool in managing sustainability.

• The International Labour

Organisation’s charters.

• Individual business units adopt

industry specific charters. Examples

include Coatings subscribing to

ISO 9001/2000, Coatings Care,

Greenhouse Challenge and the

Packaging Covenant and Scientific’s

manufacturing unit at Stone, UK,

which has been awarded the

Investors in People quality standard

for employee training and

development. Both Avis Rent-A-Car

South Africa and Avis Fleet Services

are ISO 9001/2000 accredited.

3.15

Membership of industry and

business associations and advocacy

organisations

We belong to a wide range of industry,

business and advocacy organisations in

order to keep abreast of international

best practice and network effectively.

For example, we are a member of the

World Business Council for Sustainable

Development, the International Labour

Organisation, Business South Africa and

the Australian Chamber of Commerce.

Industry specific associations in which we

participate include the International Lime

Association, the Aggregate and Sand

Producers Association of South Africa,

the Cement and Concrete Institute, the

Association of Cementitious Material

Producers, the Institute of Quarrying, the

National Lime Association and the Waste

Management Institute, the South African

Paint Manufacturers Association, Motor

Industry Financial Administration, NOVA

Club, the South African National

Automotive Dealer Association, the

Victorian Automobile Chamber of

Commerce, the Botswana Motor Traders

Association and RMI Namibia, the

Norwegian and Swedish Car Rental

Associations, the Laser & Electro-Optics

Manufacturers Association, the Society

for Photo-Instrumentation Engineers and

the Optical Society of America, the South

African Motor Body Repairs Association

and the South African Vehicle Rental and

Leasing Association.

3.16

Product and service stewardship

and supply chain management

Product stewardship initiatives in our

own brand technologies include

analytical services to guarantee quality of

product; training and skills development

of consumers and monitoring and

measuring process efficiencies and

advice for their improvement.

Where we represent other companies’

brands all our original equipment

manufacturers are of international

repute and comply with international

standards and norms.

Other initiatives include efforts to

improve product design so as to

minimise negative impacts associated

with manufacturing, use and disposal.

In many areas we assess and manage our

supply chain in respect of outsourcing and

supplier sustainability performance,

applying key performance indicators and

implementing supplier accreditation

policies.

3.17

Managing indirect economic,

environmental and social impacts

In many areas we do not manage the

indirect impact of our business. The

exception is the requirement for

suppliers to comply with various

environmental and social standards.

These include a Black Economic

Empowerment procurement policy

across all of our South African

operations and strict environmental

performance criteria on all suppliers to

our cement and lime business.

3.18

Major decisions on changes in

operations

The re-shaping of our business to meet

market opportunities is a continual

process. It is driven by the changing

context of our business and may be

determined by economic, social or

environmental factors.



LOGISTICS OPTIMIZA INVENTORY
MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE

Our rapidly growing logistics businesses based in South Africa and Spain are being built

on the foundation of the skills of Barloworld people to create innovative solutions to

meet our customers’ needs.
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3.19

Procedures for managing and

measuring economic,

environmental and social

performance

A balanced scorecard approach to

performance measurement is generally

used throughout Barloworld. Its imple-

mentation varies significantly across

differing geographies and businesses.

Economic reporting is integrated into a

global reporting system using

standardised monthly processes

performed consistently across all

business units and consolidated centrally.

Non-financial performance measurement

and individual business-specific financial

measurement is primarily focussed at

business unit level and depends on what

makes sense in the context of each

business in which we operate.

Examples include currency risk and

volatility, cost control and flexibility of

overheads, erosion of the gross margin

and the operating margin, product and

geographic diversification, growth in

maintenance contracts and rental,

disintermediation, productivity and

efficiency, customer satisfaction,

enhanced partnerships with principals

and process improvement.

Quality and environmental performance

is usually managed through the

ISO 9000 and ISO 14001 management

systems respectively. The background to

our environmental approach is our

environmental policy (see opposite).

There are formalised health and safety

management systems in place at all

operations.

Employee issues are managed through

staff climate surveys, labour turnover,

skills development and retention,

productivity ratios and other relevant

statistics which are reviewed internally

and also against external benchmarks

and standards.

Community issues include the

management of localisation issues such

as employment equity and Black

Economic Empowerment in South

Africa.

3.20

Certification of management

systems in respect of sustainability

elements eg labour/environmental

management systems

The majority of Barloworld’s sites are

either ISO 14001 compliant or operate

to an internal standard system designed

to produce similar results. The company

has an ongoing process of ISO 14001

accreditation which is aimed at ensuring

all manufacturing operations are

compliant. There are no certification

systems with respect to labour.
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BARLOWORLD ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY*

Our environmental strategy is to strive to minimise the environmental impacts of our operations. Environmental considerations

form an integral part of daily business, including management planning, capital expenditure and operating procedures.

Clear reporting structures at all operations culminate in compliance with relevant legislation and adherence to this policy being

reported to the group risk management strategy committee, and from there to the board of directors.

In all operations we:

• Establish clear accountability for environmental performance with top management

• Comply with relevant environmental policies and laws, and other standards and codes of practice to which the company

subscribes.

• Carry out life cycle assessments of products.

• Strive to minimise the impacts of our activities on the global, regional and local environment by:

– Developing environmentally sound processes and products

– Optimising resource utilisation efficiency

– Minimising emissions and wastes

• Promote environmental awareness in our operations to ensure that everyone has the skills and knowledge to comply with this

policy.

• Maintain open dialogue with stakeholders to promote environmental protection and social upliftment.

• Participate with government and other bodies in developing effective legislation and standards to safeguard the health and

safety of workers, and quality of the environment.

• Encourage suppliers and contractors to provide environmentally sound goods and services.

• Develop contingency procedures to deal with unscheduled occurrences and community concerns.

Environmental Management Systems will be implemented in all operations to guide and track progress in meeting pre-determined

objectives and targets, and to demonstrate environmental responsibility and accountability at all levels of management and

continual improvement of environmental performance through self-assessment and auditing.

Barloworld is committed to regular assessment of its environmental performance and policy, and to report thereon annually.

* This is a summary version of the full policy document

4

GRI INDEX
This document is written sequentially in the GRI content format. Accordingly
we have not provided a detailed index. The main chapters are however
summarised below

4.1

GRI Element Pages

Vision and Strategy 6 – 11

Profile 12 – 16

Governance structure and Management Systems 18 – 43

Performance Indicators 44 – 63

4
GRI INDEX

4.1 Table of GRI
contents
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5
ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

EC1 Net sales

EC3 Cost of goods,
materials and 
services
purchased

EC6 Distributions
to providers
of capital

EC7 Increase/decrease
in retained
earnings at end
of period

EC 1, EC3, EC6, EC7

This section provides an overview of the direct economic impact of the company
in 2004. It considers our customers, suppliers, employees, providers of capital and
the public sector.

VALUE ADDED STATEMENT

A measure of the wealth created by the group is the amount of value added by its diverse manufacturing, distribution and other activities
to the cost of raw materials, products and services purchased. This statement shows the total wealth created and how it was distributed.

R million 2004 % 2003 %

Revenue 36 673 34 603
Paid to suppliers for materials and services 26 184 25 486 

Value added 10 489 9 117
Income from investments* 287 274

Total wealth created 10 776 9 391

Wealth distribution:
Salaries, wages and other benefits (note 1) 5 993 56 5 450 58 
Providers of capital: 1 298 12 1 512 16 

Finance cost 468 531 
Dividends to Barloworld Limited shareholders 626 736
Dividends to outside shareholders in subsidiaries 204 245 

Government (note 2) 1 059 10 809 9
Reinvested in the group to maintain 
and develop operations 2 426 22 1 620 17 

Depreciation 1 535 1 226 
Retained profit 814 415 
Deferred taxation 77 (21)

10 776 100 9 391 100 

Value added ratios
Number of employees (30 September) 25 233 22 749 
Revenue per employee (Rand)# 1 528 615 1 506 410 
Wealth created per employee (Rand)# 449 168 406 086 

Notes:
1. Salaries, wages and other benefits

Salaries, wages, overtime payments, 
commissions, bonuses and allowances 4 843 4 385 
Employer contributions + 1 150 1 065 

5 993 5 450 

2. Central and local government
Current taxation 828 637 
Regional Service Council levies 39 33 
Rates and taxes paid to local authorities 62 54 
Customs duties, import surcharges and excise taxes 122 76 
Skills development levy 13 11 
South African withholding taxation 2 
Cash grants and cash subsidies granted by 
the government (5) (4)

Gross contribution to central and local government 1 059 809 

* Includes interest received, dividend income and share of associate companies and joint ventures retained profit.
# Based on average number of employees
+ In respect of pension funds, retirement annuities, provident funds, medical aid and insurance.
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Julie Bayliss, a Public

Service Administrator in

Barloworld Industrial

Distribution United

Kingdom, contributed

significantly to the

efforts in short-term hire

that secured the UK

Ministry of Defence

contract for Barloworld

Handling in the period

leading up to and

during the military

conflict in Iraq. 

At the height of this

operation she had

110 machines on hire,

more than double the

previous peak and

generating nearly

£1 million in additional

turnover. 

She was responsible 

for locating suitable

machines and organising

the logistics of

transporting and

commissioning

equipment at

destination.

2004 BARLOWORLD CEO’s AWARD FINALIST, 
INDUSTRIAL DISTRIBUTION: JULIE BAYLISS
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ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS
CONTINUED

EC2 Geographic
breakdown of
markets

EC5 Payroll and
benefits

EC8 Taxes paid

EC9 Subsidies received

EC10 Donations

EC11 Suppliers

EC12 Non-core
business
infrastructure
development

NOT ASSESSED:
EC13 Indirect

economic
impacts

Southern Africa 49%
Other 51%

Salaries, wages and other benefits 2004

Southern Africa 43%
Other 57%

Salaries, wages and other benefits 2003

Southern Africa 68%
Other 32%

Taxation 2004

Southern Africa 58%
Other 42%

Taxation 2003

EC2

National sales do not represent more than 5% of GDP in any country in which we operate.

The table below shows the country and sector where our market shares are in excess of 25%.

Country Product range

Angola, Botswana, Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, South Africa, Zambia Earthmoving equipment
Botswana, South Africa, Zimbabwe Cement
South Africa Decorative and automotive coatings
Botswana, Mozambique, Namibia, Norway, South Africa, Swaziland Car Rental

EC5

Barloworld paid 49% of its salaries, wages and other benefits in 2004 in southern Africa

with the majority of that amount being paid in South Africa. The substantial increase

from 2003 was primarily due to acquisition of Avis Southern Africa.

EC8

Barloworld paid 68% of its taxes in 2004 in southern Africa with the majority of that

amount being paid in South Africa. Elsewhere in the world tax was primarily paid in

Spain, the United Kingdom, Australia and the United States.

EC10

In 2004 Barloworld spent R14.32 million on

community projects (0.6% of profit before

tax and 0.9% of profit after tax). This

investment was in the following areas:

EC11

Caterpillar Inc. accounted for some

US$800 million of our total purchases in

the past year.

No other supplier represented 10% or

more of total purchases and in no

country did our purchases represent more

than 5% of GDP.

EC12

In 2004 Barloworld did not invest in any

infrastructure outside our main business

activities.

Community projects investment

Welfare 11.2%

Other 24.2%

Sports development 0.7%
Safety and security 3.5%
Policy monitor 0.6%
Leadership 4.1%
Job creation 21.9%
Environment 4.0%
Education 22.3%
Black Economic Empowerment 7.5%

EC9

An analysis of grants, tax relief and other types of financial benefits received by region

is not available however the quantums involved are not significant.
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Craig de Kock, 

General Manager

Software and People

Development, developed

and refined the division’s

inventory management

software (Optimiza), 

an offline inventory

management decision

support tool to manage

inventory across locations

so as to balance

inventory investment

with high customer

service levels. 

The product has grown

into an internationally

competitive product

handling more than 

US$10 billion inventory

a day in South Africa,

Europe, the United

Kingdom, Australia and

the USA, where it

competes successfully

with ERP systems

developed by global

specialist software

companies.

2004 BARLOWORLD CEO’s AWARD FINALIST, 
LOGISTICS: CRAIG DE KOCK



During 2004 we have taken our environmental indicator reporting to a new level

with the internal collation of statistical data from all our operations into a central

database. This process revealed a number of challenges in ensuring the accuracy,

consistency, completeness and validity of the information available. Accordingly

in this section we have used the data to give a qualitative overview of our

performance. We are aiming to publish quantitative company-wide data in 2005.

48

6
ENVIRONMENTAL
PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS 

EN1 Materials
excluding water

EN2 Wastes used 

EN3 Direct energy
used

EN4 Indirect energy
used

EN5 Water use

EN6 Land owned,
leased or
managed in
biodiversity rich
habitats

EN7 Impacts on
biodiversity 

EN20 Affected water
sources and
related
ecosystems

NOT ASSESSED:
EN17 Renewable

energy

EN18 Energy footprint

EN19 Other indirect
energy use

EN21 Ground and
surface water
withdrawals

EN22 Water re-cycling
and re-use

Business segment Materials

Equipment Lubricants, paints, paper, steel, tyres

Industrial Distribution Lubricants, paints, paper, tyres, wood

Motor Lubricants, paints, paper, solvents

Cement and Lime Dolomite, cementitious extenders and fillers, gypsum, limestone, paper

Coatings Additives and colourants, emulsions and alkyd resins, extenders and fillers,

lubricants, paper, solvents, titanium dioxide

Scientific Acetone, acids, aluminium, cardboard, emulsions and alkyd resins, glass,

laser optics, lubricants, methylene chloride, packaging materials, paints,

paper, polymers, solvents, steel, wood

Steel Tube Acids, lubricants, packaging materials, paints, paper, solvents, carbon and

stainless steel, zinc and PVC

Corporate and Other Lubricants, paper, solvents, tyres

EN1, EN2

Materials

The broad range of products and services

offered by Barloworld gives rise to the

use of a diverse range of materials. The

key materials we use other than water

identified in our analysis in 2004 are set

out in the table below in alphabetical

order.

The percentage of materials we use that

are wastes from external sources is not

known but is estimated to be well below

1% of total materials used.

EN3, EN4

Energy

Most of Barloworld’s operations are not

significant consumers of energy within the

context of energy consumption in the

societies in which we operate. The

exceptions are:

• our cement and lime operations

which use coal, petroleum products

and electricity in their manufacturing

operations

• our Motor, Equipment, Industrial

Distribution and Logistics operations,

all of which own or operate fleets

of vehicles running on petroleum

products.

We do not have any meaningful data on

energy used to produce and deliver

energy products we purchase.

EN5, EN20

Water use

Only our cement and lime operation uses

substantial quantities of water and has

no significant impact on any water related

habitats or ecosystems.

EN6, EN7

Biodiversity

The majority of our operations are

conducted in industrialised and urbanised

areas and accordingly we have minimal

impact on terrestrial, fresh water and

marine environments, or biodiversity-rich

areas. The exception is our cement

operation which is active in biodiversity rich

habitats. In South Africa approximately

1 330 hectares of its land is classified as

Loerie fynbos, 16 000 hectares of

Grassridge bontveld and 2 hectares of

Riebeeck renosterveld. These are

biodiversity rich areas. Negative impacts to

these ecosystems are mitigated by the

implementation of well-monitored

environmental management programmes

at the relevant mines. At Riebeeck con-

siderable effort has been made to modify

the waste dump profile and footprint in

order to preserve the scarce renosterveld.

At Grassridge an environmental

monitoring committee comprised of

stakeholders from all walks of life interact

with the Grassridge personnel on a regular

basis to ensure protection of the Eastern

Cape bontveld biome.
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Boet Helberg, 

Slitting Manager at the

Elandsfontein Plant,

South Africa solved a

knotty problem to store

large stacks of 25-ton

steel coil, saving the

division at least 

R1.5 million and creating

a safer working

environment. 

He hit on the ingenious

solution of excavating a

storage bay below floor

level, a project which

was accomplished

without disrupting

production despite the

difficulties of temporarily

halving stocks to free up

working space. The

overall cost was well

below initial estimates.

2004 BARLOWORLD CEO’s AWARD FINALIST, 
STEEL TUBE: BOET HELBERG
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ENVIRONMENTAL
PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS 
CONTINUED

EN8 Greenhouse gas
emissions

EN9 Ozone depleting
substances

EN10 NOx, SOx and
other air
emissions

EN11 Waste produced

EN12 Discharges to
water

EN13 Spills of
chemicals, oils
and fuels

EN14 Environmental
impacts of
products and
services

EN15 Percentage of
product weight
reclaimable

EN16 Fines

NOT ASSESSED:
EN23 Land owned,

leased, managed

EN24 Percentage of
land owned,
leased and
managed that is
impermeable
surface 

EN25 Impact on
protected and
sensitive areas

EN26 Changes to
habitats and
percentage
protected/
restored

EN27 Restoring
ecosystems

EN28 IUCN red list
species in
operating areas

EN29 Operations in
protected or
sensitive areas

EN30 Indirect
greenhouse gas
emissions

EN31 Hazardous waste

EN32 Water sources
affected by
discharges

EN33 Supplier
performance 

EN34 Impacts of
transportation

EN35 Environmental
expenditures

EN14 

Amongst our principal products and

services those which have a significant

environmental impact are primarily in our

Equipment, Industrial Distribution, and

Motor businesses where we sell and rent

vehicles and power plants which are

driven by internal combustion engines.

They have a greenhouse gas impact

through their emissions when used. The

scale of that impact has not been

measured.

EN15

We do not have data on the percentage

by weight of our products sold that is

reclaimable or the percentage that is

actually reclaimed but we estimate the

quantities to be well below 5% in both

cases.

EN16

During the past year we have had no incidents of, or fines for, non-compliance
with applicable international declarations, conventions, treaties, or national,
sub-national, regional or local regulations associated with environmental issues.

EN8, EN9, EN10, EN11, EN12, EN13

Emissions, effluents and waste

The table below sets out a summary of our significant impacts in this area.

Item Impacts

Greenhouse gas emissions In our cement and lime operations, indirect greenhouse gas emissions

(primarily CO2) are emitted from the use of large quantities of solid

fossil fuels and diesel, and directly from calcination of the raw materials

in the process.

Use and emissions of ozone depleting substances none

NOx, SOx and other significant air emissions by type none

Total amount of waste by type and destination All wastes are disposed of responsibly through reuse, recycling,

recovery, incineration or landfilling. Wastes generated include: acids,

batteries, glass, lubricants, steel, packaging, pallets, paper, plastic,

solvents, tyres and water. Volumes are not quantified.

Significant discharges to water by type none

Significant spills of chemicals, oils and fuels in 

terms of total number an total volume none



Yvette Gouvea, 

Call Centre Manager of

the handling business

unit in Boksburg, South

Africa was responsible

for the installation of a

ground-breaking satellite

tracking system to

monitor and control

the unit’s fleet of

3 000 Hyster forklifts

in the field on long-term

lease. 

The system operates

through “black boxes”

fitted to Hyster machines

linked to the call centre

through a cellphone

network that allows

hourly meter readings

to be downloaded. 

The system results in

more accurate billing,

better servicing and

generally increased

customer satisfaction.

2004 BARLOWORLD CEO’s AWARD FINALIST, 
EQUIPMENT: YVETTE GOUVEA
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Southern Africa 64%
Europe 22%
North America 9%
Australia and Asia 5%

Barloworld employees by region
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7
SOCIAL 
PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

LA1 Employees

LA2 Employment
creation

HUMAN RESOURCES, LABOUR PRACTICES AND DECENT WORK

The Barloworld way of doing business flows from the values of Charles Sydney “Punch” Barlow, the son of our founder. He believed in

the highest ethical standards and teamwork.

At Barloworld, we believe that the sustainability of our business is dependant on our people who are integral to our Value Based

Management philosophy of delivering sustainable value to all of our stakeholders.

Our focus is to facilitate continuous operational improvement through the development of intellectual capacity. It is our aim to provide

staff with an environment in which they can flourish based on well defined competencies (knowledge, skills and attitudes) supported

by various systems and policies.

Clear purpose 
and direction

Inspiring, caring,
equitable and
professional 

climate

Sustainable
competence and

intellectual capital

Alignment

Performance
management

To increase 
and 

sustain predictive 
value creation 

through strategic
innovation and 

continuous 
improvement

LA1

LA2

Barloworld employed 11% (2 484) more

people in September 2004 than in

September 2003.

Annual employee retention statistics are

not currently maintained in a form that we

can present in a comprehensive company-

wide format however staff turnover rates

are generally below industry and country

averages.

Value Based Management (VBM)

VBM was introduced in 1999 and is at

the heart of everything we do in

Barloworld. The goal is to align processes

and day-to-day behaviour in order to

continually create value for all of our

stakeholders. Through VBM we strive to

maximise the value that we create for all

of our stakeholders.

VBM is a philosophy which continually

improves our understanding of how each

aspect of the business creates value.

VBM provides us with the ability to link

the actions of every person with the

creation of value. It provides a common

approach and language which can

ensure the long-term success of the

company in terms of all key stakeholders

including customers, shareholders, and

most importantly, the employees.

Employee Value Creation (EVC)

The people who work for Barloworld are

the foundation of our success. We have

undertaken many initiatives to create

value through people and the lessons

learnt have culminated in the formation

of an integrated approach to value

creation for all of our employees known

as Employee Value Creation (EVC).

Increase in employees from previous year as
at September 2004
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Len Rees, Shift

Superintendent in

the Pipette Unit at

Aberbargoed, Wales, 

is estimated to have

saved Barloworld

Scientific some £50 000

by his proactive approach

to improving machine

utilisation and reducing

machine downtime, thus

preventing lost output. 

With the company since

1983, he uses his skills

in all aspects of the

department’s work over

a wide range of

situations creatively and

flexibly – from repairing

machines to adjusting

settings to improve

output quality or helping

team leaders to achieve

their daily targets.

2004 BARLOWORLD CEO’s AWARD FINALIST, 
SCIENTIFIC: LEN REES



EVC integrates the people and financial

aspects of the business and ensures that

people value creation is recognised as a

critical element in achieving our medium

term goal of doubling the value of our

company over the four years from 2002 to

2006 (colloquially referred to internally as

2x4x4).

Our process offers employees clear

purpose and roles that will develop

knowledge, skills and attributes in a

focused way and provides clear objectives

that can be linked to the concept of

reward for performance.

EVC is being rolled-out in southern Africa

and is beginning to be utilised effectively.

Improvements in many areas are evident.

Our cement and lime operations have

lead the way with their Kambuku Process

and achieved the accolade of second

place in the Deloitte “Best Company to

Work For” 2004 survey. Barloworld

Coatings South Africa have begun

the process and still have to progress to

Climate Creation. Barloworld Equipment

southern Africa started the process in

October 2004. Barloworld Motor have

done well and are making steady

progress in integrating Avis.

EVC is also in the process of being

introduced to our operations outside

southern Africa. This began in Industrial

Distribution in October 2004. Barloworld

Scientific began in November 2004 and

Barloworld Finanzauto in Spain will begin

in March 2005. Barloworld Coatings

Australia have had great success having

begun the process in November 2003.

Whilst we expect that this process will be

entrenched throughout the organisation

by the end of 2006, we will continue to

reap positive benefits as the journey

unfolds.

LA3, LA4, LA13

Labour/Management relations

The table below gives an indication of the

degree of unionisation of our businesses

by region.

The involvement of employees in decision

making is extensive throughout the

company and an integral part of Value

Based Management. The company does

not have formal joint decision making

bodies with Trade Unions.

In most regions of the world where we

operate employee consultation on issues

such as wages and retrenchment is

legislated.

Performance management 

and rewards

In terms of Employee Value Creation,

incentive schemes have been imple-

mented within most business units

with the aim of rewarding excellent

performance by employees.

Each business unit has a strategic plan for

the period 2005 – 2009. Achievement of

the strategic plan objectives will be

dependent on the effective alignment of

individual and team objectives with the

strategic plans of each business unit and

Barloworld. The incentive schemes are

linked to the objectives contained in the

performance scorecards which are

directly linked to the strategic plan

objectives.

Employee recognition

Value Based Management is built on a

foundation of world class people who

make an extraordinary contribution to

the success of Barloworld. These people

are recognised for their efforts and

contributions in performing beyond the

call of duty through the CEO Awards in

each business unit.

The goals of the CEO Award programme

is to focus every employee worldwide

towards Barloworld’s goal of creating

value for all of our stakeholders – value

that will be recognised by our customers,

acknowledged by our shareholders and

experienced by our employees. This

became the challenge from CEO, Tony

Phillips.
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Mike Shapland,

Organisational

Performance Manager

at PPC based in

Johannesburg, South

Africa. He has lifted the

performance of the

entire sales and

marketing unit by his

enthusiastic application

of the Kambuku Value

Creation model. 

The sales and marketing

team increased revenue

by 8.7% although its size

was reduced by 20%,

adding many millions

of rand in value for

shareholders, employees

and customers by

materially enhancing the

culture and efficiency of

the unit in a single year. 

The unit also achieved

ISO 9002 and 14001

accreditation in the year.

2004 BARLOWORLD CEO’s AWARD FINALIST, 
CEMENT AND LIME: MIKE SHAPLAND
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The winning employee from each

business unit becomes a finalist in the

Barloworld CEO Award competition.

Perception surveys

Barloworld aspires to be an employer of

choice. Currently in South Africa we

participate annually in the Deloitte “Best

Company to Work For” survey. We aim

next year to take part in surveys in the

US and the UK to benchmark Barloworld

as an employer of choice.

Employee Value Creation will be used to

its full potential to ensure that we

achieve this goal. The success of

Employee Value Creation can already be

seen by the results that PPC have

achieved in the Deloitte “Best Company

to Work For” 2004 survey. PPC came first

in the Manufacturing, Engineering and

Production category and second overall.

The Barloworld Individual Perception

Monitor (IPM) survey is conducted to

measure the perceptions of our employees

against standards that create value for the

employee. As this is done annually we are

able to benchmark the different

businesses within the group, monitor

areas for improvement and areas where

focus is required.

The third measurement process is the

Self Assessment Audit, where every

management team globally measures the

progress made by their business in the

Employee Value Creation process.

The results of these surveys will be fully

assessed to assist us to continually

improve our processes.

LA12

Barloworld seeks to be a preferred

employer and accordingly usually offers

benefits beyond the legal minimum.

These range from higher wages to

medical schemes, staff canteens, and a

range of other benefits which vary by

country and industry.

Transfer opportunities 

within Barloworld

The Barloworld Career Opportunities

website has been developed with the aim

to retain talent that already exists within

Barloworld; support integration across

Barloworld, offer business units an internal

recruitment tool which reduces costs and

live up to our Communication Promise

and our statements on Employee Value.

The site is accessible from our Barloworld

Intranet and attracts responses from our

employees worldwide.

Communication

Transparent, clear and open

communication is part of the way that

Barloworld does business and regular

communication between employees and

management across all businesses is vital

if we are to build a global organisation.

Our communication initiatives reinforce

Employee Value Creation and assist in

communicating Barloworld goals and

strategies.

The Barloworld Induction CD shares

Barloworld initiatives and strategies and

reiterates the philosophy of Value Based

Management and Employee Value

Creation.

In 2004, the Tony Online project was

launched which gives employees around

the world a direct link to CEO, Tony

Phillips via our Barloworld Intranet.

Our quarterly newsletter, Building

Barloworld is in its 14th edition and

continues to share best practice, strategy

and human resource initiatives with all

our employees. Supported by the

Building Barloworld video and CD,

employees are able to meet colleagues

from around the world and see Tony

Phillips sharing business messages. In

addition almost every business unit has

its own specialised internal publications.

These and many more activities ensure

that we carry Employee Value Creation

across all of our businesses.

LA5, LA6, LA7

Health and safety

Barloworld adopts a proactive approach to

employee wellness and initiatives include

occupational health programmes, primary

health care, the provision of medical aid,

HIV/Aids initiatives and wellness days.

Occupational accidents and notifiable

diseases are reported to the relevant

authorities under the applicable statutes.

Accidents and incidents are monitored.

Trends are analysed to prevent any

recurrence that would adversely affect the

health and safety of employees or visitors.

We have 19 on-site clinics in South

Africa that provide a compre-

hensive range of wellness pro-

grammes to 5 900 employees.

Our sick absenteeism rate for all

health conditions in southern Africa is

generally less than 1.5%. In addition,

the combined ill-health retirements

and mortality from all causes (heart

disease, cancer, Aids etc) in the

Barloworld group for the same region

has been less than 1% a year per

annum for many years.
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David Stead, a paint

and laboratory quality

control worker in

Sydney, Australia played

a leading role in

reformulating a

complete range of

48 colours of aerosol

paints to eliminate

solvents that are harmful

to health, especially

when deliberately

inhaled by substance

abusers. 

As a result Barloworld

Coatings was selected

as the sole supplier

of aerosol paints to

Bunnings, Australia’s

leading hardware

shed chain. 

Total sales of aerosols

rose from A$2.6 million

in 2000 to A$3.9 million

in 2003 and an estimated

A$4 million 2004. Thus

the reformulation added

value for shareholders,

customers and society.

2004 BARLOWORLD CEO’s AWARD FINALIST, 
COATINGS: DAVID STEAD



Joint health and safety committees

comprising management and worker

representatives exist in a number of our

manufacturing operations but only cover

a relatively small proportion of our

worldwide employee base.

Integrated company-wide data on

standard injury, lost day and absentee

rates and number of work related

fatalities is not available.

LA8

HIV/Aids

Employees in southern Africa are

encouraged to know their HIV status

through confidential voluntary

counselling and testing (VCT). HIV-

negative individuals are encouraged

to maintain their status, and this is

the thrust of our prevention

programmes. People living with HIV/Aids

can access antiretroviral medication

where indicated, either from their

medical aid, the company sponsored

programme or the State.

1 653 employees participated in “Know

your status”initiatives during the year,

with 6 sites achieving more than an 80%

response. 6.9% of these participants

were HIV-positive.

We have 61 employees on antiretroviral

medication and we are seeing dramatic

improvements in the health status of

many of these employees.

33 employees were placed on ill-health

retirement or died as a result of Aids

related conditions. There were no cases

in the managerial, executive or

professional category, 2 cases in the

skilled category, 23 in the semiskilled

category and 4 in the unskilled category.

This equates to a staff turnover of 0.56%

of employees per annum.

Leadership: Present and future

Our approach is to ensure that every

leadership position is filled with a fully

competent individual now and in

the future; that every leadership

position is necessary and adds

appropriate value in our goal of 2x4x4

and the leadership pipeline is effective

from top to bottom.

This year we introduced an Intellectual

Capital Review (ICR) system. This

enhanced approach to managing our

leadership pipeline has a primary

objective of improving our understanding

of the intellectual strength of the

leadership in Barloworld and developing

that leadership talent in the different

businesses. The longer term objective is

to have an integrated system to foster

appropriate career development and

integrated succession planning processes.

This enables us to meaningfully examine

our existing leadership and plan for

future leadership growth.

People development and training

Barloworld offers internship programmes

in South Africa for the TOPP (Training

Outside Public Practice) programme for

Chartered Accountants (CAs) which is

run to recruit and train prospective CAs

and leaders for Barloworld. This enables

us to support our South African Institute

of Chartered Accountants mandate as

an “approved training organisation”,

meet Black Economic Empowerment

requirements, enhance our reputation as

an “Employer of Choice” and support

the development of future skills for South

Africa. There are currently 4 students on

the programme and we are taking

applications for additional students for

2005.

Bursaries are offered to students in

South Africa who meet certain

requirements by qualifying with a degree

that can be leveraged by Barloworld.

We fund the studies of these students

with the agreement that once qualified

they will take a position in the company

for a specified period of time. There are

currently 36 bursars sponsored.

Barloworld has established executive and

management development programmes

with the Gordon Institute of Business

Science (GIBS) in Johannesburg, South

Africa where delegates are drawn from

Barloworld operations around the world.

The Executive Development Programme

(EDP) and Leadership Development

Programme (LDP) are formalised training

programmes run to build the functional

capabilities and promote general

leadership development. To date a total

of 266 managers (212 LDP delegates and

54 EDP delegates) have benefited from

the programme since inception.

LA9

We have not yet integrated our training

data worldwide into a single format

which allows for meaningful presentation

of information on average hours of

training per year by category of

employee.

LA10, LA11

Diversity and opportunity

All Barloworld employees have equal

opportunities for employment and

advancement. Any breaches of this

principle can be addressed both through

line management and through the

Barloworld Ethics Line (see page 36).
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Chris Wierenga, Group
Planning Analyst in
the corporate office in
Johannesburg, South
Africa developed a
model which showed
where the equipment
asset financing
business was not
delivering optimal
returns.

The model, separating
the economic from
the accounting issues,
was also used to
facilitate analysis of
returns of long-term
forklift truck rentals.
Its use of Net Present
Value and Internal
Rate of Return
concepts assisted
management in
making decisions to
optimise shareholder
value.

2004 BARLOWORLD CEO’s AWARD FINALIST, 
CORPORATE OFFICE: CHRIS WIERENGA
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Employment equity in 

South Africa

In South Africa, we remain committed

to the employment equity plans re-

quired of our business units by law and

we aspire to have a workforce that

reflects the society in which we conduct

our business. Employment Equity is

necessary to ensure that the potential

of our diverse staff is maximised for the

interest of Barloworld stakeholders.

An analysis of the composition of senior

management reveals that the leadership

of our organisation is predominantly

male and white. This reflects our history

and the nature of the industries in which

we operate. A notable exception is our

coatings business in southern Africa

which reflects the kind of diversity that

we are planning for the future in all our

operations.

HUMAN RIGHTS

HR1, HR2

Our approach to human rights

Barloworld has developed policies and

guidelines in relation to employment,

labour relations, health and safety, and

training and development that accord

with the Universal Declaration of Human

Rights, the Fundamental Human Rights

Conventions and the provisions of the

Constitution of the Republic of South

Africa, which has an exceptionally strong

orientation towards human rights and a

formal Bill of Rights.

Legal protection of human rights in the

countries in which Barloworld operates

varies. Where gaps exist between the

company’s policy or guidelines and

the law of the relevant country, the

approach adopted is to follow fairness in

principle and implementation, with

applicable law as the minimum

requirement.

All employees are engaged on terms

which conform to the labour standards

of the relevant country. In South Africa,

conditions of employment are closely

regulated and a body of legislation

and industry charters prescribes

employment measures designed to

rectify historic prejudices suffered by

large numbers of the population.

There are no recent examples available

which illustrate the application of this

approach in investment and procurement

decisions as we have not been con-

fronted with human rights dilemmas.

HR3

Human rights and our suppliers

and contractors

Our policy requires external providers of

materials and services to maintain

policies and procedures in their own

organisations that are designed to

protect the human rights of their

employees. We contract services from

outside parties only where such parties

comply with the human rights

regulations of the relevant country.

HR4

Policies preventing discrimination

An equal opportunity framework is in

force throughout the company.

The only circumstances where dis-

crimination is permissible in Barloworld

are in South Africa in applying affirmative

action and black economic empower-

ment measures in terms of the

Employment Equity and Black Economic

Empowerment Acts. These exceptions

are designed to ensure sustainability of

the business in the South African context

and mend past social deprivations.

HR5

Freedom of association and

collective bargaining

Freedom of association is another of the

human rights enshrined in and protected

by the Barloworld Code of Ethics and

Corporate Conduct and is fully supported

throughout the Company. We have a

long-standing tradition of recognising

and dealing with trade unions

representing our employees at the

various workplaces and enterprises.

HR6 an HR7

Child labour and forced or

compulsory labour

The Barloworld Code of Ethics prohibits

the use of child, compulsory or forced

labour. This prohibition is enforced

throughout.

There were no incidents of child,

compulsory or forced labour in the

company for the year under review.

HR8

Employee training on human

rights policies

Respect for the human rights of

employees is enshrined in Barloworld’s

Code of Ethics and Corporate Conduct,

which is communicated to all employees

in the course of their induction and

training procedures.

HR9

Disciplinary appeal practices

Formal disciplinary procedures in our

company provide a framework for fair,

systematic and uniform exercise of order in

the workplace. The aim is usually to ensure

an educational and corrective outcome.

Accountability and responsibility for

disciplinary action is vested in line

management. An employee who is subject

to a formal hearing, may typically elect to

be assisted by another employee from the

same department.
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The example and

leadership of Alex

Frielingsdorf, Dealer

Principal of Barloworld

Toyota Tygervalley, Cape

Town, South Africa

have ensured growing

vehicle sales, improved

Customer Satisfaction

Index scores, recognition

from Toyota SA,

increased employee

value and a significant

contribution to the

community.

Profitability of the

dealership has increased

significantly since 2001.

The dealership has also

been recognised by

Toyota SA as a Centre

of Excellence. Internal

Barloworld Motor

awards won by the

dealership include Most

Improved Dealership in

Franchise and Best

Dealership in Franchise.

2004 BARLOWORLD CEO’s AWARD WINNER: 
ALEX FRIELINGSDORF FROM BARLOWORLD MOTOR



In the case of dismissal, a formal appeal

may be lodged with the head of the

relevant department. Such appeal will be

heard by the senior manager on site. If

this is successful, the employee will be re-

instated retrospectively with no loss of

basic employment benefits. Should an

appeal fail, the dismissal will become

effective in terms of the original

notification.

Grievance procedures are formal channels

for resolving grievances at the earliest

possible stage. Responsibility for settle-

ment of grievances vests in line

management. In presenting a grievance,

an employee may not be placed at a

disadvantage through lack of knowledge

or skill. There is a facility for representation

by any other permanent employee. An

interpreter would not be classified as such

a representative.

HR10

Non-retaliation policies

Barloworld guarantees employees and

their representatives, if any, that use of the

company’s grievance procedure will not

jeopardise either their respective positions

or the merits of the case. This acts as a

non-retaliation policy.

SOCIETY

SO1

Managing community impacts

Our approach to communities is an

integral part of the way we manage our

business (see the discussions on Value

Based Management and on Stakeholder

engagement on pages 6 and 38

respectively).

SO3, SO5

Political lobbying and political

donations

We regularly engage law makers on

matters affecting our businesses around

the world. We do not retain professional

lobbyists anywhere and our approach is

always transparent and constructive.

We do not fund political parties or their

candidates.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

We take our product responsibilities

extremely seriously. Evidence of our

success can be seen in the absence of

major issues in this area.

PR1, PR2, PR3, PR4, PR5, PR8, PR10,

PR11

Customer health and safety using

products

No instances of non-compliance with

regulations concerning customer health

and safety, nor any penalties or fines for

any breach were recorded in the past

year. Similarly, no complaints were

upheld by regulatory or similar official

bodies in regard to health and safety in

respect of products and services.

Product information and labelling

No instances of non-compliance with

any regulation concerning product

information and labelling, nor any

penalties or fines for any breaches were

recorded in the year.

Policy and procedures to protect

consumer privacy

Consumer privacy is enshrined in our

values (see page 36) and there were no

substantiated complaints on breaches

thereof in 2004.

Customer satisfaction

Customer satisfaction surveys have

shown no significant negative issues

anywhere in the company in 2004.

Advertising

No breaches of advertising and

marketing regulations were reported

during the year.
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We have a policy of zero tolerance on bribery and corruption. Dismissal is the
penalty for any employee found guilty of such practices.
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Creating community value; the Barloworld Corporate Social Investment (CSI) programme in action

The Barloworld corporate social investment programme encourages and facilitates communication with the wider community in a

number of initiatives. From the corporate office, the group contributes to a diverse range of programmes, giving executive time

and intellect as well as funding. We believe that sustainability, linked to responsible citizenship, is one of the new frontiers of

business.

In 2004 Barloworld spent R14.2 million directly on its community projects. This amounted to nearly 0.6% of profit before tax and

0.9% of profit after tax. Most of this investment is concentrated in Africa. Flagship projects include:

• the Africa Leadership Initiative, a programme mounted in partnership with the Aspen Institute, Colorado, USA to develop

strong broad-minded ethical leaders in government, business and civil society in our southern Africa region.

• the Mandela Chair of Intellectual Property which we endowed at the Mandela Institute School of Law at the University of the

Witwatersrand. Over the last two decades we have also endowed a Chair in Industrial Engineering, workshops and libraries

at the university.

As in previous years, we continued to participate in collective business initiatives with other businesses, government and civil society.

These include the Business Trust, in which South African companies partner government to strengthen education, tourism justice and

health; the Colleges Collaboration Fund aimed at transforming technical colleges; and the EQUIP programme which partners

companies, schools and provincial education to improve school quality. There are also programmes to develop entrepreneurship to

sustain businesses and create jobs and a Public Private Partnerships Programme to facilitate the financing and management of

infrastructure.

Other programmes in 2003/04 included:

• Mindset TV is a network of television channels that have the potential to revolutionise the education sector. Dedicated to

education, they are currently focused on English, mathematics, science and biology for grades 10, 11 and 12. It is currently

in 2 000 of 5 000 secondary schools and is being rolled out with the support of government.

• Through our programme of creating community value, we are tackling the basic needs of society by funding the Nelson Mandela

Foundation in the fields of education, HIV/Aids, leadership, governance and democracy; and peace and reconciliation.

• Through our support for Business Against Crime we are helping to improve the societal structure in which we live; and

through our support for the Endangered Wildlife Trust we are helping to ensure that we have a better planet to live on.

• The Centenary Tree Planting Project celebrated the hundredth anniversary of the founding of Barloworld. The idea was to plant

a tree – as a symbol of Barloworld’s commitment to sustaining long-term relationships to celebrate every member of

Barloworld’s staff. By December 2003, more than 24 000 trees had been planted in southern Africa, Australia and the USA.

• We are in the early stages of developing another linked programme. It is an initiative with Noah (Nurturing Orphans of Aids

for Humanity) to establish 100 childcare centres or “Arks” to address the problems of Aids orphans at risk in local

communities. PPC has already sponsored a childcare centre in Katlehong, a poor residential suburb east of Johannesburg.

All these engagement and communication processes are two-way channels, intended both to convey and to receive data and

opinions. Feedback from the various stakeholders is essential for assessing the effectiveness of current policy and structuring future

plans and strategy.
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 September 2004

Closing rate at 30 September (1 unit of currency: rand) 2004 2003

Australian dollar 4.69 4.83
Euro 8.04 8.23
Japanese yen 0.06 0.06
UK pound 11.72 11.77
US dollar 6.47 7.03

CURRENCY CONVERSION GUIDE



TO THE MEMBERS OF 
BARLOWORLD LIMITED
We have audited the annual financial
statements and the group annual
financial statements of Barloworld
Limited, set out on pages 68 to 71
and 104 to 172 for the year ended
30 September 2004. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the
company’s directors. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

Scope
We conducted our audit in accordance
with statements of South African
Auditing Standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance

that the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.

An audit includes:
• examining, on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements;

• assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made
by management; and

• evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Audit opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements
fairly present, in all material respects, the

financial position of the company and of
the group at 30 September 2004 and the
results of their operations and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance
with South African Statements of
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
and International Financial Reporting
Standards, and in the manner required
by the Companies Act in South Africa.

Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Accountants and Auditors

Sandton
15 November 2004
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
for the year ended 30 September 2004

In terms of section 268G(d) of the South African Companies Act, 1973, as amended (Act), I certify that Barloworld Limited has lodged
with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Act. Further, that such returns
are true, correct and up to date.

MJ Barnett
Secretary

Sandton
15 November 2004

CERTIFICATE BY SECRETARY
for the year ended 30 September 2004



The directors of Barloworld Limited have
pleasure in presenting the annual
financial statements for the year ended
30 September 2004.

In terms of the South African Companies
Act 1973, as amended, the directors are
required to prepare annual financial
statements that fairly present the state of
affairs and business of the company and
of the group at the end of the financial
year and of the profit or loss for that
year. To achieve the highest standards
of financial reporting, these annual
financial statements have been drawn
up to comply also with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

The annual financial statements comprise:
• the balance sheets;
• the income statements;
• the cash flow statements;
• a six-year summary of balance sheets,

income statements, cash flow
statements, as well as statistics in
respect of ordinary share performance,
profitability and asset management,
liquidity and leverage, and value
added;

• a summary in other currencies; and
• segmental analyses.

No separate directors’ report has been
prepared as all the statutory information

required by the Companies Act 1973, as
amended, is contained in the report on
corporate governance from page 22 to
page 42, or elsewhere in this annual
report. The reviews by the Chairman, the
Chief Executive Officer and the Finance
Director discuss in detail the results of
operations for the year and those
matters which are material for an
appreciation of the state of affairs and
business of the company and of the
Barloworld Group.

Supported by the audit committee, the
directors are satisfied that the internal
controls, systems and procedures in
operation provide reasonable assurance
that all assets are safeguarded, that
transactions are properly executed and
recorded, and that the possibility of
material loss or misstatement is
minimised. The directors have reviewed
the appropriateness of the accounting
policies, and concluded that estimates
and judgements are prudent. They are of
the opinion that the annual financial
statements fairly present the state of
affairs and business of the company at
30 September 2004 and of the profit for
the year to that date. The external
auditors, who have unrestricted access to
all records and information, as well as
to the audit committee, concur with this
statement.

In addition, the directors have also
reviewed the cash flow forecast for the
year to 30 September 2005 and believe
that the Barloworld Group has adequate
resources to continue in operation for
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the
annual financial statements have been
prepared on a going-concern basis and
the external auditors concur.

The annual financial statements were
approved by the board of directors and
were signed on their behalf by:

WAM Clewlow AJ Phillips
Chairman Chief Executive 

Officer

CB Thomson
Finance Director

Sandton
15 November 2004
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During the past year we

completed our centenary

commitment to plant

24 000 trees in the

communities in which we

operate. Tree-planting

leaves a long-term

legacy. It reflects our

belief in doing things

that are sustainable.

The trees in this picture

were planted one year

previously in the

developing community

of Diepsloot, north of

Johannesburg, South

Africa. They will provide

shade, cleaner air and

many other benefits for

generations to come.

LONG-TERM COMMITMENT TO THE COMMUNITIES IN WHICH WE OPERATE



GROUP OPERATING PERFORMANCE
Revenues increased by 6% to
R36 673 million. Avis contributed to
revenues for six months of the year,
however overall growth was again
tempered by the stronger rand. In
constant currency terms, revenues grew
by 11%. Offshore revenues as a
percentage of the total decreased
marginally to 51%.

Operating profit rose by 21% to
R2 836 million and profit margins improved
in most areas resulting in the group margin
rising to 7.7% (2003: 6.8%).

A sharp drop in the charge for fair value
adjustments on financial instruments to
R107 million (2003: R334 million) was
mainly due to lower rand appreciation

against the US dollar in the current year
compared to 2003, as evidenced in the
graph below.

The southern African operations cover
foreign exchange trade commitments
and the derivative financial instruments
used are recorded at fair value with the
resultant mark-to-market gain or loss
taken to income in terms of IAS39.

The impact of financial instrument
adjustments on profit before tax is made
up as follows:

R million 2004 2003

Equipment southern
Africa (121) (332)
Other operations 14 (2)

Total negative fair 
value adjustments (107) (334)
Recouped at 
operating level 152 218

Impact on profit 
before tax 45 (116)

The amount recouped at operating profit
level arose primarily in Equipment
southern Africa resulting from the sale of
inventories at selling prices based on
foreign exchange rates in forward cover
contracts, compared to cost of sales which
are recorded at average spot rates at the
transaction date (as required by IAS21).

Finance costs reduced from R531 million
to R468 million reflecting the 5% drop in

average South African interest rates year-
on-year. The acquisition of Avis however,
resulted in a rise in finance costs in the
second half of the year to R286 million
from R182 million in the first half. Interest
cover at 4.5 times is above our target of
3.0 times and well up on last year’s
3.3 times.

Income from investments declined to
R259 million (2003: R274 million) mainly
due to lower interest received.

Taxation increased from R604 million to
R891 million. The effective taxation rate
(excluding exceptional items, Secondary
Tax on Companies, prior year taxation and
goodwill) reduced to 30.8% (2003: 31.7%)
mainly due to a higher proportion of
group profits being earned in South Africa
where the normal taxation rate is 30%.

Income from associates and joint
ventures decreased by R7 million to
R107 million. Improved contributions
from the Motor empowerment joint
ventures were offset by the exclusion of
Avis following its consolidation as a
subsidiary from April 2004.

The minority interest in profits rose by
22%, reflecting the strong performance
of PPC.

Headline earnings per share grew
strongly by 45% to 857 cents. Net profit
increased by 32% and is reconciled to
headline earnings as follows:

R million 2004 2003 %

Net profit 1 776 1 342 32
Attributable to 
minorities (259) (212)
Net exceptional items (17) (91)
Reversal of pension 
fund closure provision 70
Goodwill amortisation 148 113
Interest in associate 
goodwill amortisation 6 9
Profit on sale of plant 
and equipment (15) (6)
Other 7

Headline earnings 1 709 1 162 47

Headline earnings 
per share (cents) 857 593 45
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EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Exceptional items totalled a gain of
R40 million (2003: R81 million) before tax
and included the following:

R million 2004 2003

Profit on disposal of 
properties, investments,
and subsidiaries 108 123
Reversal of pension fund
closure provision 100
Impairment of assets (111) (45)
Realisation of translation
reserve on liquidation
of offshore subsidiary (57)
Other 3

Gross exceptional items 40 81
Taxation and 
minorities (23) 10

Net exceptional items 17 91

Profit on disposal of properties,
investments and subsidiaries comprise
mainly property disposal profits
(R83 million) and profits on the sale of
interests in three South African motor
dealerships (R28 million).

Impairment of assets relate principally
to goodwill in both Freightliner
(R80 million) and the Barloworld Holden
and Volkswagen motor dealership in
Australia (R27 million).

DIVIDENDS
Dividends totalling 380 cents per share
(2003: 290 cents) were declared in respect
of this year’s earnings. This represents a
dividend cover of 2.3 times headline
earnings per share, which remains within
the target range of 2 to 2.5 times.

CASH FLOW
Cash generated from operations increased
by 21% to R4 251 million. Working capital
was well contained, increasing by only
R206 million in the year. The net cash
inflow from operating activities rose
substantially to R2 282 million (2003:
R1 479 million) despite the sharp rise in
taxation payments.

Net cash used in investing activities of
R2 124 million includes R1 085 million,
representing the cash portion of the
acquisition price of Avis, capital
expenditure of R899 million, further

investment in rental assets (R1 425 million)
and lease receivables (R608 million), an
amount of R324 million to increase our
shareholding in PPC by 4.2% to 71.6%, less
the proceeds of R1 478 million from
the sale of our equipment finance
receivables book.

The net cash inflow before financing
activities amounted to R158 million
(2003: R333 million outflow). The group
has cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year of R1 443 million.

BALANCE SHEET AND
BORROWINGS 
Total assets grew by R4 086 million to
R27 842 million. The acquisition of Avis
Southern Africa Limited on 29 March
contributed R4 856 million to this increase
whilst the sale of the equipment finance
book reduced total assets. The results of
Portland Holdings Limited, the group’s
Zimbabwean cement subsidiary, have been
deconsolidated in the current year in terms
of the exclusions contained in IAS27. It has
been accounted for on a fair value
investment basis, with earnings being
recognised as dividends are received.

Total interest-bearing borrowings
increased by only R1 567 million to
R7 710 million (2003: R6 143 million),
despite consolidating Avis’ debt of
R2 025 million at the acquisition date and
incurring a further R1 085 million to fund
the cash portion of the purchase
consideration. This was achieved mainly
as a result of strong operating cash
generation and the sale of the
equipment finance book.

TARGET GEARING RANGES
In light of the Avis transaction the
gearing ratios appropriate for the
different components of the group’s
operations were reassessed. For this
purpose three broad segments have been
defined, namely trading (manufacturing
and dealership operations), leasing
(long-term leasing solutions including
fleet services) and car rental. The target
and actual debt-to-equity ratios for these
segments are set out in the table below.

The target debt-to-equity ratio for the
group will depend on the relative mix of
assets between these three segments.
Assuming each segment was geared at the
mid-point of the target range, the total
debt-to-equity ratio for the group at
30 September 2004 would amount to
approximately 75%. The group therefore
remains comfortably geared with a total
debt-to-equity ratio of 65% (2003: 59%)
which has reduced from 95% at the
half-year. This positions the group well to
fund growth opportunities as they may
arise or meet any short-term cash
requirements.

MATURITY PROFILE OF
BORROWINGS
Immediately following the acquisition of
Avis our short-term debt comprised 73%
of total debt. Whilst beneficial from an
interest rate point of view this high ratio
increased our vulnerability to interest
rate spikes and did not adequately match
the longer term nature of our asset base.
We investigated a number of funding
alternatives, culminating in a decision to
enter the domestic corporate bond
market for the first time. As part of this
process the group underwent a formal
rating process and was awarded a
national scale AA-(zaf) rating from Fitch
Ratings and successfully issued a
R1.5 billion bond in July 2004. This
resulted in a lengthening of the maturity
profile of the group’s borrowings at
30 September 2004 as set out on page 70.

The newly issued bond, which is listed on
the SA Bond Exchange, matures in
2011 and carries a fixed coupon of 10.7%
per annum. The coupon, representing a
premium at the issue date of 112 basis
points above the comparable treasury
stock R153, reflects the solid financial
position of the company and attracted the
lowest premium of AA- offerings in recent
years. In order to take advantage of
current low interest rates, 50% of the issue
was converted back into short-term rates
through the conclusion of an interest rate
swap. At current interest rates, this has
reduced the interest cost of the bond by
approximately 1% per annum.
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Total debt to equity (%) Trading Leasing Car rental Total group

Target range 20 – 40 600 – 800 200 – 300
Ratio at 30 September 2004 21 598 300 65



The US$75 million convertible bond,
issued in 1994, matured in September
2004. The US$26.2 million outstanding at
the beginning of the year was settled
through a combination of repurchases
for cash and the issue of 1 431 918
Barloworld ordinary shares.

TREASURY RISK MANAGEMENT
The group’s policies with respect to the
hedging of foreign currency exposures
and the management of treasury risks, in
place for many years, were formalised this
year in a group treasury policy document.

The policy outlines the group’s risk
philosophy and provides a framework
within which financial and operational
risks are identified and managed in a
structured, transparent and controlled
manner. Authority levels and limits are set
and reviewed semi-annually.

FINANCIAL TARGETS
The following financial targets have
been set for the group and will be
reviewed on an ongoing basis.

Achieved
Target 2004

CFROI® (%) >8 8.9
Operating 
margin (%) >7 7.7
Return on net 
assets – Group (%) >15 17.1
Return on net 
assets – Trading (%) >20 22.2
Return on equity (%) >15 14.4
Interest cover
– Group (times) >3 4.5

Interest cover
– Trading (times) >5 7.6

Dividend cover
(times) 2 – 2.5 2.3
Net debt/EBITDA
(times) <2.5 1.4
Working capital days <35 28

In terms of our Value Based Management
approach, a key indicator of annual
performance is cash flow return on
investment (CFROI®). CFROI® and other key
financial ratios are defined on pages 122
and 123. Each operating division is required
to demonstrate it can achieve a CFROI® in
excess of the real cost of capital of the
group over a business cycle. The hurdle rate
applied by the group is 8%. A CFROI® of
8.9% was achieved in 2004 which compares
to the previous year’s 8.1%.

IASB IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT
A number of new or revised standards
have been issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board during
the past year. These standards are
mainly designed to improve existing
International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and are effective for our
2006 financial year. However, the
company decided to early adopt the
following standards in the current year:

IAS1 Presentation of Financial
Statements

IAS2 Inventories
IAS10 Events after the Balance Sheet

Date
IAS17 Leases
IAS21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign

Exchange Rates
IAS24 Related Party Disclosures
IAS28 Investments in Associates
IAS31 Interests in Joint Ventures
IAS32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure

and Presentation
IAS33 Earnings per share
IAS39 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement
IAS40 Investment Property
IFRS5 Non-current Assets Held For Sale

and Discontinued Operations

In terms of the revised IAS21 foreign
currency goodwill must be translated at
exchange rates ruling at balance sheet
date. The company’s previous accounting
policy was to translate foreign currency
goodwill at rates ruling on the
transaction date. The impact of this
change has been to increase goodwill
and intangible assets by R116 million and
goodwill amortisation by R9 million in
2004 and R11 million in 2003. There is no
effect on headline earnings. The impact
of implementing the other new or
revised standards was not material.

The company proposes to adopt the
following new or revised standards over
the next two financial years:

IAS8 Accounting Policies, Change in
Accounting Estimates and Errors

IAS16 Property, Plant and Equipment
IAS27 Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements
IAS36 Impairment of Assets
IAS38 Intangible Assets
IFRS2 Share-based Payment
IFRS3 Business Combinations 
IFRS4 Insurance Contracts

Investigations are currently under way in
respect of all of the above standards and
the effect on the results of the group is
being quantified. IFRS2 and IFRS3 are
likely to have the most significant impact.
Under IFRS3, goodwill is no longer
amortised through the income
statement, but is subject to an annual
impairment test. In terms of this
standard, goodwill arising after 31 March
2004 may not be amortised. There have
been no acquisitions since 31 March 2004
that gave rise to goodwill.
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Redemption

Facilities Drawn 2005 2006 2007 2008
Borrowings profile at Sept 2004 at Sept 2004 onwards

Rm
Long-term
South Africa 3 192 3 043 841 330 1 872
Offshore 3 325 1 828 577 394 857
Short-term
South Africa 8 153 1 133 1 133
Offshore 2 557 1 706 1 706

Total 17 227 7 710 2 839 1 418 724 2 729



In the case of IFRS2, the requirement is to
expense share options granted after
7 November 2002 over the vesting period
of the options. The group has made two
option grants in the period since this
date as follows:

Option grant 1 April 26 May
date 2003 2004 

Strike price (R) 47.50 67.80

Expiry date 1 April 26 May
2013 2010

Number of 
options 2 148 900 2 205 200

The options vest one third after three
years from the date of grant, a further
one third after four years and the final
third after five years. Using preliminary
assumptions of a Barloworld share price
volatility of 35%, prevailing risk free
interest rates and dividend yields on the
grant dates and employee turnover rates
of 2% – 5%, it is estimated that the fair
value of the options is between
R18 and R26 per share. Based on these
assumptions and the vesting profile
above, the pre-tax expense relating
to share-based payments has been
independently calculated to be
R14 million before taxation in 2004 and
R5 million in 2003.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
The most significant acquisitions during
the year included:
• The remaining 65.3% of Avis not

already owned by the company for
R1 085 million in cash plus the issue of
5 589 763 new Barloworld shares for a
total consideration of R1 479 million.
Avis was consolidated as a 100%
owned subsidiary from 29 March 2004.

• A further 2.2 million shares in PPC for
R324 million, taking our shareholding
to 71.6%.

• A logistics business, ZA Trans, for
R26 million.

• An additional Freightliner dealership,
Texarkana Truck Center for
US$8.2 million (R57 million).

• The Dutch Hyster dealer, Geveke
Intern Transport B.V. for €4.9 million
(R40 million).

• The remaining 50% of two paint
colourant companies, namely
Chemcorp Australia for A$2.4 million
(R11.3 million) and International
Chemical Corporation in South Africa
for R37.4 million.

The following more significant disposals
took place during the year:
• The South African Equipment finance

book was sold in September 2004 for
R1 478 million. An interest was retained
in the profits of the existing book plus
profits arising from future transactions.

• The sale of 75% of PPC’s shareholding in
Afripack Limited to an empowerment
consortium and management.

• Three South African motor dealerships
were disposed of, mainly in terms of
dealer rationalisation programmes
and empowerment initiatives.

• The Henry Cooke paper mill in the
United Kingdom and the Melles Griot
operation in Ely, Cambridgeshire.

POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The group’s retirement benefit funds
comprise a number of defined contribution
funds throughout the world and a small
number of defined benefit funds.

As reported last year the two United
Kingdom defined benefit pension
schemes reflected a combined actuarial
deficit of £52.3 million which reduced
marginally to £50.1 million this year
following the completion of the updated
triennial valuation at the year-end. The
company increased its annual cash
contribution by £2 million in terms of the
actuarial valuation and made a further
£4 million special contribution during
this year.

The provision of R100 million (before
tax), raised in 2002 in respect of the
closure of a South African pension fund,
has been reversed largely as a result of an
improved return on fund assets
eliminating the actuarial deficit.

RISK FINANCING
Barloworld, as a global company, has for
many years insured some of its risks in a
captive insurance company, registered in
the Isle of Man. This has enabled the
group to reduce insurance costs by

pooling global risks across territories and
gaining access to reinsurance markets
where lower premiums are attainable.

In the recent past, the global insurance
market has sought substantially higher
premiums and reduced cover in selected
risks. Pursuant to this, the company
reviewed its insurance arrangements and
resolved to both insure more risks and
take a greater proportion of existing
risks, through its captive and to transfer
selected catastrophe risks to the
traditional insurance market. At the end
of 2003, the company received the
necessary regulatory approvals to
increase the captive’s share capital by
R150 million over three years in order to
increase its capacity to insure more risks.
The first tranche of R50 million was
transferred in the current financial year.

It is anticipated that this change in
strategy will have a favourable impact on
the future cost of risk financing.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
5 589 763 shares were issued as part of
the consideration to fund the acquisition
of Avis Southern Africa Limited. A further
440 473 shares were issued to satisfy the
requirements of the company’s share
option scheme and 1 431 918 shares were
issued arising from the final conversion
of the company’s US$75 million
convertible bond which matured on
19 September 2004.

In terms of the acquisition of Avis
Southern Africa Limited, the Avis Share
Purchase Trust became entitled to and
received 444 000 Barloworld shares.
These shares were disposed of by the
Trust and were utilised in part settlement
of the convertible bond.

The weighted average number of shares
in issue for the year was 199 374 681
which was marginally higher than the
prior year at 196 027 500.

CB Thomson
Finance Director
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Revenue Segment result Net operating
Year ended Year ended assets

30 Sept 30 Sept 30 Sept
R million 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

– Europe 5 117 5 383 474 512 1 925 1 887
– Southern Africa 4 939 5 318 406 237 1 830 1 506

Trading 10 056 10 701 880 749 3 755 3 393

– Southern Africa 180 207 28 43 1 375

Leasing 180 207 28 43 1 375

Total trading 
and leasing 10 236 10 908 908 792 3 755 4 768

Share of associate 
income 3

Our business is built on Caterpillar

Our 77 years dealer relationship with

Caterpillar Inc. is a cornerstone of our

VBM pyramid. This is best measured by

the US$801 million, an increase of 30%,

that we purchased in Caterpillar products

this year. Our longstanding partnership

with Caterpillar ensures that we are able

to supply our customers with leading-

edge technology products and solutions

that operate most cost effectively. One

hundred years ago the founders of

Caterpillar introduced the first track-type

tractor to the industry. This innovation

continues today and through technology

investment, Caterpillar is leading in

providing solutions to environmentally

unfriendly emissions. Through ACERT

engine technology, in which Caterpillar

Inc. have invested over US$500 million,

we can provide our customers with

products that meet the most stringent

emission standards both today and

tomorrow.

Internally we are using technology to

develop world class call centres that

allow us to better manage and control

our field service technicians to support

our customers.
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LEADERSHIP TEAM
Lester Day (58), CA(SA), Chief Executive Officer. 31

SOUTHERN AFRICA
Peter Bulterman (48), HND Mech Eng, Chief Operating Officer. 29
Kenny Gaynor (46), CA(SA), Elec Eng, Group Financial Director. 12
Chris Gibb (55), Managing Director – Mining. 34
Jackie le Roux (47), BCom, Human Resources Director. 11
Charles Nell (47), MBA, Chief Information Officer. 24
Geoff Tucker (53), CA(Zim), Managing Director – Handling, Agriculture and Energy. 23
Rodney Wainwright (53), HND Mech Eng, Managing Director – Construction. 35

SPAIN AND PORTUGAL
Santiago Salazar Coronado (53), BCom, General Director, Iberia. 28
Alberto Garcia Perea (53), Degree in Law, Human Resources Director, Spain. 32
Graeme Lewis (44), MA (Cantab), ACA, Financial Director, Spain and Portugal. 9
Alfonso Moraga (64), Business Admin, Development Director, Spain. 50
Fernando Pastor (63), Degree in Law and Politics, Power Systems Director, Spain. 37
Guillermo Romero (63), Degree in Law, Machine Sales and Marketing Director. Spain. 34
Viktor Salzmann (58), After Sales and Information Systems Director, Spain. 35
Fabriciano Velasco (62), Industrial Eng, Materials Handling Sales Director, Spain. 37

Note: The first figure after each name (in brackets) is their age at date of publication of this report.
The second figure in blue is the number of years’ service they have with Barloworld or businesses
we have acquired.

SOUTHERN AFRICA
– South Africa
– Botswana
– Namibia
– Zambia
– Angola
– Malawi
– Mozambique

IBERIA
– Spain
– Portugal

RUSSIA (JOINT VENTURE)
– Siberia

BARLOWORLD EQUIPMENT



During the course of the last year we

formed an integrated executive team

to manage both our European and

southern African businesses. It is focused

on sharing resources and best practices

to deliver more cost-effective solutions to

our customers across a broad geographic

footprint.

Europe: Spain focuses on operations

restructure

The macro economic and political

situation in Iberia has seen significant

change in the period. The 11 March 2004

Madrid train bombings were followed by

a change in government in Spain. The

new government has maintained the

previous government’s economic policy.

Economic growth, driven by construction,

remains higher than the European

average. In Portugal, the Prime Minister

changed following the incumbent’s

appointment as president of the European

Commission. This created some instability

but the construction market there has

now begun to recover.

Our Iberian business continued to

produce excellent results. Our focus,

driven by VBM, on efficient systems and

processes ensured that our operating

margins were maintained.

Our activities in the core Caterpillar

machine business were marked by fierce

competition and price pressure from the

weak US dollar against the euro. We

maintained our success by careful market

segmentation and customer focus. We

also benefited from synergies arising

from a holistic business-wide approach to

inventory management in Spain and

Portugal.

Total unit demand was in line with last

year and we gained market share. Our

Power Systems business continued to

grow and was backed by our first class

support capabilities.

The expansion of our Barloworld MERA

Rental Store business, already the market

leader in Madrid, is accelerating. Nine

new depots were opened across Spain.

Our machines and engines rental

business grew by 15%, compared with

18% for the whole rental business. These

developments are a key element of our

strategic programme to diversify revenue

streams and grow a rental business with

more attractive margins. The short-term

rental of smaller items of equipment to

the building contracting sector remains

an area of healthy growth, due to

the continuing boom in property

development.

We have opened a permanent display of

used machines and believe it will help

increase our exposure in this sector.

A dedicated workshop for used machines

is being constructed in Arganda and will

begin operations in 2005. It will reduce

repair and preparation times.

Our Power Systems business in Caterpillar

diesel and gas engines had an excellent

year in terms of both revenue and

margins. We continue to increase market

share in key market segments such as

marine pleasure craft, fishing, ocean

going vessels, (especially fast-moving

ferries and the like), tug boats,

uninterruptible power supply and

emergency generator sets. Our ability to

provide customised solutions and strong

after-sales service support are important

contributors to our success. We ended

the year as the second largest Caterpillar

marine dealer world-wide and number
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one dealer in Electric Power Generation

in Europe.

The market for marine diesel engines

remains strong and we sold €10 million

of large MAK units. We remain one of

the more active dealers in the industrial

engine market segment, primarily in

locomotive engines. During the year we

were appointed Technical Partner for the

Caterpillar World Marine Excellence

Centre in recognition of our expertise

and market leadership in this area.

Our materials handling business receives

excellent support from Caterpillar as we

strive to grow share in this competitive

market. We are expanding our offerings

to customers in Spain and Portugal with

ATLET, a leading brand in the growing

warehousing industry segment.

Finaltair Barloworld, our biomass joint

venture, completed the construction of

the power plant in Valencia and will

begin operating in 2005. This plant,

which meets the demand for renewable

energy technology, burns waste wood

and operates in a combined cycle with a

CAT 3616 natural gas generator set and a

steam turbine.

In order to achieve critical mass in specific

areas and create added value for

customers, we have embarked on a

programme to restructure our branch

network in Spain. This includes the

creation of a new marketing department,

with a customer call centre to handle

issues of customer relations and an

outbound call centre for telesales to

small businesses who generally require

small equipment.



In other initiatives to create value for our

customers, we have segmented our

customer base and appointed dedicated

specialist marketing teams to look after

each segments needs.

Associated with these developments, and

in accordance with the Barloworld

Employee Value Creation system, we have

intensified our training activities. These

have focussed on the use of the SAP ERP

information technology system and on

developing the skills of mechanics.

Our servicing expertise and activities have

been important factors in the growth of

our company over the years. We are

implementing Repair Process Integration

at all branches and have established a

dedicated hydraulic repair centre at

Arganda outside Madrid. It is already the

largest consumer of “classic” Caterpillar

parts in Europe. Our customer satisfaction

surveys confirm that these developments

have been welcomed by our customers.

Branches engaged in servicing activities

are also engaged in a push for

contamination control, with a Caterpillar

five-star quality rating being the target.

In Portugal we have established after-

sales services for both Caterpillar and

Mitsubishi lift trucks to add value for

customers in this growth area of our

business.

Also in Portugal, we have entered a Smart

Partnership with Norinter in respect of

machines. The partnership has already

completed a major turnkey power project

in the Azores.

Siberia increases revenue by 50%

Our Siberian operation produced another

satisfying and profitable result, with

revenues rising to US$31 million from

US$20 million in 2003. We have seen

excellent repeat business from our mining

customers and we have succeeded in

breaking into the highly competitive

construction and power systems markets.

We continue to build strong customer

relations, which will significantly

influence our future growth.

In September we announced a Smart

Partnership with Wagner International

of Denver, Colorado in forming

Vostochnaya Technica, which gives us a

geographic Caterpillar dealership

footprint in Russia that is larger than the

USA. The expanded territory has

enormous potential for development

and we look forward to building a

company with the potential to be a

US$100 million revenue business in 2006.

Southern Africa: Profitability increases

despite strong rand

Revenue from our southern African

operations declined by 7% in an

environment where the currency

strengthened significantly and market

prices declined.

Our profitability increased through

improved cost controls and a favourable

outcome from managing various

financial instruments, resulting in a

pleasing operating margin of 10.7%.

We continued to implement our strategy

of delivering total solutions through

Smart Partnerships with our customers.

Growth in underground mining

While mining revenue declined in the

face of the deferral of a number of new

mining projects dictated largely by the

stronger rand, underground mining

grew steadily to form an increasingly

important part of our operations.

Caterpillar underground haulers and

loaders continued to be well received by

the southern African underground

mining industry and Barloworld

Equipment is now the largest supplier of

underground Caterpillar equipment in

the world.

Maintenance and Repair Contracts

(MARCs) with both opencast and

underground mines increased. This is

further testimony of our ability to

develop and sustain long-term Smart

Partnerships with customers.

The MARC agreements at Anglo

American Corporation’s Skorpion Zinc

Mine and Namdeb Diamond

Corporation’s Daberas mine on the

Orange River in Namibia ran smoothly

and Debswana continued to expand its

CAT 793C and 789C off-highway truck

fleets, supported by MARCs at Jwaneng

and Orapa.

Our longstanding MARC partnership

with de Beers at Venetia Mine is also

developing as we work to meet Venetia’s

growth plans. These have included a

further purchase of 789C trucks to

augment the existing fleet.

KCM in Zambia placed a major truck and

support equipment order with us,

together with a MARC agreement.
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New business in Namibia included

Namdeb’s Pocket Beaches operation, an

extensive rental agreement for mining

equipment and a large equipment order

delivered to Anglogold’s Navachab mine

at Karibib.

Activity in Northern Cape province was

brisk, with various mines and contractors

taking delivery of large wheel loaders,

bulldozers and trucks. Samancor’s

Wessels Mine increased its MARC-

supported underground fleet with more

AD30 haulers and CAT bulldozers

customised for underground use. Several

coal mines in Mpumalanga placed repeat

business with us and Ingersoll-Rand’s

new Pit Viper range of drill rigs has been

received with enthusiasm.

Caterpillar concluded a global mining

alliance with BHP Billiton and we are

currently involved in its local

implementation in the region.

In the mining sector we remain market

leaders in the application of

technological innovation. We regard

technology as crucial to the future of

southern African mining, together with

the strong focus on safety and the

constant drive for the lowest cost per ton

in the industry. Barloworld Optron

Technologies is a joint venture between

Barloworld Equipment and Astrata

(formerly Optron) which supplies

Caterpillar information technology

products to the industry. It has several

significant contracts in progress on

diamond, coal and base metals mines.

Although Caterpillar has ceased

production of its 5000 series mining

shovels, we continue field support for

working machines providing parts and

dedicated service resources.

While Caterpillar Inc. and Terex

Corporation have negotiated an

agreement that provides for designated

Caterpillar dealers to distribute Terex/

O&K mining shovels and hydraulic

excavators, local negotiations have yet

to start.

Our integrated total solutions approach

gains ground in construction sector

Acceptance of our integrated approach

to supplying new, used and rental

equipment in the construction sector

helped us regain our position as market

leader. We have achieved this by

providing our customers with equipment

solutions that give them the lowest unit

cost of production.

Industry growth has been fuelled by the

South African government’s strategy to

back emerging contractors and the

resulting spend on smaller projects such

as local roads and infrastructure

development.

Increased construction activity resulted in

significantly higher delivery volumes in

some months, during which the now fully

operational SAP system played a key role

in the efficiency of the total machine

supply chain.

Significant developments during the year

included the signing of a construction

MARC agreement with BHP Billiton’s

Tubatse Ferrochrome involving a fleet of

specially modified CAT 730 articulated

trucks and the successful completion of a

total solutions project at the Nqura

(Coega) deepwater port at Port Elizabeth.

The new generation Caterpillar 725, 730

and 740 ATs have become well accepted

in the local market and are in

exceptionally strong demand for road

building and mining applications.

The range of Caterpillar compact

machines which was introduced into

the South African market during the

same period has also met with strong

interest and orders are expected to

remain buoyant.

Our used equipment joint venture

delivered 460 used Caterpillar machines

to customers during the year, further

growing the active Caterpillar machine

population in southern Africa.

Our Barloworld Equipment Cat Rental

Store experienced increased activity

levels but was challenged by the strong

rand and bad debts. Demand remains

strong and there are significant

opportunities to grow the business.

Action taken during the year to reduce

the cost of operations and to improve

asset management has assisted in

minimising start-up costs.

Another record year for Barloworld

Handling in southern Africa

Barloworld Equipment Handling

celebrated its 75th anniversary as a

Hyster dealer by producing a second
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record year in a row. Today 60% of

Handling’s new machine business

comprises long-term rentals.

The lift truck market in South Africa, grew

by 26% during 2004 as a result of the

falling interest rates and the rand-induced

decline in the price of forklifts. The

Handling business unit’s ability to provide

the market with workable solutions was

rewarded with strong increases in market

share.

This unit remains focused on delivering

premium performance and maintaining

its world class status and is concentrating

on improving fleet management

solutions for customers. Our Hyster

warehousing range is now fully accepted

in the local market and is expected to

continue  gaining market-share in 2005.

Agriculture expands horizons

Barloworld Equipment Agriculture has

performed well, increasing market share

in both Massey Ferguson’s tractor range

and CLAAS harvesters. Based on the

success of its current business model, we

plan to become a full range distributor

for all Massey Ferguson and CLAAS

products in 2005.

The key to growth lies in our ability to

build successful dealerships in strategic

locations. In this respect, the appointment

during the last financial year of Afgri

Equipment as dealer for the central and

western Free State has proved highly

successful.

Agricultural products will soon be taking

a higher profile in our African operations

as our rollout of the Agriculture business

unit into Angola, Mozambique, Malawi

and Zambia proceeds.

Energy capitalises on power 

generation demand

Strong demand in Africa for diesel

powered electric power generation for

both prime and standby applications

provided a platform in the Energy

business unit for improved results.

Our Perkins engine business will be

expanding into Angola, Mozambique,

Malawi and Zambia in the coming year in

order to capitalise on the large population

of Perkins powered units throughout

the region.

Consolidation in Zambia and Angola

This financial year has been one of

consolidation in Angola, as this operation

concentrated on maintaining and

growing Smart Partnerships through

improved service delivery. Construction of

a modern facility in Luanda, designed in

expectation of further growth, is nearing

completion. The Zambian operation is

experiencing higher demand for machines

and product support due to the improved

copper price.

Continued expansion of Debswana’s

diamond mines saw consistent

performance in Botswana and mining

industry growth in Namibia resulted in a

pleasing outcome. Both Malawi and

Mozambique have produced similar

results to the previous year.

Barloworld Equipment Finance

An alliance was concluded with

WesBank, a division of FirstRand Bank

Limited, in terms of which Barloworld

sold its equipment finance book to

WesBank and will receive a share of the

profits flowing from both existing

finance contracts and future new

business. This follows the acquisition by

WesBank of Barloworld’s motor vehicle

finance book last year and aligns with

VBM thinking that favours concentrating

on core business.

Investment in SAP positively impacts

bottom line

The further integration of the SAP ERP

system into the business contributed to

our improved result. In its first year of

operation SAP has shown concrete

benefits for staff and customers. A plan

has been put in place to complete the roll

out the system through the equipment

operations.

Black Economic Empowerment (BEE)

We are developing our BEE model in

manageable elements that we plan to

grow into successful long-term business

ventures. The future of the industries we

serve depends on workable broad-based

empowerment solutions and we plan to

play a positive role in the process. Two

major empowerment alliances, in the

company’s Agriculture and Energy

business units, are being planned for

early 2005 and several Smart Partnerships

in the provision and support of

equipment have been established with

BEE companies. Our preferential

procurement programme is well under

way and we are meeting targets in terms

of the DTI’s broad-based BEE model.

Our people are the foundation of our

success

The development of all our people to

improve customer service remains our top

76

OPERATIONAL REVIEW CONTINUED – EQUIPMENT CONTINUED



priority. Several new initiatives were

launched. Among these is the Barloworld

Equipment Operator Academy, a

pioneering training concept to improve

Caterpillar operator efficiency and safety

awareness for both our customers and the

Barloworld Equipment Cat rental store.

An incentive programme introduced for

operators at Debswana’s Jwaneng

diamond mine has paid off handsomely

in terms of operator productivity and

will be extended to other mines over the

next year.

Barloworld Equipment’s pioneering skills

development strategies continued to

assist in raising industry standards. The

new learnership in earthmoving

equipment repair and maintenance

piloted at our Isando facility in

Johannesburg together with the

Manufacturing, Engineering and Related

Industries Sector Education and Training

Authority (MerSETA) has successfully

seen more than 200 learners through its

doors since implementation in 2003.

We continued to assist the Services SETA

in the development of training material

for plant operators and the Construction

Education and Training Authority (CETA)

in formulating national qualifications for

earthmoving equipment operators in the

construction industry.

Our Smart Partnerships, not only with

customers but also with specialist

organisations, help us to develop our staff

to the fullest potential. These include BMC

Theko for individual assessments, the

Gordon Institute of Business Science

(GIBS) for management development, and

Wilson Learning for the development of

customer relationship programmes.

Most important, however, has been the

ongoing commitment by staff at all

levels to our Performance Ownership

Programme. This forms the foundation

for VBM and 6 SIGMA, two philosophies

that are now fundamental to our business

and have been crucial in the positive

achievements of the company in the 2004

financial year.

The year ahead

Due to unprecedented world demand for

earthmoving and allied equipment and

consequent pressure on the manufacture

and shipping of Caterpillar products, lead

times on orders placed on the factories

are currently extended. However we are

confident that Caterpillar will overcome

this challenge and we will  improve

customer deliveries during 2005.

Barloworld Equipment ended 2004 with

a significant order book and high

expectations for further growth. In Spain

the economy is holding steady after the

change of government. Southern Africa

is likely to be buoyed by increased

infrastructure investment leading up to

the 2010 Soccer World Cup. In Siberia we

have significant potential to grow.

Currency stability in South Africa will be

a necessity to ensure we can deliver to

our expectations.
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Revenue Segment result Net operating assets
Year ended 30 Sept Year ended 30 Sept 30 Sept

R million 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

– North America 4 300 3 135 29 10 928 1 112
– Europe 1 888 2 052 74 79 335 320

Trading 6 188 5 187 103 89 1 263 1 432

– North America 99 74 (6) 6 813 633
– Europe 386 383 55 40 1 853 1 637

Leasing 485 457 49 46 2 666 2 270

Total trading 
and leasing 6 673 5 644 152 135 3 929 3 702

Share of 
associate income (1) (3)

BARLOWORLD
HANDLING US

BARLOWORLD
HANDLING EUROPE

BARLOWORLD
TRUCK CENTER

Freightliner dealerships Long-term 
rental solutions

UK
USA

Hyster dealerships

Ditch Witch dealership

The division had a year of mixed results,

experiencing mild growth in Europe, but

a stronger momentum in the USA. The

combination of a weakened dollar and

strengthening rand had an adverse

impact on the translated result in rand

terms.

European handling operations steady

Whilst the UK economy showed some

strengthening, lift truck market

deliveries were only 4% better. Our

deliveries grew 5.2% from 3 370 to

3 544 including the new territory in

Holland. During the year we lost some

ground in market share on the ageing

range of counter-balance trucks, 0.3%

down. 2005 will see the launch of the

new range, which will strengthen our

position. Further progress was made in

the warehouse market and we saw our

share increase to 5.8%.

In the logistics and distribution industries

we have continued to expand and

strengthen our business relationships

with key customers, including Royal Mail,

MFI Howden, Focus and Wolsely, whilst

also developing further value in

partnerships with major contract
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customers such as the UK Ministry of

Defence, Port of Tilbury and Coca-Cola.

We continue to contract 75% of our new

business each year in the form of long-

term rental agreements. This ensures

defined sustainable income streams

based on providing innovative, flexible

materials handling solutions.

In line with the static machine activity

and low level of inflation, our after

market revenues before the inclusion of

Holland remained in line with 2003. In

September 2004 we announced plans to

restructure our branch and field service

operations in the first half of the new

financial year. This will provide a

significant value add to our customer

base and reduce operating costs. The

change will introduce new mobile

technology enabling field service

technicians to order directly on-site all

parts and transact other requirements

using our central SAP technology base.

In Europe, our Belgium operations

experienced another difficult year in

tough trading conditions, with continuing

pressure on after sales margins.

The acquisition of Geveke in Holland –

renamed Barloworld Intern Transport in

October 2003 has proceeded according

to plan. During the year a number of

restructuring activities took place and

three small business sites were

consolidated into a single new facility in

Vianen, south of Amsterdam. In 2005 we

plan to take advantage of the synergies

and opportunities that exist between the

Dutch and Belgian operations.

Barloworld Vacuum Technology has

continued to benefit from last year’s cost

saving actions and has improved results

in 2004.

The open order book carried forward to

2005 was 1 530 units, up 59% on 2004.

Handling USA sees strong growth off

improved activity levels

The North American economy

strengthened during the year and the

southeastern US market for lift trucks

grew from 27 015 to 31 145 units.

Barloworld delivered 3 665 new units in

2004, up from 3 457, for a market share

of approximately 12%. Counter-balance

trucks, which constitute 65% of the

market, provided 15% market share

position. Warehouse deliveries grew by

9% providing a market share of 6.5%. 

Several new customer agreements were

signed with accounts including CSX,

Hyundai Motors, and Mohawk Carpet.

Barloworld customer account teams

continued to grow business with existing

customers such as Weyerhaeuser, TNT

Logistics, Builders FirstSource, and Tractor

Supply. The Government Services

Administration (GSA) account accounted

for over 300 trucks and additional

resources were devoted to developing

aftermarket business from the numerous

military and government facilities

located across the southeast.

The Pinnacle Used Equipment program

did not achieve its aggressive retail

objective, but did show good
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improvement over past years by moving

1 573 used trucks in the marketplace, up

from 1 162 in 2004. This helped to create

additional aftermarket revenue.

The Logistics Support Centre in Atlanta

continued to rationalise parts inventories

to achieve lower working capital levels by

eliminating slow moving inventory in

the branches. 

Lower new equipment inventories were

offset by an increase in short-term rental

assets. 

Branch rental revenues typically increased

by 21% over the prior year. 

Aftermarket revenues in the branches

also recovered, growing 10% from

US$107 million to US$118 million with the

number of service technicians increasing

from 476 to 510.

In 2005, Hyster will launch the first model

of its new 1 – 8 ton range of internal

combustion counterbalance trucks. This

US$130 million investment by our Hyster

principal, will enhance our value selling

approach by offering customer solutions

based on lower cost of operation, easier

serviceability, productivity gains, and

superior ergonomics. Durability and

reliability of the new series should

improve customer uptime and

satisfaction.

Employee Value Creation continues as we

invest in career learning and growth.

Technicians are being equipped with



Revenue grew by 112% to US$408 million.

This was brought about by an increase

in new units sold from 1 614 to 3 948,

up 145%. Class 8 heavy duty units

dominated, growing to 3 277 but

Class 5 – 7 medium units were also strong,

growing 77% to 467. The market

was dominated by large corporate

fleets and consequent lower margins.

Some of the more significant deals were:

USA Truck, Inc. 670 units

PAM Transportation 

Services, Inc. 416 units

Maverick 

Transportation, Inc. 530 units

Mail Contractors of 

America, Inc., 410 units

Continental Express Inc. 175 units

Paschall Truck Lines, Inc. 150 units

Ozark Motor Lines, Inc. 125 units

During the year there was a mutually

agreed termination of the SelecTruck

used vehicle joint venture arrangement

with Freightliner as a result of differing

trading objectives. Our direct used truck

performance reflected an increase in

units sold from 858 to 1 139, an increase

of 33%. Margins improved, but not to

desired levels. Further fallout in the

Owner-Operator market resulted in some

over valued high mileage repossessions

and a consequent depression of margins.

Aftermarket revenues grew by 69% to

US$98 million, aided by the new

acquisitions. Parts margins showed an

improvement over last year. The revenue

laptop computers and trained to more

efficiently diagnose, repair, and maintain

lift trucks in the field. The senior

management team is emphasising

management development succession

planning and sales force training.

Regular employee PIT (Performance

Improvement Team) STOP meetings are

under way to enhance communication

and share successes and ideas on

improvements for the future.

The open order book carried forward to

2005 was 1 140 units, up 60% on 2004.

Ditch Witch

The Ditch Witch business came back

strongly in 2004, with revenue growth of

27%. Overall profit margins were slightly

higher than prior years and expenses

were lower. The branch moved into a new

25 000 square foot facility in Atlanta.

The outlook for the trencher market

appears positive over the next three

years. Residential and construction

spending forecasts are favourable.

Water and gas utility infrastructure

repairs will also provide market growth

opportunities.

The dealership received several sales

and aftermarket awards from the

manufacturer, Charles Machine Works, as

one of the top global dealers in the Ditch

Witch network.

The business continues to hold a

dominant 50% plus market share position

against its two main competitors.

Barloworld Truck Center: a significant 

up-turn in the trucking industry

The initial signs of a strengthening US

economy saw an increased level of

freight movement, and with it a

significant up-turn in the heavy trucking

industry. 69% of all freight moved in the

US is by road.

After a quiet 2003, brought about by the

poor economy and the effect of the 2002

“pre-buy” in advance of the more

stringent engine emission regulations,

demand increased strongly in 2004, rising

during the first eight months by 43% to

125 327 units in the heavy duty Class 8

trucks and by 31% to 96 384 in medium

duty Class 5 – 7 trucks. This has resulted in

Freightliner production schedules being

full through to February 2005.

Our business experienced a mixed year.

Overall there was progress off the low

base of the previous year. The Northwest

Arkansas business acquired midway

through last year performed well, as did

the newly acquired (October 2003)

Texarkana business, adding to the after

sales and new/used units sales, respectively.

The introduction of the SAP operating

system in our Memphis and Little Rock

divisions late in the 2003 financial year

was disruptive, and saw additional costs

in the first half of the year, but has

now settled in. The conversion of the

Northwest Arkansas business went

smoothly and the Texarkana conversion

will take place in November 2004.
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growth was seen primarily in our Parts

and Service operations. The salvage

operations continue to gain momentum.

We appointed a Group Parts Inventory

Controller and established a Central Parts

Inventory store with the primary goal of

reducing obsolescence and avoiding

duplication of stocking across the group.

We expect to see a marked reduction in

inventory holding in 2005.

During the year, once off costs amounting

to US$3.2 million were incurred in the

system implementation, used equipment

restructure, and other organisational

changes, as well as an actuarial governed

adjustment to the Workers Compensation

provision account.

The open order book carry forward to 2005

was 2 616 new trucks, 54% up on 2004.

Financial services – a changing structure

During the year it was decided to exit the

pure customer financing business and

focus on long-term rentals with

maintenance.

In the Freightliner business, new

customer finance activities ceased during

the second half of the year, favouring

financing through DaimlerChrysler

Finance and other established finance

houses. The existing book will be

managed out over the next twenty-four

to thirty months.

The USA Handling business has a mix of

long-term rental and pure customer

finance. Long-term rental activity will

continue uninterrupted whilst we have

sought to strengthen ties with Hyster

Finance to cater for customers direct

financing needs.

The UK business is largely long-term

rental and is not affected materially, and

in the Dutch and Belgian businesses there

is no material impact.

Activities during the year saw a high level

of repossessions in Freightliner where

owner/operators continue to experience

difficulties. This resulted in a US$3.5 million

write down on the value of repossessed

stock.

In Handling, the UK fleet grew to almost

16 000 units with a new business written

value of £36 million (2003: £46 million),

whilst in the USA, the fleet has grown to

over 4 000 units, and new business

written grew to US$50 million, up 28%.

The Handling arm of the business

continued to provide strong support to

our trading operations in both the UK

and USA.

Manpower

Group manpower grew 10.5% from 3 199

to 3 534. This was due to the acquisition

of Geveke in Holland (151 people) and

Texarkana in the USA (200 people). The

Human Resource function was upgraded

and significantly strengthened during the

year, with a view to building our

intellectual capital base for the future.
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The Barloworld standard for Employee

Valuation Creation was adopted and will

be rolled out across all divisions during

2005.

2005 prospects

All of our operations start the year off a

stronger base with increased outstanding

order books. Economic conditions in each of

our territories are expected to be stable to

better over the period, and having taken

further steps to consolidate Freightliner, we

expect another strong year.



AVIS RENT-A-CAR
AVIS FLEET 
SERVICES

BARLOWORLD MOTOR

– Southern Africa
– Southern Africa
– Scandinavia

MOTOR 
FRANCHISES

– Southern Africa
– Australia

OTHER 
BUSINESSES

– Barloworld 
Coachworks

– Subaru SA

Structural overview

The past year has been a significant one

for Barloworld Motor with considerable

gains being made in our strategic pursuit

of transforming the division from a

vehicle retail and service operation into a

customer-focused vehicle solutions

provider. We have made good progress in

the alignment of our dealership network

to support our strategy of “Fewer,

Bigger, Better” while the securing of full

ownership of Avis Southern Africa

Limited, as from the end of March 2004,

provides us with enormous opportunities

to expand our offering to our customers

by providing a range of motor vehicle

transport and mobility solutions and to

realise significant synergistic benefits.
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Revenue Segment result Net operating assets
Year ended 30 Sept Year ended 30 Sept 30 Sept

R million 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

– Southern Africa 7 501 6 954 100 65 561 995
– Australia 1 331 1 393 (2) 17 337 379

Trading 8 832 8 347 98 82 898 1 374

– Southern Africa 295 75 51 10 1 190 8

Leasing 295 75 51 10 1 190 8

– Southern Africa 369 59 1 956
– Europe 246 40 1 119

Car rental 615 99 3 075

Total trading, 
leasing and 
car rental 9 742 8 422 248 92 5 163 1 382

Share of 
associate income 59 76

LEADERSHIP TEAM
Martin Laubscher (44), BAcc, BCompt (Hons), CTA, MCom Bus. Management, Chief
Executive Officer. 17
Grenville Wilson (50), CA(SA), Chief Operating Officer. 23
Allan Carter (51), Director, Other Businesses. 24
Grahame Cilliers (48), BAcc, CA(SA), Managing Director, Avis Rent-A-Car Scandinavia. 6
Andrew Langham (43), BCom (Hons: Fin Man), CA(SA), Group Financial Director. 6
Pat O’Brien (57), Director Zeda and Car Mall. 31
Keith Rankin (34), BCom (Hons), Managing Director Avis Rent-A-Car Southern Africa. 6
Laurence Savage (40), MBA, Managing Director, Avis Fleet Services. 5
Bob Smith (56), BEcon, CA(SA), Managing Director, Motor Franchises: 
Southern Africa. 11
Andrew Weight (58), CPA, FAICD, FCIS, Chief Executive Officer, Australia. 19
Christopher Whitaker (47), BCom, LLB, Director Strategy. 16

Note: The first figure after each name (in brackets) is their age at date of publication of this report.
The second figure in blue is the number of years’ service they have with Barloworld or businesses
we have acquired.
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The Barloworld Motor division has been

structured into six business units, each

headed by a Managing Director, and

guided by a head-office team responsible

for strategy, human resources, information

systems, operational guidance and

financial consolidation. The six business

units are:

• Avis Rent-A-Car Southern Africa –

which operates short-term car rental

from over 110 customer service

centres throughout southern Africa,

and is focused on the tourism,

corporate and replacement market

segments. A peak fleet of some 

13 000 vehicles is operated. The

operations in South Africa, Botswana,

Mozambique, Namibia, Swaziland

and Zambia are owned, while the

balance of the operations are sub-

licensed. Avis Point-to-Point is a

chauffeur-driven inner-city transfer

service. Avis Van Rental operates a

sub-licensee network in South Africa.

Zeda Car Sales disposes of ex-rental

vehicles into the trade and to retail

customers. Sizwe Car Rental is 49%

owned and 51% owned by Black

Economic Empowerment interests.

• Avis Rent-A-Car Scandinavia – which

operates short-term car rental from

more than 250 customer service

centres in Norway and Sweden. Both

countries operate under the Avis

brand, while the Budget brand is also

operated in Norway. Most of the

service centres at the major airports

and down-town locations are owned

while due to geographical issues there

is also an extensive network of sub-

licensees. A peak fleet of some 6 000

vehicles is operated by owned

operations. Vehicles are purchased

with guaranteed buy-backs and

therefore we do not operate used car

sales outlets.

• Avis Fleet Services – which provides

long-term rental and value added

services to operators of passenger and

commercial vehicles. The services are:

administration of vehicle licensing,

maintenance and fuel costs; the

acceptance of maintenance and

residual value risks; and vehicle

sourcing and disposal services. The

operations in Botswana, Mozambique

and Namibia are wholly owned while

the South African operation is owned

in partnership with WesBank, a

division of the FirstRand banking

group. BEE interests are significantly

involved in the South African

subsidiaries of Vuswa and Auto Fleet

Services – each of which specialise on

specific markets.

• Motor Franchises Southern Africa –

which operates 51 dealership outlets

in South Africa, Botswana and

Namibia. The dealerships focus on

supplying parts and the servicing and

retailing of new and used vehicles,

most of which are passenger and

light commercial vehicles. Brands

represented are: Alfa, Audi, BMW,

Chevrolet, Chrysler, Fiat, Freightliner,

Ford, Isuzu, Jaguar, Jeep, Land Rover,

Lexus, Mazda, Mercedes-Benz, Mini,

Mitsubishi, New Holland, Nissan,

Opel, Smart, Subaru, Suzuki, Toyota,

Volvo, Volkswagen.

• Motor Franchises Australia – which

operates 7 dealership outlets in
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Sydney and Melbourne focusing on

parts supply and the servicing and

retailing of new and used vehicles in

the passenger and light commercial

segments. Brands represented are:

Mercedes-Benz, Holden and

Volkswagen.

• Other Businesses – Subaru Southern

Africa is the sole importer and

distributor of Subaru vehicles for

southern Africa. A dealership

network operates across all major

South African metropolitan centres.

Barloworld Coachworks operates

eight repair centres in Cape Town,

Durban, Johannesburg and Pretoria.

The structure and status of the

management teams in the operations have

been largely unaffected by the purchase

of Avis. The operational management

teams of all our southern African

operations are now located together.

As reported previously, changing

manufacturer representation strategies

and support of Black Economic

Empowerment have resulted in a revision

of our BMW and DaimlerChrysler

dealership structure. BMW South Africa

restricts any dealer or dealer group to a

maximum share of 10% of its vehicle

sales and we have used this approach as

an opportunity to facilitate Black

Economic Empowerment investment into

our BMW dealerships. Club Motors in

Bruma, Johannesburg was sold in our

previous financial year. We concluded the

sale of Club Motors in Selby,

Johannesburg in November 2003. In

December 2003 we sold Auto Atlantic in



Claremont, Cape Town into a joint

venture in which we will hold 49% until

the end of November 2006.

During the 2003 financial year we

concluded the formation of the

empowerment joint venture for

DaimlerChrysler operations covering the

greater Durban metro area in KwaZulu-

Natal. Together with our partner Yunus

Akoo, owner of Durban South Motors,

we each have a 50% stake in the

new company that commenced trading

in April 2003 as NMI Durban South

Motors. This operation performed

extremely well for the year under review

and made a strong contribution to

profits as an associate. In January 2004

we finalised another BEE joint venture,

Garden City Motors (Pty) Limited for

our DaimlerChrysler operations in

Pietermaritzburg in which we hold a

65% stake.

Motor Franchises Southern Africa –

gaining market share

The dealership network (including

associate operations) ended the year on a

positive note with sales of new units

increasing by 23.7% to 31 962 units, total

used sales up by 14.3% to 28 386 units

(15 949 units retail) and service hours up

by 9.4% to 1 028 985 hours. The financial

year started slowly with consumers

cautious of extending their debt levels

after a period of high interest rates. This

resulted in an overstocked industry, at

the same time at which new vehicle price

inflation reduced despite new model

introductions, and manufacturers

continued to tighten dealership margins

– conditions which resulted in declining

realisations on used units. Used car

market volumes continue to benefit from

easier consumer financing, however

improved affordability of new cars is

weighing on margins in the used market.

As the year progressed, lower interest

rates and a firm currency led to

improved local confidence levels in South

Africa, and strong new unit sales. The

industry now appears set for a record

sales performance of new unit sales in

the 2004 calendar year.

During our financial year the southern

African new unit market was 421 875

units of which 83.0% were dealer sales.

Our share of the dealer market was 9.1%

(2003: 8.9%).

The South African operations including

associates ended the year with improved

results whilst those in Namibia and

Botswana were disappointing despite

increasing their market share by 0.4%

and 5.5% respectively. In Namibia the

BMW dealership suffered under tough

trading conditions. However, consolidated

premises and new models should ensure

a much improved performance in the

year ahead. In Botswana, where we

represent Audi, Volkswagen, Ford,

Mazda, Volvo and Jaguar, our new

dealership campus took longer than

anticipated to settle into a trading

pattern.

In accordance with our dealership

strategy of “Fewer, Bigger, Better” we

continued to make substantial

investments in well located, world-class

facilities. Major new or renovated

facilities were completed at Club

Motors Namibia, Club Motors Randburg,

Barons Claremont, Toyota Middelburg,

Toyota Sandton, Subaru South Africa,

Toyota Witbank, Volvo/Land Rover

Witbank, Barons Volksway and Garden

City Motors, while building operations

were commenced at the Umhlanga

Brand Campus and the Riverhorse Valley

facility in the greater Durban area. Our

General Motors dealership in Table View,

Cape Town was sold in July 2004.

The major operational strategic focus

areas in the year ahead include:

• Improved customer service

• Increasing our market share

• Sustained focus on the cost base of

our operations

• Improving the productivity of our

people

• Employee Value Creation

Motor Franchises Australia – 

building and renovation

Barloworld Motor in Australia reported

an unsatisfactory financial result despite

a record market for new vehicles in the

country driven by growth in the SUV

(Sport Utility Vehicle) market. Our

dealership network ended the year with

new sales decreasing by 2.0% to 4 628

units, total used sales down by 3.1% to 

4 414 units (2 007 units retail) and service

hours up by 8.0% to 112 653 hours.

Material events within our dealership

network during the year under review

were:

• the settling down of operational

efficiencies within our flagship
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location in Melbourne for Barloworld

Holden and Volkswagen

• the allocation in August 2004 of the

franchise for passenger vehicles in

addition to the Volkswagen light

commercial franchise for our Mascot

operation in Sydney

• also in August, the allocation of the

Volkswagen passenger franchise in

the eastern suburbs of Sydney,

previously held by Inchcape

• the commencement of a major

renovation and expansion of our

Ferntree Gulley Holden operation in

Melbourne.

Last year we referred to the conclusion of

negotiations with our principal to

relinquish our 49% shareholding in

Mercedes-Benz of Melbourne towards

the end of 2004. DaimlerChrysler have

been delayed in completing their new

premises and we therefore anticipate

continuing as a 49% shareholder until

end September 2005.

In the year ahead the key focus within our

Australian operations will be on

increasing our sales of product and

service, improving operational efficiencies

together with the containment of costs,

and finding new premises for our

Mercedes-Benz dealerships.

Other businesses

The Barloworld Coachworks operations

traded profitably and had an eventful

year with the development of a new

BMW repair centre in Randburg.

Revenues increased by 7.9% and parts to

the value of R25 million were supplied by

Barloworld dealerships. Our coachworks

strategy is to provide a new standard of

customer service in the industry, provide

Avis operations with minimum vehicle

down-time, and provide synergistic

benefits to the parts departments of our

dealerships.

The Subaru distributorship increased

sales by 26% to 985 units. Volume

increases were achieved ahead of the

industry as currency stability enabled

competitive product pricing. Volume

increases resulted in efficiencies, the

strong rand contributed to improved

margins and consequently profitability of

this operation increased significantly. The

strategy of our distributorship over the

next year is to strengthen the capacity of

our dealership network in order to

support substantially improved unit sales.

Barloworld Truck Hire, previously

reported on under this section, has been

incorporated into the Avis operations.

Avis – a good result in the first period

of full ownership

Avis had a sound operational

performance over the past six months

and enjoyed a profitability growth

over the comparable period in 2003.

Consequent to the acquisition of Avis by

Barloworld, certain financial restructuring

has occurred, including the re-gearing of

the business units, making it not possible

to compare the reported results under

Barloworld’s ownership with Avis’s

historically reported results.

Avis Rent-A-Car Southern Africa

produced good profitability growth after

the disappointing performance in the

comparable six month period in 2003.

Significantly lower vehicle holding costs

and operating efficiencies were the

main contributors to the improved

profitability. Vehicle holding costs

benefited from lower funding costs

combined with low inflation on new

vehicles and supported by a quiet but

consistent used car market.

In respect of the 12 month period ended

September 2004, overall vehicle

utilisation improved by 1% and people

productivity by 5%, while the pricing per

rental day improved by 6%. Rental

volumes grew by 2% to 3.25 million

rental days off a 5% increase in rental

transactions. Strong growth was

achieved in rental volumes in the local

leisure and replacement segments, while

the corporate segment showed little

growth, and the international segment

was down by more than 20% as a result

of the strong South African currency’s

effect on tourism to southern Africa.

Market share of rental days in the region

was maintained at 40%.

Our Scandinavian Rent-A-Car operations

grew rental days by 12%. Avis Rent-A-Car

had a good operational performance

during the year with rental days

increasing by 10% to 1.34 million rental

days off a 10% increase in rental

transactions, a 2% increase in vehicle

utilisation and a 5% increase in people

productivity. The acquisition of the

Budget operations in Norway in March

2004 added a further 2% to our rental day

volumes in the region for the year. Pricing

per rental day increased in-line with

inflation. Financial performance in local
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currencies was in-line with the previous

year’s good result, but due to translation

effects, the result was down in rands.

Market leadership was maintained in both

countries, and continued to grow at the

prime airport locations.

Avis Fleet Services grew its fleet under

finance to 15 567 units, while fleet

under maintenance contracts increased

strongly to 18 699 units. Profitability was

maintained at the same levels as last year.

Although lower interest rates are

fuelling the demand for the business’

services, the benefits of increased fleet

numbers take some time to impact on

improved profitability. In the mean-time,

the lower interest rates are negatively

impacting on funding margins and

reducing the benefits received from the

internally generated cash.

The operational strategic focus of Avis

will remain as previously communicated

to its stakeholders. Those being:

• ` the consistent improvement of

customer service

• Black Economic Empowerment in

southern Africa and an increased

focus on the enhancement and

recognition of the role women play in

all our operations

• to attract, develop and retain the best

employees

• ensuring the lowest cost position in

all market segments

• creating new and improved products

and services aimed at enhancing

customer loyalty

• leveraging economies of scale

• to be a key contributor to the global

Avis delivery system and being the

benchmark licensee operator.

Business synergies

Although each of our businesses

operates with its own distinct strategy

and focus, there remains considerable

opportunity for internal synergies to be

obtained. In all circumstances the needs

of our customers will take priority, and

thereafter we will ensure that our

operations place opportunities with each

other. The key opportunities that are

being immediately focused on and

progress measured on are:

• new vehicle sales and servicing of Avis

southern African fleets through our

Barloworld Motor Franchise operations

• the retail sale of Avis ex-rental

vehicles through Barloworld Motor

Franchise operations

• the repair of damaged Avis vehicles

through Barloworld Coachworks

• the sale of Avis Fleet Services’

products through Barloworld Motor

Franchise operations

• the promotion of Avis Car Rental

throughout the Barloworld group.

People

At 30 September 2004 our operations

employed 5 895 people (307 in Australia,

4 130 in Motor Franchises Southern

Africa, 791 Avis Rent-A-Car Southern

Africa, 406 Avis Rent-A-Car Scandinavia

and 261 in Avis Fleet Services), which also

includes 896 people in our 3 motor retail

joint ventures.

In addition to the ongoing emphasis

on Value Based Management (VBM)

with its focus on creating value for all

stakeholders, the human resources

aspects around the Avis acquisition have

received significant attention. VBM

includes an integrated set of initiatives

aimed at ensuring that all employees can

contribute to, and participate in, the

success of the division. Our approach

recognises that every employee has

an important role to play in the

organisation and it is aimed at harnessing

their collective wisdom to ensure

continuous improvement in value

creation for all stakeholders. Our VBM

initiatives are fully integrated into all

aspects of the business, including

Operations, Finance and Human

Resources. In the year ahead we will

continue to focus on VBM throughout

the motor group including the Avis

operations. We have no doubt that

the combination of VBM and the Avis

Brand Ambassador programme (which

is a highly successful employee

development programme designed to

empower employees and highlights the

crucial role of personal behaviour in

customers’ perception of the organisation

and its performance) will enhance the

capability of the division and our

Employee Value Creation initiatives.

Our objective is to be a preferred

employer. Diversity is important and

receives specific focus in all training and

recruitment initiatives.

Awards

Our operations once again proved their

leadership in the industries in which they

operate.

Awards received in the past year include

the Toyota Chairman’s Award and the

Group Franchise Director award, while

Audi Centre Cape Town received the

award for Best Audi Centre.
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Avis Rent-A-Car South Africa received the

travel industry’s award for Best Car

Rental Company, while both Avis Norway

and Avis Sweden received top honours

from their local travel industries. Avis

Rent-A-Car was rated the clear winner in

the Car Rental section of the Markinor

Sunday Times Top Business to Business

Brands awards, and Avis South Africa was

ranked in the top 20 of the Deloitte “Best

Company to Work For” 2004 survey.

Prospects

Economic conditions in the markets in

which we operate are expected to

remain favourable and our businesses

anticipate real growth in the year ahead.

Tourism to southern Africa is anticipated

to return to its long-term upward growth

trend, sound economic conditions in

Scandinavia are forecast to continue,

while consumer confidence levels in

South Africa and Australia are likely to

lead to another year of strength in

the sales of new vehicles. Our businesses

each have their own clear operational

strategies – led by an overarching ethic of

customer service – to achieve success in

the year ahead.
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Revenue Segment result Net operating assets
Year ended 30 Sept Year ended 30 Sept 30 Sept

R million 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

– Southern Africa 3 440 3 016 1 171 873 2 145 2 103

Share of 
associate income 11 6

LEADERSHIP TEAM
John Gomersall (58), CA(SA), Chief Executive Officer. 33
Rod Burn (50), BProc, BA (Hons) Psych, Director Organisational Performance. 17
Harley Dent (53), BSc (Hons), BCom, Datametrics Diploma, Director Strategic Projects. 26
Peter Esterhuysen (48), BCom, BAcc, CA(SA), Director Finance and Administration. 8
Orrie Fenn (50), BSc (Hons) Eng, MPhil Eng, Dr Eng (British), Managing Director
Cement. 5
Deon Heyns (48), BEng (Mech), Managing Director, PPC Lime. 20
Tony Parry (44), BA (Hons), MBA, Chief Information Officer. 15

Note: The first figure after each name (in brackets) is their age at date of publication of this report.

The second figure in blue is the number of years’ service they have with Barloworld or businesses

we have acquired.

A year of strong growth in cement

volumes

Improved levels of infrastructural

spending and buoyant housing

construction, prompted by lower

nominal interest rates, resulted in

growth in cement volumes in RSA of

15.7%. This boosted overall revenues by

14% to R3 440 million and operating

profit exceeded R1 billion for the first

time, ending at R1 171 million and

reflecting growth of 35% on the prior

year of R866 million.

The growth in local cement volumes was

evident throughout the country, with the

coastal belt from Cape Town to Port

Elizabeth exhibiting the highest growth.

In the Eastern Cape, the Ngqura (Coega)

harbour development required that

cement had to be supplied from our

inland factories as our Port Elizabeth

plant ran at full capacity. The project is

due for completion in the third quarter

of 2005 and we expect volumes will

begin to taper off in the final quarter of

2004. Our total bagged cement sales

PPC CEMENT PPC LIME

PRETORIA PORTLAND CEMENT (71,6% owned)

SOUTH AFRICA:
PPC Lime

PPC Saldanha
PPC Slag

SOUTH AFRICA:
PPC Cement

Mooiplaas Dolomite
Slagment 33.3% owned

ZIMBABWE:
Portland Holdings

BOTSWANA:
PPC Botswana

AFRIPACK
(JOINT VENTURE)

SOUTH AFRICA



were also extremely strong, indicative of

significant growth in the informal

housing market.

South African export cement volumes

were seriously affected by an inability to

remain price competitive owing to the

sustained strength of the rand. However,

the stronger than expected growth in the

local market more than compensated for

these reduced export volumes.

Demand in Zimbabwe was abysmally low

as the economy continued to contract

under conditions of high inflation. We

were able to continue to export to

neighbouring countries and earn much-

needed foreign exchange.

The lime division experienced further

decline in sales of burnt products

following operational problems and

process changes at major customers.

Despite this and downsizing costs

incurred at the Lime Acres plant near

Kimberley, operating profit improved 3%

to R102 million.

The sale of 75% of our packaging

division to an empowerment and

management consortium was successfully

concluded on 2 August 2004. The nature

of some of the vendor financing

provided will require consolidation of

the results into PPC until the loans are

repaid. Flexible packaging volumes

remained strong throughout the year

and notably so for cement bags and ream

wrap. Organic growth in the cement bag

market was further boosted following

more success in gaining additional

contracts. Overall volume growth was

again in excess of the industry average.

The capital expenditure programme

undertaken in 2003 was successfully

commissioned and we have seen

operational improvements.

Capacity

The company is engaged in a major study

to evaluate all aspects of increasing its

clinker and cement production by

1 million tons. The decision to go ahead

will be taken on the basis of forecast

demand and the age of existing capacity.

The estimated present day value of the

project is R750 million, and its cash flows

will span the 2006, 2007 and 2008

financial years. It is expected that the

project plan will be finalised by the last

quarter of the 2005 financial year.

Capital expenditure for the current year

was below the annual depreciation

charge with expenditure limited to items

of a replacement nature. There were no

major capital projects during the year.

Spare capacity exists in our lime business,

and last year’s expansion at Afripack will

ensure that capital expenditure remains

low in both these companies.

Zimbabwe

The situation in Zimbabwe has continued

to deteriorate and the economy

struggled with both hyperinflation and

shortages of foreign exchange. The

introduction of the “auction” system by

the Zimbabwe Reserve Bank in January

this year to stabilise the currency seems

to have had limited success and a

“parallel” rate for currency has re-

emerged. A number of banks have been

placed under curatorship.

Selling prices are still subject to price

monitoring and high increases on input

costs, such as wages, electricity and coal

in particular have reduced margins.

Despite these difficulties, the company

continued to operate on a cash positive

basis for the year.

We remain committed to Zimbabwe and

look forward to the resolution of the

current economic crisis and to a period of

stability and growth which will benefit

all Zimbabweans.

Black Economic Empowerment

Economic empowerment is being handled

on a holistic basis within the division and

in this context we have continued to

address all the elements of the process as

defined by the various sectoral charters.

Procurement targets, social investment,

physical employment targets, etc., are all

regularly under scrutiny. Particular success

has been achieved this year in our

HIV/Aids campaign with extensive status

testing programmes, supported by our

clinics, counselling programme and

treatment process. 

Management changes

John Blackbeard has been appointed CEO

of Barloworld Scientific. He left PPC after

eight years’ service – the past three years

as chief operating officer. He has been

instrumental in guiding the company to

achieve the success it has. Following this

move Orrie Fenn was appointed

managing director of the Cement

division.
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Prospects

The South African economy has performed

well over the past year. The series of

interest rate cuts in 2003 seemed to

stimulate economic growth, particularly in

the retail sector. Housing prices have risen

strongly in the formal sector.

Fixed capital formation has been rising

and the State President’s intentions to

increase government spending,

particularly on infrastructure, are to be

welcomed. The successful South African

bid for the 2010 soccer world cup will

lend weight to these initiatives,

particularly when the supporting

infrastructure such as the Gautrain is

built. Unfortunately the relatively strong

rand is having a negative impact

on capital spending in parts of the

mining industry.

While the interest rate cuts are to be

welcomed and the SA Reserve Bank’s

emphasis on controlling and reducing the

inflation rate applauded, the real interest

rate in South Africa (which is measured by

subtracting the inflation rate from the

nominal interest rate) remains much

higher than that in almost all first world

countries and that in many of the world’s

more vibrant economies. The GDP growth

rate remains lower than that necessary to

provide sufficient boost to the economy,

which is sorely needed to reduce the high

rate of unemployment.

Against this background we expect that

local cement demand is likely to grow at

between 6% to 8%.

The situation in Zimbabwe is not

expected to change before the elections

in March 2005. If the elections are

peaceful, they could lead to an

improvement in local cement demand;

however the economy remains

constrained by hyperinflation and a

severe shortage of foreign exchange.

The forecast demand for the local steel

industry remains strong for the next

financial year underpinned by the strong

demand from China. This is likely to have

a beneficial impact on lime and burnt

dolomite volumes.

Recently advised rail tariff increases that

are significantly above inflationary levels

will impact production costs negatively,

particularly in the lime division. The

increase in PPC’s input costs at a higher

level than the official Producer Price

Index will inevitably impact selling prices.

Despite these factors, the current growth

in cement demand should enable the

division to report increased operating

profits and strong cash flows for 2005.
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BARLOWORLD
PLASCON

BARLOWORLD COATINGS

SOUTHERN AFRICA
– Johannesburg* 

– Durban*
– Cape Town*

SOUTH AFRICA 
– Johannesburg*

AUSTRALIA

VALSPAR
(Can Coatings)

AKZO NOBEL
(Powder, Marine)

SIZWE
(Architectural,

Industrial)

BARLOWORLD
AUTOMOTIVE

COATINGS

BARLOWORLD
COATINGS 
AUSTRALIA

BARLOWORLD
COATINGS

COLOURANT
SYSTEMS

JOINT VENTURE 
OPERATIONS

SOUTH AFRICA

Revenue Segment result Net operating assets
Year ended 30 Sept Year ended 30 Sept 30 Sept

R million 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

– Southern Africa 1 374 1 225 212 122 409 376
– Europe 7
– Australia and 

Asia 1 034 1 028 22 33 266 243

2 408 2 253 234 155 675 626

Share of associate 
income 27 30

* Manufacturing locations

AUSTRALIA
NEW ZEALAND

CHINA
SOUTHERN AFRICA

All operations once again reported

pleasing results for 2004, although the

continuing strength of the rand

impacted on the translation of earnings

from our Australian operation. Our Value

Based Management approach, including

our Employee Value Creation system,

continues to drive our achievements.

Following their initial successful

implementation in certain factories, a

highlight of the year was the extension

of the principles of structured work

teams across the rest of the division and

in all geographies.

Southern Africa and other African

territories

Pleasing performances from our

Architectural, Industrial and Automotive

coatings businesses

The 2004 year was a very good year for

the southern African businesses, in

particular Barloworld Plascon. Retail sales

were excellent and benefited from the
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robust growth of the sector with

consumers enjoying the lower cost of

credit. Trade sales also performed well.

Industrial sales were satisfactory

considering the strong rand impact on

our customers in the form of their lower

exports. Overall we increased sales by

10% on 2003. This combined with good

expense control resulted in an increase

in operating profit of 64%. Marketing

of the decorative ranges was again a

key feature of our year with the

introduction of a number of new

products including the Disney range

which generated a considerable amount

of excitement. Other marketing

highlights were, the Palette of 2005,

the new Wall and All commercial,

National Colour Day and the continuing

sponsorship of Decorex (Southern

Africa’s premier interior design

exhibition). Barloworld Plascon was

again the leader in media related

advertising spend in the paint category

with a share of voice this year in excess

of 60%.

The other African operations posted

a creditable performance notwith-

standing aggressive competitor pricing

and lower than anticipated construction

activity. Strong margin management and

asset control, together with lower than

inflation increases in expenses, has

produced a solid result. Operating profits

finished 13.7% up on last year. We

continue to enjoy significant market

shares in most markets, with the

exception of Malawi, where we expect to

make further gains in the coming year.

Volumes, whilst only marginally up for

the year, are expected to rise as

building activity increases over the next

financial year.

The Automotive Coatings business

performed well and finished ahead of last

year. Our overall market share in the OEM

segment of the Automotive market

remains at approximately 65%. Our

market share has improved at most

customers however, at DaimlerChrysler

South Africa it was slightly down due to

the loss of clearcoat business in the last

quarter as a result of a different

technology introduced by DaimlerChrysler

internationally. We recorded the most

notable improvement at General Motors

with an increase in market share from

40% to 60%. 

Sales to Toyota also made a solid

contribution. Further profit improvement

is expected for the coming year, although

the impact of crude oil prices on raw

material prices and the relentless

requirements of all OEM’s for cost

reductions will need to be taken into

account.

The refinish business performed well and

delivered a significant operating profit

improvement on last year. An overall

volume growth of 2.4% was obtained in

a market where the competitor base is

constantly increasing. Our own brands

grew 4% compared to 2003. Our licensed

brands however had a more difficult

period showing an overall increase of

0.4% with mixed contributions from

Standox and Spies Hecker. The premium

brand market continues to be volatile

with a number of new competitors

having entered the market. Our refinish

volume market share based on reported

industry figures has remained constant.

2004 was an excellent year for the

colourant systems business acquired as a

wholly owned business at the half year. It

achieved an annual volume growth of

7%. Export volumes increased by 15%,

resulting in export markets now

contributing 46% of sales volume.

Currently products are exported to

Australia, Malaysia, Turkey, Portugal,

Spain, Mauritius and a number of

countries on the African continent.

Our exposure to export markets is such

that currency exchange variances can

have an effect on margins. However,

input costs are also affected by exchange

rates and as a result of the strengthening

rand, export margins remained

consistent with that of the prior year.

Cost and overhead reductions were also

achieved during the year, with expenses

reducing by 2% from the previous year.

The benefit of this was also reflected in

overall margin improvement.

Prospects for 2005 are optimistic. Real

growth opportunity exists in the export

markets and within the industrial

markets locally. As stated, a stronger

rand can put pressure on export margins,

but notwithstanding this the business

unit is well positioned to benefit from

any opportunities that may arise.
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Australia

The result for Australia reflects difficult

trading conditions for some months

following the increase in interest rates

calculated to cool down the property

market. The year also saw significant

focus on the roll out of the Barloworld

Valued Based Management approach

with particular attention to the

organisational and employee alignment

aspects thereof. This was considered

essential in the drive for improvement of

the businesses’ prospects. It however

resulted in substantial once off costs

being incurred. Without this and other

once off costs the result would not have

ended below last year. In addition the

strong rand had a further negative profit

impact on translation.

Both retail and trade volumes increased

year on year with a strong performance

from retail volumes which grew in excess

of 8%. We continue to gain market share

within the retail chains of Bunnings and

Mitre 10. The second half dampened for

the reasons outlined above what would

have been an even better performance in

the retail sector. These improved volumes

contributed to improved retail market

share, whilst the focus on the trade side

of the business was on improving the

sales mix and focusing on more

profitable segments within the trade

market. Export volumes declined, driven

mainly by the strong Australian dollar

exchange rate against the Chinese RMB.

A new business model, we believe with

exciting prospects, is being developed

and is highlighted below. We accelerated

the Value Based Management focus,

which resulted in a number of initiatives

in particular establishing the necessary

organisational infrastructure. Most of

our staff have been involved in

workshops aimed at understanding the

business better and business

improvement scorecards have been

installed throughout the business.

Likewise, there are now structured team

forums throughout the organisation.

The way forward

Overall Barloworld Coatings is well

positioned for growth in revenues and

earnings. We have now completed the

construction of a new business model

which has the potential to drive our

results for the next few years. This model

has also been influenced by the

opportunities offered by a booming

construction sector in a rapidly growing

Chinese economy. Last year we

announced that our Australian

operations had opened a representative

office in Shanghai and engaged a

number of local employees. We were

then in the early stages of evaluating the

best ways of entering the market

vigorously. Benefiting from this, our

detailed studies resulted in an exciting

new business model for our future

approach in China.

This model rests on three principal

elements:

• a close alliance in China with a large

international chemical company. (We

have entered into a confidentiality

agreement in this regard.);

• closer ties with Chinese enterprises

which have already largely been

identified in four years of low-key

activity in the country;

• the implementation of our “décor

effect” selling policy, which includes

selling both the coating and its

application.

Selling the décor effect involves a

fundamental shift in the delivery

strategy. With the demands of scale

required in the Chinese market, the

traditional method of bringing paint to

the market is not wholly appropriate.

In addition we are introducing an

advanced computer-aided tinting

system that executes colour choices at the

point-of-sale by adding colourants to a

white or clear-base paint that is produced

in large quantities by our factories. This,

along with other innovative system

improvements, does away with the need

to manufacture a number of basic colours

eliminating manufacturing scheduling

dilemmas and cutting inventory costs

throughout the system. Postponing

finishing the product until the moment of

sale, allows us to reduce the costs of the

overall business system.

As a first and important step towards

implementing this model throughout our

operation and significantly expanding

our presence in China, we have acquired

the business of South African based

International Chemical Corporation (ICC),

which manufactures and distributes

tinting systems and colourants. This

business is being run as a separate

business unit.

During the year we also entered into an

agreement to acquire the business of
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Hamilton Brush and Cherry Sales, a South

African manufacturer of quality paint

brushes and rollers. The transaction

which is subject to the completion of due

diligence studies and the approval of the

competition authorities, may open the

way to new export markets.

Advanced technology is vital in our

business and the strategic alliance with

our technology partner Du Pont continues

to yield important benefits. An audit team

from Germany conducts an annual

assessment at our Port Elizabeth facility.

Our automotive Original Equipment

Manufacture (OEM) customers carry out

frequent audits on our systems,

procedures and processes within the

business. We continue to achieve the

highest standards demanded by these

customers.

We continue our investment in brand

support and our programme of bringing

new products to the market. This ensures

that we can command premium prices

for our product as we stay ahead of the

market in research, advertising, colour

support and promotion.

We strive to conduct our business in a

commercially sensible and socially

responsible manner. Our responsibility

for maintaining environmental integrity

features strongly in our priorities and at

all our manufacturing sites. We have

committed ourselves to have all our

business units being compliant with the

relevant ISO standards in respect of

quality, health and safety and the

environment. We have quantified

baseline emissions at our factories and

have put in place process and

engineering modifications to mitigate

the environmental impact of our

manufacturing processes. Australia has

some of the world’s most demanding

regulations when it comes to

environmental issues and our operations

there remain fully compliant.

Developing the skills of our people is

essential for the success of our business,

as it is for its sustainability, and every year

we invest some 4% of the salary and

wage bill in training and skills

development. We further conduct our

business practices in compliance with the

relevant Barloworld guidelines in respect

of health and safety, empowerment and

employment equity.



Bar lowor ld annual  report  2004.  Wri t ten in accordance with the GRI  guide l ines 95

OPERATIONAL REVIEW CONTINUED – SCIENTIFIC

BIBBY STERILIN
UK
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Techne Inc USA

AFORA DYNALAB DISTRIBUTION
North America
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Asia/Pacific

LASER OPTICS

BARLOWORLD SCIENTIFIC

Revenue Segment result Net operating assets
Year ended 30 Sept Year ended 30 Sept 30 Sept

R million 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

– Europe 928 1 167 30 46 708 834
– North America 536 466 (4) (34) 307 356
– Asia 159 135 5 76 88

1 623 1 768 31 12 1 091 1 278

LEADERSHIP TEAM
John Blackbeard (47), BSc (Mech) Eng (Hons), Dip Bus Man, Chief Executive Officer. 8
Mike Fahy (50), FCIS, Company Secretary, Barloworld Holdings. 16
Blake Fennell (39), MBA, Chief Executive Officer, Melles Griot. 14
Phil Horsfield (57), BA (Hons), ACMA, Finance Director. 17
Eugene Smith (43), MA (Cantab), ACMA, Chief Financial Officer, Melles Griot. 22
John Whitehouse (56), FMS, FCMI, Managing Director, Laboratory Products. 15
Ed Wynn (48), BSc, MBA, Dip CIM, Sales and Marketing Director, Laboratory
Products. 10

Note: The first figure after each name (in brackets) is their age at date of publication of this report.

The second figure in blue is the number of years’ service they have with Barloworld or businesses

we have acquired.

The Scientific segment contributed an

increase in performance over the previous

year against the backcloth of improving

trading conditions in its major markets.

Operating profits of R14 million in Melles

Griot on revenues of R691 million (2003:

R40 million loss on revenues of

R717 million) resulted from previous

restructuring actions, which have

significantly reduced the cost base. Weak

demand, some distributor destocking and

increased raw material prices resulted in

the Laboratory group generating

operating profits of R40 million (2003:

R72 million) on revenues of R935 million

(2003: R1 055 million).

North America technology markets

recovering

Technology markets strengthened

throughout most of the year. Demand in

the first half was robust, although there

was some flattening in the third quarter.

The latter months of the fourth quarter

showed increasing order intake, and

increasing product development activity

amongst the customer base.

The semiconductor capital equipment

sector, which accounted for 24% of sales

for Melles Griot was robust, with strong

LABORATORY MELLES GRIOT  



demand in application areas including

printed circuit board inspection, memory

repair and patterned wafer inspection.

Biotechnology applications also saw

improving conditions, particularly in the

areas of ophthalmology, genomics and

pharmaceuticals. The company also

realised significant market share gains in

some product areas; specifically Ion and

Diode-Pumped Solid-State lasers.

The Metrology sector, consisting of

manufacturers of precision measurement

instrumentation, grew slightly through-

out the year. While the applications

served are somewhat tied to the

semiconductor industry, this business

space generally demonstrates relatively

stable performance year-on-year.

Research spending in government,

education and industry has remained

relatively constant versus the prior

reporting period.

Ongoing cost management and

increasing revenue were the primary

contributors towards the improved

performance. Research and Development

activity in the laser business continues,

with a significant contribution from a

newly released yellow Diode-Pumped

Solid-State laser in January. Several

design wins in the area of Deep Ultra-

violet optical systems also provided a

significant boost to performance.

The company divested its manufacturing

operations in the United Kingdom,

representing an exit from the telecom-

munications business. The loss-making

operation was sold to another company

in the photonics space, and Melles Griot

continues to distribute several key

product technologies.

Excluding the impact of the divesture,

headcount remained relatively constant

at 600.

Our catalogue-based photonics

components distribution (catalogue)

business has been given an enhanced

strategic focus under a dedicated

business team, and is now managed

globally under a single hierarchy. Release

of a new catalogue in the second quarter

of fiscal 2005 should boost sales, along

with ongoing enhancements to the

e-commerce site.

Cash management continued to receive

close attention with tightly controlled

working capital. Capital projects

completed at the Rochester, New York

and Tamagawa, Japan, facilities will

maintain the company’s position as a

leading supplier to the semiconductor

equipment sector. The industry is

currently transitioning to optical

solutions at deeper ultraviolet wave-

lengths, which are key components in the

chip-making process.

Melles Griot continues its move towards

higher-level subassemblies for key

customers, often incorporating laser,

optical, opto-mechanical and electronics

technologies into a single package –

referred to as Electro Optical Assemblies.

Fiscal year 2004 saw several key design

wins in this area, which not only increases

revenue but serves as a barrier to

competition.

Europe: Laboratory markets impacted by

weaker demand and customer destocking

The Laboratory business experienced

mixed trading conditions during the year

with stronger performances in the UK,

Spain and Italy. Other Eurozone markets

remained flat. Middle East and Far East

trading continued to show improvement

but margins came under pressure from

Dollar based competitors. Significant

business was achieved in both Iraq

and Libya.

The final result was depressed by

reorganisation costs in some of the UK

manufacturing operations and France,

overstocking by a major pharmaceutical

customer in the previous year reducing

demand in 2004 and renegotiation of a

major North American distribution

contract at lower margins.

Volumes in the Plastics business increased

as a result of:

• Industry consolidation in the

Disposables area resulting from

reduced capacity.

• A strong performance from the

Industrial packaging business in the

UK where the benefits of a flexible

offering allowed a strong niche

position to be developed.

• Selective capital investments.

During the second half the Plastics

business experienced significant increases
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in raw material costs, especially of

polystyrene, and this has depressed

margins since not all of the increases

could be recovered. These cost increases

have been maintained into the new

financial year.

The Science Equipment business had a

better year and significant new product

launches for the Jenway, Techne and

Stuart brands will create an improved

sales momentum. Carbolite continued to

perform well. However, delays to the

award of some major Industrial Furnace

contracts impacted on the final result.

There has been an overall increase in

investment in marketing and new

product development and this will

continue to support sales development.

Lean Enterprise practices continue to be

rolled out across the operations and have

continued to create benefits in both

scrap and inventory reduction.

Implementation of the Barloworld

Logistics Optimiza software in the second

half will provide further benefits in

improved inventory management and

manufacturing planning. Selective

capital investment on a number of sites

will improve operating efficiencies. The

improvement in manufacturing perfor-

mance is increasingly important against a

background of increasing raw material

costs, e.g., steel and energy.

Construction of a new logistics centre on

the central UK Stone site was started

during the year and will be completed in

January 2005. This will improve efficiency

and reduce distribution costs.

2005 outlook

Melles Griot continues to see market

recovery in its key sectors. The focus on

cost management continues, along with

dedicated efforts towards product

differentiation through process improve-

ment and development of intellectual

property.

The Laboratory business is expected to

resume a modest growth trend in the

coming year as the benefits of new

products and further cost reductions are

felt and European economies show a

recovery.

Overall the segment should see

continuing profitability in 2005.
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Overview

The first half of the financial year was as

difficult as the second half of last year.

The strong rand continued to squeeze

export margins and both the mines and

our exporting customers continued to

reduce their offtake.

During the year the impact of a

worldwide economic upturn, combined

with China’s explosive growth led to a

very sharp rise in international steel

prices, along with other commodities.

Revenue Segment result Net operating assets
Year ended 30 Sept Year ended 30 Sept 30 Sept

R million 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

– South Africa 1 739 1 736 52 38 481 507

Share of associate 
income 8 5

LEADERSHIP TEAM
Mike Coward (51), CA(SA), Chief
Executive Officer. 27
Charles Bester (48), BA SocSc (GPP),
Executive Director. 18
Geoff Colloty (56), BEcon, General
Manager, Galvanising Division. 32
Heather Dukas (44), HDE, Advanced
Labour Law. Organisational Performance
Manager. 1

Ben de Klerk (50), CA(SA), BCompt
(Hons), CTA, General Manager, Tube
Division. 8
Gordon Gilmer (46), General Manager,
Stainless Division. 6
Rex Hilligan (55), General Manager,
Open Sections Division. 10
Pieter Liebenberg (58), BCom, MBA,
General Manager, Pipe Systems
Division. 32

Mike Lithgow (36), Group Marketing
Executive. 1
Stuart Neethling (47), BCompt. General
Manager. Precision and Cold Form
Division. 22
Alan Oswald (50), CA(SA). Group
Finance Director. 7
Geoff Pallister (62), MSc (Eng), PrEng,
Group Projects Director. 31
Johan Scholtz (39), BEng (Mech),
PrEng. Group Technical Manager. 6
Ian Walters (55), BCom, MBA,
Information Systems Director. 23

Note: The first figure after each name (in
brackets) is their age at date of publication of
this report. The second figure in blue is the
number of years’ service they have with
Barloworld or businesses we have acquired.

Average hot rolled coil prices (US$/tonne)
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Higher steel prices are generally positive

for our business. However in this third

year of substantial increases there was

considerable stress in the market, as

well as physical steel shortages which

disrupted our factories.

Operating profit rose in the second half

on the back of the increased prices.

Offtake from the mines, particularly in

respect of capital projects remains very

subdued.

Domestic demand in all segments

unrelated to mining or exports is good.

Productivity

The Six Sigma programme started in 2003

is now well under way. We have trained

19 black belts, seven of whom are

operating full time. We have trained

86 green belts. These trained staff are

now providing the critical mass to

implement Six Sigma methodology to

assist us in our quest to achieve world-

class excellence in all we do. After a slow

start a number of projects are now

starting to deliver the anticipated results.

This process is providing greater

expertise to our mission directed work

teams of which we now have 100

operating. The enhanced training has

added impetus to our drive to improve

operations at every level.

As a result of the above our training

increased to an average of eight days per

employee per annum.

Tubular products

Profits rose substantially in the second

half in harmony with the international

markets. Despite the strong rand, exports

were maintained at 2003 levels although

at lower margins.

Considerable efforts continue to be

made to manage internal efficiencies

better particularly work-in-progress.

These have resulted in enhanced control

and faster response times to market

changes.

Value added products

Our Stainless pipe operation continues to

struggle following the sharp rise in

international prices which led to our

pricing arrangement no longer ensuring

we remained competitive in international

markets. As a result we are reducing our

export capability. This unfortunately is

involving job losses.

Our increased focus on stainless domestic

markets continued. Our laser welder was

successfully commissioned as was our 

pipe cutting and fitting manufacturing

equipment. These are expected to impact

positively on our performance going

forward.

The Precision tube operation recorded a

substantial improvement with lower

costs and better margins. Many of their

market segments are experiencing 

solid demand. We expect further

improvement in 2005.

The Open Section business had another

good year with increased focus on

custom designed value added profiles.

The new Samco mill has facilitated this

drive and has performed beyond

expectations enabling us to increase

accuracy and improve customer lead

times.

The Cold Form operation was fortunate

in having enough mining projects work

at the start of the year. 2005 will however

be more difficult.

Solutions

These operations have been aimed

principally at the mining industry and

hence had a tougher year. Despite this,

acceptable returns were achieved.

Focus is however widening to grow our

water and gas distribution businesses.

This will be facilitated by our new

products.

Our Galvanising operation also suffered

from the shortage of mining related

projects. Their marketing focus is also

widening.

Distribution

Our Cape Town joint venture ended in

May when our partner bought us out.

Our Reef joint venture was also successful
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Exports 29%
Mining 29%
Other 42%

2004 revenues by market segment
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and in terms of our agreement our

shareholding dropped to 40% in June.

Our small steel merchanting operation,

which started as a sourcer of seconds

material, is now operating mostly in

prime markets and had a very good year.

Our BEE joint venture, Shosholoza, with

our partner Benny Jiyane, had a good

start.

Marketing

Increased efforts are being made to

tackle certain market segments with a

combined group offering and a wider

range of products.

In addition our knowledge base is being

enhanced.

It is now appropriate to take advantage

of the strength of the Barloworld brand.

Our name from 1 October 2004 will be

Barloworld Tubemakers and Robor will

be positioned as a product brand.

Suppliers

The changes to the ownership of

Columbus Stainless and the restructuring

of the parent company of Ispat Iscor are

being followed closely.

New products

The accreditation by JASWIC (Joint

Acceptance Scheme for Water Service

Installed Components) of a new range of

conveyance products has been

successfully completed. This is a very

important development as it provides

access to the municipal water market

from which galvanised water pipe was

excluded 15 years ago.

The range comprises:

• Tosaline – steel pipe internally lined

with polyolefin to resist corrosion

• Tosawrap to protect the external steel

surface in buried conditions

2005 outlook

The domestic market is strengthening

but will still contain soft areas unless the

rand weakens.

International steel prices will probably

remain strong in the first half in view of

the present momentum. It is however

likely that these will start to reduce in the

second half. Should this be gradual, we

should have a good year. If the price

reduction is sharp it could result in a

difficult second half of the financial year.



BARLOWORLD LOGISTICS
– South Africa
– Dubai
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– UK
– USA

BARLOWORLD LOGISTICA
– Spain

CORPORATE OFFICES
– Johannesburg
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CORPORATE AND OTHER
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Revenue Segment result Net operating assets
Year ended 30 Sept Year ended 30 Sept 30 Sept

R million 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

– Southern Africa 312 273 (53) (87) 1 495 1 110
– Europe 500 583 (14) (2) 134 116

812 856 (67) (89) 1 629 1 226

LEADERSHIP TEAM
Corporate Operations
Paul Acott (59), BA(Hons), FCA, Group General Manager: Administration. 23
Andrew Bannister (47), BBusSc (Hons), CA(SA), ACA, Finance Director, Barloworld
Holdings Plc. 19
Mike Barnett (62), H Dip Tax Law, H Dip Co Law, Group Company Secretary. 24
Gary Berndt (45), BA, LLB, MBA, Group Legal Adviser. 16
Terry Dearling (45), BA, Group General Manager: Human Resources. 9
Liz Dougall (47), CA(SA), PG Dip Tax, Group Taxation Manager. 5
Mark Drewell (42), MA (Oxon), Head of Corporate Communication. 14
Clive Manby (54), BCom, CA(SA), Head of Corporate Planning. 27
Dave Powell (58), BSc, Chief Information Officer. 31
Tamra Saayman (31), BCom (Hons), CA(SA), Group Internal Auditor. 1
Ian Stevens (54), BCom, CA(SA), Group General Manager: Finance. 20
Pieter van Dam (48), BSc (Civil) Eng, MBA, Group Strategy Facilitator. 4
Johan van Wyk (41), CA(SA), Group Financial Controller. 14
Hilary Wilton (48), ACII, CIP, Head of Risk Service. 1

Barloworld Logistics
Paul Stuiver (47), BEng (Met), Chief Executive Officer. 21
Barry Saxton (61), PMD (Harvard), Marketing Director. 3
Mark Tarlton (45), BSc Eng, MBL, Business Development Director. 17
Francois van Rensburg (39), CA(SA), Financial Manager. 8
John Williamson (59), CA(SA), Director Supply Chain Management. 3

Note: The first figure after each name (in brackets) is their age at date of publication of this report.
The second figure in blue  is the number of years’ service they have with Barloworld or businesses
we have acquired.

Corporate operations

Corporate operations include the

following services and activities provided

from the corporate headquarters in

Johannesburg, South Africa: Value Based

Management and strategic planning,

corporate finance, information tech-

nology, treasury, legal and tax, internal

communication, investor relations,

corporate brand building, company

secretarial, internal audit, as well as risk

and insurance management. Also

included are the corporate operations and

treasury of Barloworld Plc in London.

In southern Africa net corporate office

costs were lower, while in Europe profits

were impacted by an additional

contribution of R70 million (£6 million)

for the funding of pension fund deficits.

This was partly offset by favourable fair

value adjustments. Net assets increased

mainly due to goodwill arising from the

purchase of additional shares in PPC.
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW CONTINUED – CORPORATE AND OTHER

In addition to South Africa the business

now operates in Botswana, Namibia,

Europe, the Middle East and the USA.

Whilst the Logistics division has unlocked

significant savings within Barloworld

group companies, approximately 50% of

its revenue was earned outside the group. 

Based on its unique service offering and

innovative products, the division is

looking forward to significant, organic

growth in the short term.

Barloworld Logistica (Spain)

The Spanish logistics business has

consolidated the growth of previous

years with the two most important

contracts having been renegotiated both

for an extended period and with

increased volumes. New business includes

the start of a supplier consolidation

centre, working on a just-in-time basis,

for a major car manufacturer based in

the north of the country. The company’s

operational commitment to quality is

evidenced by the ISO 9002 certification

achieved for the main centres during the

year and this will now be rolled out

throughout the organisation.

Barloworld Logistics (South Africa)

The business completed its third year of

operations and continued its significant

growth. Highlights during the year

include:

• Acquisition of freight forwarding and

customs clearing business ZA Trans

Logistics.

• A 10-year, R3.8 billion contract to

manage the outbound logistics for

Illovo Sugar in South Africa.

• Establishment of offices to spearhead

inventory management business in

Chicago, USA and Dubai, United Arab

Emirates.

The acquisition of ZA Trans completed

our initial strategy which was to build the

skills required to provide services across

the full spectrum of a typical supply

chain.

Services provided by Barloworld Logistics

now include:

• Transportation and transportation

management

• Warehousing and distribution

management

• Inventory management

• Procurement

• Freight forwarding and customs

clearing

• Network design

• IT integration

Our ability to add value, by combining

and integrating these into solutions that

cut across traditional boundaries in

organisations, has made Barloworld

Logistics one of the leading logistics

providers in southern Africa in a

relatively short time.
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Since its launch in 2003,

Team Barloworld has

made a significant impact

on international

professional cycling. In

2004 the team dominated

the local South African

scene and built a strong

platform in Europe.

Cycling as a sport

embodies the spirit of the

Barloworld brand with its

combination of teamwork

and individual brilliance.

For the latest news on the

team visit:

www.teambarloworld.com

TEAM BARLOWORLD TRAINING IN SWITZERLAND
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SIX-YEAR SUMMARY

for the year ended 30 September 2004

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 728 6 672 7 565 6 053 5 297 4 815
Goodwill and intangible assets 2 674 1 580 1 903 1 530 890 571
Other non-current assets and investments in 

associates and joint ventures 3 046 3 501 4 019 2 874 1 944 1 674
Deferred taxation assets 498 456 385 257 188 169

13 946 12 209 13 872 10 714 8 319 7 229
Current assets 13 896 11 547 13 225 11 232 8 419 7 891

Total assets 13.0 27 842 23 756 27 097 21 946 16 738 15 120

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium * 1 209 712 682 682 690 749
Reserves and retained income 9 945 9 016 10 552 8 395 7 208 6 495

Interest of shareholders of Barloworld Limited 9.0 11 154 9 728 11 234 9 077 7 898 7 244
Minority interest 721 708 791 625 556 554

Interest of all shareholders 11 875 10 436 12 025 9 702 8 454 7 798
Non-current liabilities 20.8 6 889 4 870 5 195 3 845 2 881 2 680

Deferred taxation liabilities 803 621 617 318 281 277
Non-current liabilities 6 086 4 249 4 578 3 527 2 600 2 403

Current liabilities 14.4 9 078 8 450 9 877 8 399 5 403 4 642

Total equity and liabilities 13.0 27 842 23 756 27 097 21 946 16 738 15 120

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
Revenue 13.7 36 673 34 603 35 999 27 945 22 457 19 337

Operating profit 28.2 2 836 2 342 1 951 1 399 1 108 820
Fair value adjustments on financial instruments (107) (334) 55
Finance costs (468) (531) (401) (305) (247) (293)
Income from investments 259 274 253 254 256 296

Profit from continuing operations 
before exceptional items 25.1 2 520 1 751 1 858 1 348 1 117 823

Trading loss from discontinuing operations (30) (85)

Profit before exceptional items 2 520 1 751 1 858 1 348 1 087 738
Exceptional items 40 81 369 (278) 668 951

Profit before taxation 2 560 1 832 2 227 1 070 1 755 1 689
Taxation 891 604 636 383 302 182

Profit after taxation 1 669 1 228 1 591 687 1 453 1 507
Income from associates and joint ventures 107 114 119 31 40 61

Net profit 1 776 1 342 1 710 718 1 493 1 568

Attributable to:
Minority shareholders 259 212 207 101 87 73
Barloworld Limited shareholders 1 517 1 130 1 503 617 1 406 1 495

1 776 1 342 1 710 718 1 493 1 568

Attributable net profit excluding exceptional items 
and trading loss from discontinuing operations 23.5 1 759 1 251 1 156 884 766 613

Compound

annual 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

growth % Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
Cash flow from operations 21.8 3 153 2 419 3 037 2 317 1 494 1 176
Dividends paid (including outside shareholders) 21.9 (871) (940) (649) (436) (381) (324)

Net cash flow from operating activities 21.8 2 282 1 479 2 388 1 881 1 113 852
Net cash flow (used in)/from investing activities (2 124) (1 812) (2 621) (2 834) (1 764) 724
Net cash flow (used in)/from financing activities (258) 487 (24) 1 625 411 (1 122)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (100) 154 (257) 672 (240) 454

ORDINARY SHARE PERFORMANCE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue during the period, net of buy-back (000) 199 375 196 028 195 284 195 613 205 594 214 234
Net profit per share (cents) 760.9 576.4 769.6 315.7 684.0 697.8
Headline earnings per share (cents) 23.3 857.2 592.8 621.7 499.0 383.7 300.3
Dividends per share declared out of 

current year’s earnings (cents) # 21.9 380 290 275 220 180 141
Dividend cover (times) 2.3 2.0 2.3 2.3 2.1 2.1
Net asset value per share (cents) 7.8 5 576 5 122 5 872 4 774 4 081 3 833

* Refer note 12 regarding share buy backs.

# Excludes special centenary dividend of 100 cents declared in November 2002.

Compound

annual 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

growth % Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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SIX-YEAR SUMMARY CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 September 2004

PROFITABILITY AND ASSET MANAGEMENT
Operating margin (%) >7 7.7 6.8 5.7 5.3 5.1 4.4
Net asset turn (times) >2 2.0 1.9 2.0 1.9 1.9 1.8
Return on net assets – Group (%) >15 17.1 14.8 12.8 11.8 12.2 10.7
Return on net assets – Trading businesses (%) >20 22.2 18.6 16.0 15.1 15.3 14.3
Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds 

(excluding exceptional items) (%) >15 14.4 9.9 11.2 10.4 9.7 8.6
Cash flow return on investment – CFROI® (%) >8 8.9 8.1 8.5 8.3 6.6
Replacement capex to depreciation (%) 42.7 54.7 66.7 61.5 62.9 26.8
Effective rate of taxation (%) 30.8 31.7 32.2 24.1 25.7 21.8

LIQUIDITY AND LEVERAGE
Total liabilities to total shareholders’ funds (%) <150 127.7 121.7 120.2 122.9 94.7 90.3
Total borrowings to total shareholders’ funds (gross)
– Total group (%) 64.9 58.9 59.8 64.1 43.7 42.1
– Trading businesses (%) 20 – 40 21.0 29.1 23.3 31.1 12.6 11.6
– Leasing businesses (%) 600 – 800 598.2 814.6 947.2 1 325.8 1 259.7 1 217.3
– Car rental businesses (%) 200 – 300 299.5
Net borrowings/EBITDA (times) <2.5 1.4 1.2 1.6 1.8 1.4 1.2
Number of years to repay interest-bearing debt (gross) 2.4 2.5 2.4 4.2 2.6 2.3
Current ratio 1.5 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.6 1.7
Quick ratio 1.0 0.8 0.7 0.8 0.9 1.1
Interest cover
– Total group (times) >3 4.5 3.3 3.7 3.5 3.2 2.2
– Trading businesses (times) >5 7.6 4.3 5.7 5.7 5.5 3.5
– Leasing businesses (times) >1 1.5 1.3 1.2 1.0 1.1 1.1
– Car rental businesses (times) >2 1.7

Targets 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
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VALUE ADDED
Number of employees 25 233 22 749 23 192 23 233 21 966 22 148
Revenue per employee (R000) 1 528.6 1 506.4 1 550.8 1 236.4 1 018.1 774.2
Wealth created per employee (R000) 449.2 408.8 430.6 304.9 300.6 253.6
Employment cost per employee (R000) 249.8 237.3 251.3 193.2 169.8 137.9

ORDINARY SHARES – JSE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE PERFORMANCE
Closing market prices per share (cents)
– year-end (30 September) 7 800 5 675 5 900 4 910 4 450 2 940
– highest 7 979 6 359 7 300 6 200 5 200 3 990
– lowest 5 610 4 750 4 850 3 550 3 125 2 130
Number of shares in issue at 30 September (million) * 204 196 195 195 197 214
Volume of shares traded (million) 147 147 106 97 129 140
Value of shares traded (Rm) 9 902 8 196 6 414 4 931 5 372 4 103
Earnings yield (%) 11.0 10.4 10.5 10.2 8.5 9.7
Dividend yield (%) 4.9 5.1 4.7 4.5 4.0 4.8
Price: Earnings ratio 9.1 9.6 9.5 9.8 11.7 10.3
Market capitalisation at 30 September (Rm) 15 897 11 142 11 522 9 588 9 537 6 301
Premium/(discount) over interest of shareholders of 

Barloworld Limited (Rm) 4 743 1 530 288 511 1 639 (943)

* The number of shares in issue has been reduced by 19 090 900 (2003: 19 090 900) shares purchased by a subsidiary company in terms of a programme to buy back the

company’s shares (see note 12).

Refer to note 2 on pages 122 and 123 for a list of definitions.
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SUMMARY IN OTHER CURRENCIES*

for the year ended 30 September 2004

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1 194 949 660 567 961 810
Goodwill and intangible assets 413 224 228 134 333 193
Other non-current assets, investment 

in associates and joint ventures 470 498 259 298 378 425
Deferred taxation assets 77 65 43 39 62 55

2 154 1 736 1 190 1 038 1 734 1 483
Current assets 2 146 1 641 1 186 981 1 728 1 403

Total assets 4 300 3 377 2 376 2 019 3 462 2 886

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium 187 106 103 64 150 91
Reserves and retained income 1 321 1 087 730 649 1 063 930
Non-distributable reserves – 

foreign currency translation 215 190 119 114 173 162

Interest of shareholders of Barloworld Limited 1 723 1 383 952 827 1 386 1 183
Minority interest 111 101 61 60 90 86

Interest of all shareholders 1 834 1 484 1 013 887 1 476 1 269
Non-current liabilities 1 064 692 588 414 857 591

Deferred taxation liabilities 124 88 69 53 100 75
Non-current liabilities 940 604 519 361 757 516

Current liabilities 1 402 1 201 775 718 1 129 1 026

Total equity and liabilities 4 300 3 377 2 376 2 019 3 462 2 886

* These schedules are provided for convenience purposes only. The reporting currency used for the financial statements and notes is South African rand.

US DOLLAR POUND STERLING EURO

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

$m $m £m £m €m €m

% increase – 2003 to 2004
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
Revenue 5 552 4 305 3 081 2 679 4 541 3 990

Operating profit 429 291 238 181 351 270
Fair value adjustments on financial instruments (16) (42) (9) (26) (13) (39)
Finance costs (71) (66) (39) (41) (58) (61)
Income from investments 39 34 22 21 32 32

Profit before exceptional items 381 217 212 135 312 202
Exceptional items 6 10 3 6 5 9

Profit before taxation 387 227 215 141 317 211
Taxation 135 75 75 47 110 70

Profit after taxation 252 152 140 94 207 141
Income from associates and joint ventures 16 14 9 9 13 13

Net profit 268 166 149 103 220 154

Attributable to:
Minority shareholders 38 25 22 15 32 24
Barloworld Limited shareholders 230 141 127 88 188 130

268 166 149 103 220 154

Attributable net profit excluding 
exceptional items 266 156 148 97 218 144

Net profit per share (cents) 115.2 71.7 63.9 44.6 94.2 66.5
Headline earnings per share (cents) 129.8 73.7 72.0 45.9 106.1 68.4
Ordinary dividends per share (cents) 57.5 36.1 31.9 22.5 47.1 33.4

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 
STATEMENTS

Cash flow from operations 477 301 265 187 390 279
Dividends paid (including outside shareholders) (132) (117) (73) (73) (108) (108)

Net cash flow from operating activities 345 184 192 114 282 171
Net cash used in investing activities (322) (226) (178) (140) (262) (209)
Net cash flow (used in)/from financing activities (38) 61 (22) 38 (32) 56

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
cash equivalents (15) 19 (8) 12 (12) 18

Exchange rates used:
Balance sheet – closing rate 6.4749 7.0339 11.7169 11.7650 8.0418 8.2320
Income statement and cash flow statement 

– average rate 6.6051 8.0385 11.9018 12.9141 8.0753 8.6726

US DOLLAR POUND STERLING EURO

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

$m $m £m £m €m €m



ASSETS
Non-current assets 13 946 12 209 6 066 3 384

Property, plant and equipment 4 7 728 6 672 297 245
Other non-current assets 5 1 096 699 5 675 3 071
Goodwill and intangible assets 6 2 674 1 580 30 32
Investment in associates and joint ventures 7 319 535
Finance lease receivables 8 1 631 2 267
Deferred taxation assets 13 498 456 64 36

Current assets 13 896 11 547 249 38

Inventories 9 5 134 5 010
Vehicle rental fleet 4 2 006
Trade and other receivables 10 5 266 4 924 238 22
Taxation 47 66 2 12
Cash and cash equivalents 11 1 443 1 547 9 4

Total assets 27 842 23 756 6 315 3 422

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium 12 1 209 712 1 246 779
Other reserves 1 957 1 893 66 63
Retained income 7 988 7 087 3 345 1 591
Equity portion of convertible bond 14 36

Interest of shareholders of Barloworld Limited 11 154 9 728 4 657 2 433
Minority interest 721 708

Interest of all shareholders 11 875 10 436 4 657 2 433

Non-current liabilities 6 889 4 870 1 596

Interest-bearing 14 4 871 3 404 1 550
Deferred tax liabilities 13 803 621
Non-interest-bearing 14 1 215 845 46

Current liabilities 9 078 8 450 62 989

Amounts due to bankers and short-term loans 15 2 839 2 559 944
Convertible bond 14 180
Taxation 468 461
Trade and other payables 16 5 272 4 746 32 35
Provisions 17 499 504 30 10

Total equity and liabilities 27 842 23 756 6 315 3 422
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BALANCE SHEETS

at 30 September 2004

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Notes Rm Rm Rm Rm



Revenue 18 36 673 34 603 242 197

Operating profit 19 2 836 2 342 2 548 938
Fair value adjustments on financial instruments 20 (107) (334) (8) (9)
Finance costs 21 (468) (531) (132) (108)
Income from investments 22 259 274 3 3

Profit before exceptional items 2 520 1 751 2 411 824
Exceptional items 23 40 81 5 43

Profit before taxation 2 560 1 832 2 416 867
Taxation 24 891 604 (24) 2

Profit after taxation 1 669 1 228 2 440 865
Income from associates and joint ventures 7 107 114

Net profit 1 776 1 342 2 440 865

Attributable to:
Minority shareholders 259 212
Barloworld Limited shareholders 1 517 1 130 2 440 865

1 776 1 342 2 440 865

Net profit per share (cents)
– basic 25.2 760.9 576.4
– fully diluted 25.2 742.9 565.0
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INCOME STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2004

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Notes Rm Rm Rm Rm



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers 36 850 34 011
Cash paid to employees and suppliers (32 599) (30 488) (171) 153

Cash generated from/(utilised by) operations A 4 251 3 523 (171) 153
Finance costs (468) (531) (132) (108)
Realised fair value adjustments on financial instruments (52) (320) (8) (9)
Dividends received from investments and associates 66 69 2 411 837
Interest received 230 244 116 107
Taxation (paid)/refunded B (874) (566) 4 5

Cash flow from operations 3 153 2 419 2 220 985
Dividends paid (including outside shareholders) (871) (940) (686) (809)

Cash retained from operating activities 2 282 1 479 1 534 176

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of subsidiaries C (1 110) (46) (1 061)
Acquisition of property, plant, equipment and intangibles (2 324) (1 882) (74) (34)

Replacement capital expenditure (656) (671) (16) (8)
Expansion capital expenditure (243) (172) (58) (26)
Investment in fleet and equipment rental assets (1 425) (1 039)

Net investment in car hire vehicles D (138)
Investment in instalment sale and leasing receivables (608) (1 103)
Acquisition of investments (445) (248) (2)
Total proceeds 2 501 1 467 6

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 813 363
Proceeds from disposals of investments and other movements 130 125 6
Proceeds on sale of lease receivable book 1 478 881
Proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries E 80 98

Increase in net amounts owing by subsidiaries (1 059) (620)

Net cash used in investing activities (2 124) (1 812) (2 194) (650)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing activities 158 (333) (660) (474)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds on share issue 13 30 13 30
Buy-back of shares in company (4)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 3 405 2 906 1 596
Repayment of long-term borrowings (2 540) (1 842)
(Decrease)/increase in short-term interest-bearing liabilities (1 136) (603) (944) 448

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (258) 487 665 478

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (100) 154 5 4
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1 547 1 754 4
Effect of foreign exchange rate movement on cash balance (4) (361)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1 443 1 547 9 4

All cash at year-end (both years) is available for use.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 September 2004

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Notes Rm Rm Rm Rm



A. Cash generated from/(utilised by) operations 
is calculated as follows:

Profit before taxation 2 560 1 832 2 416 867
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 1 535 1 226 20 20
Amortisation of goodwill and intangible assets 217 174 3 2
(Profit)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment 

including rental assets (130) 19
Profit on disposal of properties (83) (27)
Dividends received (29) (30) (2 411) (837)
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries and investments (25) (65)
Interest received (230) (244) (116) (107)
Finance costs 468 531 132 108
Fair value adjustments on financial instruments 107 334 8 9
Impairment losses 108 45
Reversal of pension fund closure provision (100)
Realisation of translation reserve on liquidation of offshore subsidiary 57
Other non-cash flow items 2 3 6 (4)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 4 457 3 798 58 58
Increase in inventories (213) (463)
Decrease/(increase) in receivables 209 (592) (246) 73
(Decrease)/increase in payables (202) 780 17 22

Cash generated from/(utilised by) operations 4 251 3 523 (171) 153

B. Taxation (paid)/refunded is reconciled to the amounts 
disclosed in the income statement as follows:

Amounts unpaid less overpaid at beginning of year (395) (412) 12 12
Per the income statement (excluding deferred taxation) (814) (625) 4 5
Adjustment in respect of subsidiaries acquired and sold

including translation adjustments (86) 76 (10)
Amounts unpaid less overpaid at end of year 421 395 (2) (12)

Cash amounts paid (874) (566) 4 5

C. Acquisition of subsidiaries:
Inventories 108 30
Receivables 994 18
Payables, taxation and deferred taxation (1 641) (17)
Borrowings net of cash (2 148) (49)
Property, plant and equipment, non-current assets, 

goodwill and outside shareholders 3 525 34

Total net assets acquired 838 16
Less: Existing share of net assets of associates before acquisition 353

Net assets acquired 485 16
Goodwill arising on acquisition 997 30

Total purchase consideration 1 482 46
Less: Barloworld shares issued to acquire Avis Southern Africa 372

Net cash cost of acquisitions 1 110 46

Reconciliation to total acquisition cost
Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions 1 110 46
Bank balances and cash acquired 224 16

Total acquisition cost 1 334 62

D. Net investment in car hire vehicles:
Additions to vehicle rental fleet during the year 1 084
Less: Proceeds on disposal of vehicle rental fleet 946

Net investment in vehicle rental fleet 138

E. Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries:
Inventories 84 127
Receivables 82 27
Payables, taxation and deferred taxation (179) (55)
Borrowings net of cash (93) (12)
Property, plant and equipment, non-current assets, 

goodwill and outside shareholders 183 (37)

Net assets disposed 77 50
Profit on disposal 3 48

Net cash proceeds 80 98
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NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2004

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 September 2004

GROUP
Balance at 1 October 2002 as previously reported 10 672 3 229

Adjustment to opening balances for change in treatment of 
foreign currency goodwill in terms of IAS21 31 166

Balance at 1 October 2002 as restated 10 672 3 395
Reserve released on disposal of available-for-sale investments
Movement on foreign currency translation reserve (2 072)
Decrease in fair value of hedging instruments
Hedge reserves transferred to acquisition cost or carrying amount 

of hedged items – transferred to property, plant and equipment
Decrease in fair value of available-for-sale investments
Shares purchased from minorities
Other reserve movements and reclassifications 14

Net income recognised directly in equity (2 058)
Profit for the year

Total recognised income and expense for the year (2 058)

Dividends on ordinary shares 26
Shares issued in current year 30
Share buy-back

Balance at 30 September 2003 10 702 1 337

Cash settlement of convertible bond
Movement on foreign currency translation reserve (158)
Translation reserves realised on liquidation of offshore subsidiary 57
Decrease in fair value of hedging instruments
Translation effect of deconsolidation of Porthold 157
Decrease in fair value of available-for-sale investments
Minorities in acquisitions
Shares purchased from minorities
Other reserve movements and reclassifications 30

Net income recognised directly in equity 30 56
Profit for the year

Total recognised income and expense for the year 30 56

Dividends on ordinary shares 26
Shares issued in current year 467

Balance at 30 September 2004 10 1 199 1 393

Attributable to Barloworld Limited shareholders
Foreign

currency
Share Share translation

capital premium reserves
Notes Rm Rm Rm
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18 (27) 478 91 6 727 36 11 234 791 12 025

(39) 127 127

18 (27) 478 91 6 688 36 11 361 791 12 152
3 3 3

(2 072) (69) (2 141)
(4) (4) (4)

1 1 1
(6) (6) (6)

(23) (23)
7 (5) 9 25 1 26

(3) (3) 7 (5) 9 (2 053) (91) (2 144)
1 130 1 130 212 1 342

(3) (3) 7 (5) 1 139 (923) 121 (802)

(736) (736) (204) (940)
30 30

(4) (4) (4)

15 (30) 485 86 7 087 36 9 728 708 10 436

(6) (6) (6)
(158) 51 (107)

57 57
17 17 17

157 157
7 7 7

28 28
(83) (83)

(16) 10 (30) (6) 3 (3)

7 17 (16) 10 (36) 68 (1) 67
1 517 1 517 259 1 776

7 17 (16) 1 527 (36) 1 585 258 1 843

(626) (626) (245) (871)
467 467

22 (13) 485 70 7 988 11 154 721 11 875

Cash flow
Revaluation hedging Legal Other Retained Convertible Total

reserves reserves reserves reserves income bond Total Minorities equity
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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COMPANY
Balance at 1 October 2002 12 737 67 1 535 2 351
Other net movements 30 (1) (3) 56 82

Additional shares issued 30 30
Hedge reserves charged (1) (3) (4)
Net profit for the year 865 865
Dividends on ordinary shares 26 (809) (809)

Balance at 30 September 2003 12 767 66 (3) 1 591 2 433
Other net movements 467 3 1 754 2 224

Additional shares issued 467 467
Hedge reserves charged 3 3
Net profit for the year 2 440 2 440
Dividends on ordinary shares 26 (686) (686)

Balance at 30 September 2004 12 1 234 66 3 345 4 657

Revalua-
Share Share tion Hedging Retained

capital premium reserves reserves income Total
Note Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 September 2004

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements are prepared in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and with
South African Statements of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice. They have
been prepared on a basis consistent with
the prior year except for the new and
revised standards adopted per note 31.

The financial statements are prepared
under the historical cost convention except
for certain financial instruments that are
stated at fair value or amortised cost as
appropriate and adjustments, where
applicable, in respect of hyperinflation
accounting.

Preparing financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires estimates
and assumptions that affect reported
amounts and related disclosures. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

The principal accounting policies adopted
are set out below.

1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

1.1 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of
the company and enterprises controlled
by the company up to 30 September each
year. Control is achieved where the
company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an
investee enterprise so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or
up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

All significant intercompany transactions
and balances between group enterprises
are eliminated on consolidation.

On acquisition of a subsidiary, minorities’
interest is measured at the proportion of
the pre-acquisition fair values of the
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

1.2 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to

the acquisition, construction or production
of assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are dealt with
in income in the period in which they are
incurred.

1.3 Comparative figures
When an accounting policy is altered,
comparative figures are restated in
accordance with the new policy where
material.

1.4 Dividends
Dividends declared to equity holders are
included in the statement of changes in
equity in the year in which they are
declared. Taxation costs, including
Secondary Tax on Companies (STC) and
expected future STC savings on unutilised
credits, are dealt with in income in the
year in which dividends are declared.

1.5 Environment and rehabilitation
Group companies are generally required
to restore mine and processing sites at
the end of their producing lives to a
condition acceptable to the relevant
authorities and consistent with the
group’s environmental policies.

Estimating the future costs of these
obligations is complex and requires
management to make estimates and
judgements because most of the
obligations will be fulfilled in the future
and contracts and laws are often not
clear regarding what is required. The
resulting provisions are further
influenced by changing technologies and
political, environmental, safety, business
and statutory considerations.

The expected cost of any committed
decommissioning or restoration pro-
gramme, discounted to its net present
value, is provided and capitalised at the
beginning of each project. The capi-
talised cost is depreciated over the
expected life of the asset and the
increase or decrease in the net present
value of the provision for the expected
cost is included with finance costs.

The cost of ongoing programmes to
prevent and control pollution and to
rehabilitate the environment is charged
against income as incurred.

Annual contributions are made to the
group’s Environmental Rehabilitation
Trust Fund, created in accordance with
statutory requirements, to provide for
the estimated cost of pollution control
and rehabilitation to the end of the life
of the related asset.

1.6 Equity compensation plans
Executive directors and senior executives
have been granted share options in terms
of the Barloworld Share Option Scheme.
After the date on which the options are
exercisable and before the expiry date:
• they can be exercised to purchase

shares for cash or through a loan
from the Barloworld Share Purchase
Trust in which event the shares issued
are accounted for in share capital and
share premium at the amount of the
option price, or

• they can be ceded to an approved
financial institution in which event
there is no increase in share capital or
share premium until the option is
exercised by the financial institution,
at which time they are accounted for
at the amount of the option price.

No charge is taken to the income
statement in respect of the granting of
share options.

1.7 Exceptional items
Exceptional items cover those amounts,
which are not considered to be typical of
the ongoing business, and generally
include profit and loss on disposal of
property, investments and businesses,
other non-current assets, and impairment
losses.

1.8 Employee benefits
In general, the cost of providing
employee benefits is accounted for in the
period in which the benefits are earned
by employees.

Short-term employee benefits
The costs of short-term employee benefits
(those payable within 12 months after
service is rendered, such as paid vacation
and sick leave, bonuses, and non-
monetary benefits such as medical care
and housing), are recognised in the



118

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 September 2004

period in which the service is rendered
and are not discounted. The expected
cost of short-term accumulating
compensated absences is recognised as
an expense as the employees render
service that increases their entitlement
or, in the case of non-accumulating
absences, when the absences occur.

The expected cost of profit-sharing and
bonus payments is recognised as an
expense when there is a legal or
constructive obligation to make such
payments as a result of past performance.

Post-employment benefits
Payments to defined contribution
retirement benefit plans are charged as
an expense as they fall due. Payments
made to industry-managed retirement
benefit schemes are dealt with as defined
contribution plans where the group‘s
obligations under the schemes are
equivalent to those arising in a defined
contribution retirement benefit plan.

For defined benefit plans the cost of
providing the benefits is determined using
the projected unit credit method. Actuarial
valuations are conducted on a triennial
basis with interim valuations performed
on an annual basis. Consideration is given
to any event that could impact the funds
up to balance sheet date where the
interim valuation is performed at an
earlier date.

Actuarial gains and losses which exceed
10% of the greater of the present value
of the group’s pension obligations or the
fair value of plan assets are amortised
over the expected average remaining
working lives of the participating
employees. Gains or losses on the
curtailment or settlement of a defined
benefit plan are recognised in the
income statement when the group is
demonstrably committed to the cur-
tailment or settlement.

Past service costs are recognised
immediately to the extent that the
benefits are already vested, and are
otherwise amortised on a straight-line
basis over the average period until the
amended benefits become vested.

The amount recognised in the balance
sheet represents the present value of the
defined benefit obligation as adjusted for

unrecognised actuarial gains and losses
and unrecognised past service cost, and
reduced by the fair value of plan assets.
Any asset is limited to unrecognised
actuarial losses, plus the present value of
available refunds and reductions in future
contributions to the plan.

To the extent that there is uncertainty as
to the entitlement to the surplus, no
asset is recorded.

1.9 Financial instruments
Measurement
Financial instruments are initially
measured at cost, which includes
transaction costs, when the related
contractual rights or obligations exist.
Subsequent to initial recognition these
instruments are measured as set out
below.

Investments
Investments in securities are recognised at
trade date (the date an entity commits
itself to purchase or sell a financial
instrument). At subsequent reporting
dates, debt securities that the group has
the intention and ability to hold to
maturity (held-to-maturity debt securities)
are measured at amortised cost, less any
impairment losses recognised to reflect
irrecoverable amounts.

Investments other than held-to-maturity
debt securities are classified as either
held for trading or available-for-sale.
Listed investments are carried at market
value, which is calculated by reference to
stock exchange quoted selling prices at
the close of business on the balance sheet
date. Other investments are shown at fair
value (without deduction of transaction
costs which may be incurred upon
disposal), which is determined by
applying a valuation basis such as
discounted expected cash flows, earnings
multiple or other methods appropriate
to the circumstances. 

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables originated
by the group are stated at amortised cost
less provision for doubtful debts unless
the receivable is designated on initial
recognition to be measured at fair value.
Fair value changes are included in net
profit or loss in the period the change
occurs.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at
fair value, based on the relevant exchange
rates at balance sheet date.

Financial liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are
recognised at amortised cost, comprising
original debt less principal payments and
amortisation unless they are designated
on initial recognition to be measured at
fair value. Fair value changes are included
in net profit or loss in the period the
change occurs.

Amortised cost
Amortised cost is calculated using the
effective interest rate method. The
effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument
to the net carrying amount of the
instrument. All fees, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts are
included in the calculation.

Derivative instruments
Derivative instruments are measured at
fair value (without deduction of
transaction costs which may be incurred
upon disposal).

Gains and losses on subsequent
measurements
Unrealised gains and losses on available-
for-sale investments are recognised
directly in equity until the disposal or
impairment of the relevant investment, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is included
in the net profit or loss for the period.

Other gains and losses from a change in
the fair value of financial instruments that
are not part of a hedging relationship are
included in net profit or loss in the period
in which the change arises.

Hedge accounting
For the purposes of hedge accounting,
hedges are classified into three categories:
(a) fair value hedges which hedge the
exposure to changes in fair value of a
recognised asset or liability or an
unrecognised firm commitment that could
affect profit or loss; (b) cash flow hedges,
which hedge exposure to variability in
cash flows that is either attributable to
a particular risk associated with a
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recognised asset or liability or a forecasted
transaction and could affect profit and
loss; and (c) hedges of a net investment in
a foreign entity.

In relation to fair value hedges which meet
the conditions for hedge accounting, any
gain or loss on the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk is included
in the carrying amount of the hedged item
and recognised in income.

In relation to cash flow hedges which
meet the conditions for hedge
accounting the portion of the gain or loss
on the hedging instrument that is
determined to be an effective hedge is
recognised directly in shareholders’
equity and the ineffective portion is
recognised in income. Where the hedge
of a forecast transaction subsequently
results in the recognition of a financial
asset or financial liability, the gains or
losses which are recognised in
shareholders’ equity are transferred to
income in the same period in which the
asset or liability affects income. Where
the hedge of a forecast transaction results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset
or non-financial liability, the associated
gains or losses that had previously been
recognised in shareholders’ equity are
included in the initial measurement of
the acquisition cost or other carrying
amount of the asset or liability.

In relation to hedges of a net investment
in a foreign entity which meet the
conditions for hedge accounting, the
portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument that is determined
to be an effective hedge is recognised
directly in shareholders’ equity and the
ineffective portion is recognised in
income. The gain or loss recognised in
equity is taken to profit or loss on
disposal of the foreign operation.

Hedge accounting is discontinued on a
prospective basis when the hedge no
longer meets the hedge accounting
criteria (including when it becomes
ineffective), when the hedge is sold,
terminated or exercised, when for cash
flow hedges the forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur or when the
hedge designation is revoked.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised once

the contractual right to receive cash
flows has been transferred or has expired
as well as substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are derecognised
when the relevant obligation has either
been discharged or cancelled or it has
expired.

Offset
Financial assets and financial liabilities are
offset and the net amount reported when
a legally enforceable right to set off the
amounts exist and the intention is either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Equity instruments
All transactions relating to the acquisition,
retention and sale of shares in the
company are accounted for in equity.

1.10 Foreign currencies
The functional currency of each
operating business unit is determined
based on the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it
operates. Transactions in currencies other
than the entity’s functional currency are
recorded at the rates of exchange ruling
on the transaction date. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in such
currencies are translated at the rates
ruling on the balance sheet date. Non-
monetary items carried at historical cost
remain to be carried using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value are
reported at the rate that existed when
the fair values were determined.

Profits and losses arising on exchange
differences are dealt with in the income
statement.

The financial statements of overseas
operations whose functional currency is
different from the group’s presentation
currency are translated as follows on
consolidation:

Assets, including goodwill, and liabilities,
at exchange rates ruling on the balance
sheet date, income and expense items at
the average exchange rates for the period
and equity at exchange rates ruling on
the dates of the transactions. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are classified as
equity and transferred to the Group’s

foreign entity translation reserve. Such
translation differences are recognised in
the income statement in the period in
which the operation is disposed.

The financial statements of foreign
entities that report in the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy are restated
for the decrease in general purchasing
power of the currency at the balance
sheet date before they are translated
into South African rand.

1.11 Goodwill and negative goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation
represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the group’s interest in
the fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or
jointly controlled entity at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill is recognised as an
asset and stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses and,
with the exception mentioned below, is
amortised on a systematic basis over its
estimated useful life subject to a
maximum of 20 years. Goodwill acquired
in a business combination for which the
agreement date is on or after 31 March
2004 is not amortised but tested for
impairment on an annual basis.

Any negative goodwill that arises where
the fair value of the Group’s interest
in the identifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary exceeds the cost of
acquisition is taken to profit immediately:
• where there is no expectation of

future losses;
• in respect of non-monetary assets to

the extent whereby the negative
goodwill exceeds the fair value of
acquired identifiable assets; and

• in respect of monetary assets.

To the extent that negative goodwill
relates to depreciable assets, it is
recognised as profit over the useful life
of those assets.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of
subsidiaries, associates and jointly con-
trolled entities is presented separately in
the balance sheet.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or
jointly controlled entity, the attributable
amount of unamortised goodwill is
included in the determination of the
profit or loss on disposal.
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1.12 Government grants
Government grants towards staff re-
training costs are recognised as income
over the periods necessary to match them
with the related costs and are deducted
in reporting the related expense. Income
is not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that it will be received.

1.13 Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, the group
reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
The recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s fair value less costs to sell or
value in use. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amounts are
estimated taking into account future
cash flows, forecast market conditions
and the expected lives of the assets.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, its carrying
amount is reduced to the higher of its
recoverable amount or zero. Impairment
losses are recognised in the income
statement. The loss is first allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of goodwill
and then to the other assets of the
cash generating unit. Subsequent to the
recognition of an impairment loss, the
depreciation or amortisation charge for
the asset is adjusted to allocate its
remaining carrying value, less any residual
value, over its remaining useful life.

Impaired goodwill is only reversed when
the associated business is sold.

Other than for goodwill, where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash
generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable
amount. This is done so that the
increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior

years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement.

1.14 Intangible assets (other than 
goodwill)

Included in intangible assets are patents,
trademarks, capitalised research and
development cost and certain costs of
purchase and installation of major
information systems (including packaged
software). Intangible assets are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses and are amortised over
their expected useful lives (generally three
to seven years) on a straight-line basis.

1.15 Interests in joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual
arrangement whereby the group and
other parties undertake an economic
activity which is subject to joint control.

The group’s interests in joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Where a group enterprise transacts with
a jointly controlled entity, unrealised
profits and losses are eliminated to the
extent of the group’s interest in the
relevant entity.

1.16 Internally generated intangible
assets – exploration, research and
development expenditure

Exploration and research costs are
expensed in the year in which they
are incurred. Development costs are
capitalised only after the technical and
commercial feasibility of the asset for sale
or use have been established based on the
group’s intention and ability to complete
the intangible asset and either use it or sell
it and to demonstrate how the asset will
generate future economic benefits.
Development costs are reviewed annually
and are expensed if they do not qualify for
capitalisation. If a project is abandoned
during the development stage, the total
accumulated expenditure is then written
off. Capitalised development costs are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life.

1.17 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost includes cost
of purchase (including taxes, transport,
and handling) net of trade discounts
received, cost of conversion (including
fixed and variable manufacturing

overheads) and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Where appro-
priate, cost is calculated on a specific
identification basis. Otherwise the first-in-
first-out method or, in certain subsidiaries,
the weighted average method is used.

Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated
costs to completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount is recognised as an expense in
the period in which the related revenue
is recognised. Any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value,and all
losses of inventories or reversals of
previous write downs or losses are
recognised in income in the period the
write-down, loss or reversal occurs.

1.18 Investments in associates
An associate is an enterprise over which the
group is in a position to exercise significant
influence, through participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee.

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates are incorporated in these
financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The carrying
amount of such investments is reduced to
recognise any decline, other than a
temporary decline, in the value of
individual investments.

On acquisition of the investment in an
associate, any difference (whether
positive or negative) between the cost of
acquisition and the group’s share of the
fair values of the net identifiable assets of
the associate is included in the carrying
value of the associate but accounted for
as goodwill as per note 1.11 above.

Where a group enterprise transacts with
an associate of the group, unrealised
profits and losses are eliminated to the
extent of the group’s interest in the
relevant associate.

1.19 Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases
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are classified as operating leases.
Classification is made at the inception of
the lease.

The group as lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance
leases are recorded as receivables at the
amount of the group’s net investment in
the leases, which includes initial direct
cost, except where the group acts as
manufacturer or dealer lessor. Finance
lease income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.

The group as lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets
(and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment per note 1.23) and liabilities
of the group at the lower of the fair
value of the asset and the present value
of the minimum lease payments at the
date of acquisition. Finance costs
represent the difference between the
total leasing commitments and the fair
value of the assets acquired. They are
charged to the income statement over
the term of the relevant lease and at
interest rates applicable to the lease on
the remaining balance of the obligations
for each accounting period.

Rentals payable under operating leases
are charged to income on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

1.20 Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal group)
are classified as held for sale if the
carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use.

Discontinuing operations are classified as
held for sale and are either a separate
major line of business or geographical
area of operations that have been sold or
are part of a single co-ordinated plan to
be disposed of.

At the time of classification as held for
sale the carrying amount of the item
is measured in accordance with the

applicable IFRS. After classification as
held for sale, it is measured at the lower
of the carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. An impairment loss is
recognised in income for any initial and
subsequent write-down of the asset or
disposal group to fair value less costs to
sell. A gain for any subsequent increase
in fair value less costs to sell is recognised
in income to the extent that it is not in
excess of the cumulative impairment loss
that has been previously recognised.

Non-current assets or disposal groups
that are classified as held for sale, are not
depreciated.

1.21 Partnership interests
Partnership interests are accounted for in
the group accounts by consolidation of
the financial position and results of the
partnerships.

1.22 Patents and trademarks
Patents and trademarks are measured
initially at cost and amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives, which is on average 10 years.

1.23 Property, plant and equipment
Properties in the course of construction
for production, rental or administrative
purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss where the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated to be
lower than its carrying value.

Other items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off
the depreciable value of the assets, other
than land, over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, on
the following basis:
Aircraft: 5 years
Buildings: 25 to 50 years
Plant: 5 to 35 years
Vehicles: 5 to 10 years
Furniture and 
equipment: 3 to 10 years

Where appropriate, expected residual
values are taken into account in deter-
mining the depreciable value of assets.

Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their expected useful

lives or the term of the relevant lease,
where shorter.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or
scrapping of property, plant, and
equipment is recognised in the income
statement.

The cost model is applied in accounting
for investment properties. In terms of this
model, investment properties are
recorded at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

1.24 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the
group has a present legal or constructive
obligation, as a result of past events, for
which it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made for the amount of
the obligation. Where the effect of
discounting to present value is material,
provisions are adjusted to reflect the
time value of money.

1.25 Revenue recognition
Included in revenue are net invoiced sales
to customers for goods and services,
rentals from leasing fixed and movable
property, commission, hire purchase and
finance lease income. Sales of goods are
recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed. Revenue arising
from services, commission, royalties and
rebates is recognised on the accrual basis
in accordance with the substance of the
relevant agreements. Revenue excludes
indirect taxes.

Maintenance and repair contracts are
operated in the Equipment, Industrial
Distribution and Avis Leasing businesses.
Management exercises its judgement in
applying the percentage of completion
method to recognise revenue on long-
term maintenance contracts. The
deferred revenue reserve is based on the
anticipated cost of repairs over the life
cycle of the equipment applied to the
total expected revenue arising from
maintenance and repair contracts.

Buy-back (repurchase) arrangements with
customers are periodically concluded in
the Equipment and Motor segments. The
likelihood of the repurchase commitments
being exercised is assessed at each
reporting period. Significant assumptions
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used in estimating residual values are
based on past experience as well as
expected future market conditions and
projected disposal values.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the interest rate applicable.

Dividend income from investments is
recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment have been
established.

1.26 Segmental reporting
Segment accounting policies are
consistent with those adopted for the
preparation of the financial statements
of the consolidated group. The primary
basis for reporting segment information
is business segments and the secondary
basis is by significant geographical
region, which is based on the location of
assets. The basis is consistent with
internal reporting for management
purposes as well as the source and nature
of business risks and returns. All intra-
segment transactions are eliminated
upon consolidation.

1.27 Taxation
The charge for current tax is based on the
results for the year as adjusted for items
which are non-assessable or disallowed.
It is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method in respect of
temporary differences arising from
differences between the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. In principle, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill,
negative goodwill or from the acquisition
of an asset, which does not affect either
taxable or accounting income.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on

investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures,
except where the group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled. Deferred tax is charged or credited
in the income statement, except when it
relates to items credited or charged
directly to equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

1.28 Other judgements made by
management in applying
the accounting policies that have a
significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial
statements

De-consolidation of Portland Holdings
Limited (Porthold)
The results of Porthold, a wholly owned
Zimbabwean subsidiary of Pretoria
Portland Cement Company Limited have
not been consolidated in the group
results as at 30 September 2004 in terms
of the exclusions contained in IAS27
(Consolidated Financial Statements and
Accounting for Investments in
Subsidiaries). Future developments in
Zimbabwe could impact on the
accounting treatment and carrying value
of the investment in Porthold. Refer note
31 on page 157 for details.

2. RATIO DEFINITIONS
2.1 Cash flow return on investment

(CFROI®)
CFROI® represents an internal rate of
return calculation for the business as a
whole using the following components:
• Gross cash flow (the after tax cash

flow from the company’s operations
consisting of accounting operating
profit before depreciation, amorti-
sation and other non-cash items
adjusted for the add back of lease
costs) (Pmt)

• Recurring annually over the estimated
average economic asset life of the
asset base (including leased assets) (n)

• Plus working capital and other non-
depreciating assets (eg land and
estimated residuals on rental assets)
realised at the end of the life (Fv)

• Expressed as a return on current

inflation adjusted gross assets (both
depreciating and non-depreciating and
including operating leases capitalised
at today’s real interest rate) (Pv)

For further authoritative reading please
refer to the book “CFROI VALUATION” a
Total System Approach to Valuing the
Firm by Bartley J Madden published by
Butterworth – Heinemann Finance (ISBN
0 7506 3865 6). CFROI® is a registered
trademark in the United States of Credit
Suisse First Boston or its subsidiaries or
affiliates.

Cost of capital
In terms of the CSFB HOLT methodology,
this is an empirically market derived real
discount rate which is company-specific
with adjustments for size and financial
leverage differentials.

It is the real cost of capital against which
our CFROI® returns are measured for
performance management purposes
(internal minimum hurdle rate has been
set at 8%) and is the discount rate
generally used in discounted cash flow
(DCF) calculations for valuation purposes.

Total shareholder return
Total shareholder return is the nominal
return on investment for equity holders
of the business and represents capital
appreciation in the share price plus
dividends paid expressed as a percentage
of the share price at the beginning of
the year.

2.2 Current ratio
Current assets divided by current
liabilities.

2.3 Dividend cover
Headline earnings per share divided by
dividends per share declared in respect of
current year’s earnings.

2.4 Dividend yield
Dividends per share declared in respect
of current year’s earnings expressed as a
percentage of the closing market price
per share at year-end.

2.5 Earnings per share
Basic
Net profit per share
Net profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders of Barloworld Limited for
the year divided by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.
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Headline earnings per share
Net profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders of Barloworld Limited for
the year adjusted for goodwill
amortisation and capital profits or losses
net of tax and minority interest thereof,
divided by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Fully diluted
All earnings numbers as in the basic
calculations above are adjusted by the
after tax interest saving assuming
conversion of convertible bond where
the effect is dilutive. The weighted
average number of shares in issue is
increased by the number of additional
shares in issue assuming conversion of
the dilutive convertible bond and the
number of additional shares issued
assuming the conversion of dilutive
options excluding the number of
notional shares issued at full value.

2.6 Earnings yield
Headline earnings per share expressed as
a percentage of the closing market price
per share at year-end.

2.7 Effective rate of taxation
Taxation (excluding prior year taxation,
exceptional taxation and secondary
taxation on companies) expressed as a
percentage of profit before taxation
(excluding exceptional items and
goodwill amortisation).

2.8 Employment cost per employee
Employment cost divided by the average
number of employees.

2.9 Interest cover
Total group
Profit before goodwill amortisation,
interest paid and taxation divided by
interest paid including interest
capitalised. (Profit includes income from
investments, but excludes share of
associate companies’ profits).

Trading businesses
Calculated as above but only for the
manufacturing and dealership businesses.

Leasing businesses
Calculated as above but only for the
long-term leasing businesses (including
fleet services).

Car rental businesses
Calculated as above but only for the
short-term car hire businesses.

2.10 Net assets
Segment assets less segment liabilities.

2.11 Net asset turn
Revenue divided by average net assets.

2.12 Net asset value per share
Interest of shareholders of Barloworld
Limited, including investments at market
value, divided by the total number of
ordinary shares in issue.

2.13 Net borrowings/EBITDA
Total interest-bearing liabilities minus
cash on hand divided by the sum of
operating profit, amortisation of
intangible assets and depreciation.

2.14 Number of years to repay interest-
bearing debt – gross

The ratio of total borrowings to cash
available from operations.

2.15 Operating margin
Operating profit expressed as a percentage
of revenue.

2.16 Quick ratio
Current assets excluding inventories
divided by current liabilities.

2.17 Price: Earnings ratio
The ratio of the closing market price per
share at year-end divided by headline
earnings per share.

2.18 Revenue per employee
Revenue for the year divided by the
average number of employees.

2.19 Return on net assets
Profit before interest paid and taxation
less goodwill amortisation but including
income from investments and share of
associate companies’ retained profits
expressed as a percentage of average net
assets.

2.20 Return on ordinary shareholders’
funds (excluding exceptional items)

Net profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders of Barloworld Limited less
exceptional items (net of exceptional tax
and minorities’ share of exceptional

items) expressed as a percentage of
average interest of shareholders of
Barloworld Limited.

2.21 Segment assets
Total assets less cash on hand, deferred
and current taxation assets.

2.22 Segment liabilities
Non-interest-bearing current and non-
current liabilities, excluding deferred and
current taxation liabilities.

2.23 Segment result
Segment result represents operating
profit plus any other items that are
directly attributable to segments
including fair value adjustments on
financial instruments. Interest costs are
excluded due to the centralised nature of
the group’s treasury operations.

2.24 Total assets
Property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, non-current assets and
current assets.

2.25 Total borrowings to total
shareholders’ funds

Total group
Total interest-bearing debt expressed as a
percentage of total shareholders’ interest.

Trading businesses
Calculated as above but only for the
manufacturing and dealership businesses.

Leasing businesses
Calculated as above but only for the
long-term leasing businesses (including
fleet services).

Car rental businesses
Calculated as above but only for the
short-term car hire businesses.

2.26 Total liabilities
Current liabilities and long-term liabilities.
Deferred taxation is excluded.

2.27 Wealth created per employee
Wealth created during the year divided
by the average number of employees.
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for the year ended 30 September 2004

Consolidated Eliminations Equipment Industrial Distribution

Trading Leasing Trading Leasing
R millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

3. BUSINESS AND 
GEOGRAPHICAL 
SEGMENTS*

Revenue
Southern Africa 20 149 18 804 4 939 5 318 180 207
Europe 9 065 9 568 5 117 5 383 1 888 2 052 386 383
North America 4 935 3 675 4 300 3 135 99 74
Australia and Asia 2 524 2 556

36 673 34 603 10 056 10 701 180 207 6 188 5 187 485 457
Inter-segment revenue** (1 578) (1 247) 812 584 53

36 673 34 603 (1 578) (1 247) 10 868 11 285 180 207 6 188 5 240 485 457

Segment result
Operating profit/(loss) before 

goodwill amortisation
Southern Africa 2 240 1 700 527 568 28 43
Europe 664 682 475 514 77 80 55 40
North America 49 16 50 33 (6) 6
Australia and Asia 31 57

2 984 2 455 1 002 1 082 28 43 127 113 49 46
Goodwill amortisation (148) (113) (1) (1) (24) (24)

Operating profit 2 836 2 342 1 001 1 081 28 43 103 89 49 46
Fair value adjustments

on financial instruments (107) (334) (121) (332)

Total segment result 2 729 2 008 880 749 28 43 103 89 49 46

By geographical region
Southern Africa 2 026 1 301 406 237 28 43
Europe 659 675 474 512 74 79 55 40
North America 19 (18) 29 10 (6) 6
Australia and Asia 25 50

Total segment result 2 729 2 008 880 749 28 43 103 89 49 46
Income from associates

and joint ventures 107 114 3 (1) (3)

Segment result including 
associate income 2 836 2 122 883 749 28 43 102 86 49 46

Finance costs (468) (531)
Income from investments 259 274
Exceptional items 40 81

2 667 1 946
Taxation (891) (604)

Net profit for the year 1 776 1 342

Cash flows per segment
Cash flows from 

operating activities 2 282 1 479 731 289 106 146 161 122 352 274
Cash flows from 

investing activities (2 124) (1 812) (609) (383) 1 398 (537) 2 (322) (979) (696)
Cash flows from 

financing activities (258) 487 141 369 (1 433) (550) (132) (114) 776 461

Non-cash expenses 
per segment

Depreciation 1 535 1 226 410 327 35 35 174 203 228 223
Amortisation of 

intangibles excluding 
goodwill 69 61 27 22 13 9

Impairment losses 108 45 (1) 81 110

* The geographical segments are determined by the location of assets.
** Inter-segment revenue is priced on an arm’s length basis.
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Cement Corporate
Motor & Lime Coatings Scientific Steel Tube and other

Trading Leasing Car Rental
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

7 501 6 954 295 75 369 3 440 3 016 1 374 1 225 1 739 1 736 312 273
246 928 1 167 500 583

536 466
1 331 1 393 1 034 1 028 159 135

8 832 8 347 295 75 615 3 440 3 016 2 408 2 253 1 623 1 768 1 739 1 736 812 856
142 178 120 133 30 504 269

8 974 8 525 295 75 615 3 440 3 016 2 528 2 386 1 623 1 798 1 739 1 736 1 316 1 125

111 95 51 10 87 1 171 866 218 130 46 10 1 (22)
47 40 57 (30) (9)

5 (23)
3 23 23 34 5

114 118 51 10 134 1 171 866 241 164 50 34 46 10 (29) (31)
(13) (20) (35) (2) (1) (19) (23) (54) (44)

101 98 51 10 99 1 171 866 239 163 31 11 46 10 (83) (75)

(3) (16) 7 (5) (8) 1 6 28 16 (14)

98 82 51 10 99 1 171 873 234 155 31 12 52 38 (67) (89)

100 65 51 10 59 1 171 873 212 122 52 38 (53) (87)
40 30 46 (14) (2)

(4) (34)
(2) 17 22 33 5

98 82 51 10 99 1 171 873 234 155 31 12 52 38 (67) (89)

59 76 11 6 27 30 8 5

157 158 51 10 99 1 182 879 261 185 31 12 60 43 (67) (89)

(57) (59) 125 (75) 233 572 629 101 245 71 156 97 9 (210) (257)

100 (38) (433) 883 (1 082) (44) (137) (49) (146) 84 (61) (9) (51) (503) (324)

4 129 256 73 1 001 34 (21) (32) 5 (15) (92) (22) 24 (836) 203

35 28 145 1 140 152 170 57 53 60 68 30 27 69 91

4 6 5 8 11 9 2 2 7 5
27 30 3 5 (3) 1 (100)



Consolidated Eliminations Equipment Industrial Distribution

Trading Leasing Trading Leasing
R millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

3. BUSINESS AND 
GEOGRAPHICAL 
SEGMENTS*
continued

Assets
Property, plant and

equipment 7 728 6 672 1 900 1 687 201 597 549 664 603
Other non-current assets 1 096 699 (6) 32 (9) 19 98 1
Goodwill and

intangible assets 2 674 1 580 138 161 192 285
Investment in associates

and joint ventures 319 535 133 20
Long-term finance

lease receivables 1 631 2 267 37 2 847 1 582 1 405
Inventories 5 134 5 010 2 292 2 220 620 543
Vehicle rental fleet 2 006
Trade and other receivables 5 266 4 924 1 732 1 795 343 581 665 526 371

Segment assets 25 854 21 687 6 226 5 917 1 382 2 009 2 140 2 773 2 379

By geographical region
Southern Africa 13 635 10 874 2 691 2 405 1 382
Europe 8 758 7 302 3 535 3 512 740 688 1 957 1 744
North America 2 462 2 510 1 269 1 452 816 635
Australia and Asia 999 1 001

Total segment assets 25 854 21 687 6 226 5 917 1 382 2 009 2 140 2 773 2 379

Taxation 47 66
Deferred tax assets 498 456
Cash and cash equivalents 1 443 1 547

Consolidated total assets 27 842 23 756

* The geographical segments are determined by the location of assets.
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Cement Corporate
Motor & Lime Coatings Scientific Steel Tube and other

Trading Leasing Car Rental
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

355 305 1 337 82 1 240 1 533 294 291 302 411 237 243 720 849
8 (6) 9 6 674 366 10 86 124 2 308 73

42 208 1 152 15 10 39 18 222 267 3 4 871 627

27 342 8 16 78 90 12 5 61 62

12 13
916 923 215 237 365 335 402 378 320 318 4 56

35 1 971
301 283 67 376 441 398 452 403 352 361 283 262 155 43

1 649 2 055 1 439 9 3 587 2 593 2 560 1 228 1 147 1 364 1 541 855 834 2 131 1 723

1 247 1 624 1 439 9 2 252 2 593 2 560 779 710 855 834 1 779 1 350
1 335 7 839 978 352 373

377 423
402 431 449 430 148 140

1 649 2 055 1 439 9 3 587 2 593 2 560 1 228 1 147 1 364 1 541 855 834 2 131 1 723
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for the year ended 30 September 2004

Consolidated Eliminations Equipment Industrial Distribution

Trading Leasing Trading Leasing
R millions 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

3. BUSINESS AND 
GEOGRAPHICAL 
SEGMENTS*
continued

Liabilities
Long-term 

non-interest-bearing 1 215 845 515 491 81 63 69 51
Trade and other payables

including provisions 5 771 5 250 1 956 2 033 7 665 645 38 58

Segment liabilities 6 986 6 095 2 471 2 524 7 746 708 107 109

By geographical region
Southern Africa 3 568 2 894 861 899 7
Europe 2 684 2 501 1 610 1 625 405 368 104 107
North America 414 409 341 340 3 2
Australia and Asia 320 291

Total segment liabilities 6 986 6 095 2 471 2 524 7 746 708 107 109

Interest-bearing liabilities 7 710 6 143
Deferred tax liabilities 803 621
Taxation 468 461

Consolidated total 
liabilities 15 967 13 320

Capital additions
Southern Africa 1 900 1 184 525 561
Europe 1 078 420 287 283 57 38 101 18
North America 301 185 176 76 109 88
Australia and Asia 77 55

3 356 1 844 812 844 233 114 210 106

* The geographical segments are determined by the location of assets.
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Cement Corporate
Motor & Lime Coatings Scientific Steel Tube and other

Trading Leasing Car Rental
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

40 15 135 50 119 118 70 65 16 14 120 28

711 666 114 1 462 329 339 483 456 257 249 374 327 382 469

751 681 249 1 512 448 457 553 521 273 263 374 327 502 497

686 629 249 1 296 448 457 370 334 374 327 284 240
216 131 144 218 257

70 67
65 52 183 187 72 52

751 681 249 1 512 448 457 553 521 273 263 374 327 502 497

91 70 360 551 80 164 39 32 28 53 226 304
542 88 46 3 35

16 21
55 24 18 24 4 7

146 94 360 1 093 80 164 57 56 108 74 28 53 229 339

Margin at segment result level (%)
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 September 2004

3.1 SEGMENTATION FOR PURPOSE OF GEARING AND INTEREST COVER TARGETS
These schedules are provided to assist users to gain a better understanding of how the group segments its balance sheet and
income statement in order to set appropriate gearing and interest cover targets. For this purpose three broad segments have
been defined namely:
– Trading (manufacturing and dealership businesses)
– Leasing (long-term leasing solutions including fleet services)
– Car Rental (short-term car hire)

In view of the nature of the Leasing and Car rental businesses, these operations are more highly geared and in this respect are
different from the rest of the group. Short term equipment rental businesses are included as part of the Trading operations.

Total Group Trading Leasing Car rental
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Cost 15 805 12 433 10 697 10 687 2 975 1 746 2 133
Accumulated depreciation 6 071 5 761 5 052 4 819 940 942 79

Net book value * 9 734 6 672 5 645 5 868 2 035 804 2 054
Less: Vehicle rental fleet and 

vehicles held for sale reflected 
under current assets 2 006 34 1 972

Property, plant and equipment – 
Net book value 7 728 6 672 5 645 5 868 2 001 804 82

Goodwill and intangible assets 2 674 1 580 1 522 1 580 1 152
Finance lease receivables – long term 1 631 2 267 49 15 1 582 2 252
Other non-current assets, investment 

in associates and joint ventures 1 415 1 234 1 408 1 234 1 6
Deferred taxation assets 498 456 388 456 79 31

Non-current assets 13 946 12 209 9 012 9 153 3 663 3 056 1 271
Current assets 13 896 11 547 10 772 10 775 690 772 2 434

Finance lease receivables – short term 536 579 79 (142) 457 721
Cash and cash equivalents 1 443 1 547 1 314 1 496 62 51 67
Other current assets 11 917 9 421 9 379 9 421 171 2 367

Total assets 27 842 23 756 19 784 19 928 4 353 3 828 3 705

Equity and liabilities
Interest of all shareholders 11 875 10 436 10 583 10 040 542 396 750

Non-current liabilities 6 889 4 870 2 912 3 068 2 235 1 802 1 742

Deferred taxation liabilities 803 621 462 550 208 71 133
Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 4 871 3 404 1 489 1 724 1 823 1 680 1 559
Non-interest-bearing 1 215 845 961 794 204 51 50

Current liabilities 9 078 8 450 6 289 6 820 1 576 1 630 1 213

Amounts due to bankers and 
short-term loans 2 839 2 739 733 1 193 1 419 1 546 687

Other current liabilities 6 239 5 711 5 556 5 627 157 84 526

Total equity and liabilities 27 842 23 756 19 784 19 928 4 353 3 828 3 705

* Property, plant and equipment – 
Leasing and Car rental net book 
value as above 4 089 804

Other short-term equipment 
rental assets (included in Trading) 1 648 1 464

Total rental assets net book 
value per note 4 5 737 2 268
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3.1 SEGMENTATION FOR PURPOSE
OF GEARING AND INTEREST 
COVER TARGETS continued

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
Revenue 36 673 34 603 35 098 33 864 960 739 615

Operating profit before depreciation, 
goodwill amortisation and 
leasing interest paid 4 809 3 976 3 745 3 279 790 697 274

Leasing interest paid included in 
cost of sales (290) (295) (290) (295)

Depreciation (1 535) (1 226) (1 023) (923) (372) (303) (140)
Goodwill amortisation (148) (113) (113) (113) (35)

Operating profit 2 836 2 342 2 609 2 243 128 99 99
Fair value adjustments on 

financial instruments (107) (334) (107) (334)
Finance costs (468) (531) (371) (531) (1) (96)
Income from investments 259 274 223 274 6 30

Profit before exceptional items 2 520 1 751 2 354 1 652 133 99 33
Exceptional items 40 81 45 81 (5)

Profit before taxation 2 560 1 832 2 399 1 733 128 99 33
Taxation 891 604 831 571 39 33 21

Profit after taxation 1 669 1 228 1 568 1 162 89 66 12
Income from associates and 

joint ventures 107 114 78 114 29

Net profit 1 776 1 342 1 646 1 276 89 66 41

Attributable to:
Minority shareholders 259 212 244 212 15
Barloworld Limited shareholders 1 517 1 130 1 402 1 064 74 66 41

1 776 1 342 1 646 1 276 89 66 41

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS BY SEGMENT
Total borrowings to total 

shareholders’ funds (%)**
Actual 64.9 58.9 21.0 29.1 598.2 814.6 299.5
Target (note 1) 20 – 40 600 – 800 200 – 300

Interest cover (times)**
Actual 4.5 3.3 7.6 4.3 1.5 1.3 1.7
Target > 3 > 5 > 1 > 2

Note 1 – The group target is dependent on the relative mix of assets between the three segments.

# The income received on the leasing net assets (finance and rental income) and the interest paid on the borrowings are regarded as operational items and are
included in operating profits. Leasing results are stated excluding consolidation adjustments and inter-group eliminations.

** Refer to note 2 on pages 122 and 123 for definitions.

Total Group Trading Leasing # Car rental

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 September 2004

4. PROPERTY, PLANT 
AND EQUIPMENT

Group
Freehold land and buildings 1 637 392 1 245 1 794 387 1 407
Leasehold land and buildings 246 59 187 217 55 162
Investment property 17 3 14 31 5 26
Plant, equipment and furniture 4 117 2 543 1 574 4 482 2 636 1 846
Vehicles and aircraft 964 409 555 956 374 582
Capitalised leased plant and 

equipment, vehicles and furniture 579 179 400 509 152 357
Environmental rehabilitation assets 39 17 22 40 16 24
Rental assets – vehicles 3 500 180 3 320
Rental assets – equipment 4 706 2 289 2 417 4 404 2 136 2 268

15 805 6 071 9 734 12 433 5 761 6 672

Less: Vehicle rental fleet and 
vehicles held for sale reflected 
under current assets+ 2 006

7 728 6 672

+ Made up as follows:
Vehicle rental fleet 1 887
Vehicle fleet held for sale 119

2 006

Company
Freehold land and buildings 124 21 103 118 18 100
Equipment, vehicles, 

aircraft and furniture 242 48 194 176 31 145

366 69 297 294 49 245

Property, plant and equipment with a net book value of R1 062 million (2003: R1 203 million) is encumbered as reflected in note 14.

The insurable value of the group’s property, plant and equipment as at 30 September 2004 amounted to R26 641 million (2003:
R25 668 million). This is based on the cost of replacement of such assets, except for motor vehicles and certain selected assets,
which are included at estimated retail value.

Nine investment properties (2003: sixteen) are held of which nine are income generating (2003: fourteen) and none are vacant
(2003: two). Income earned during the 2004 financial year amounts to R4 million (2003: R8 million), while direct operating
expenses incurred were R1 million (2003: R1 million).

The fair value of the investment properties is R59 million (2003: R61 million). The valuations were done by a chartered surveyor
on the existing use value method.

The registers of land and buildings are open for inspection at the registered offices of the companies.

The historic value of land and residual value of plant and equipment amounts to R1 686 million (2003: R1 024 million).

2004 2003

Accumulated Accumulated

depreciation Net depreciation Net

and book and book

Cost impairments value Cost impairments value

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT 
AND EQUIPMENT
continued

Group
Movement of property, plant 

and equipment
2004
Net balance at 1 October 2003 1 569 26 1 846 582 357 24 2 268 6 672
Subsidiaries acquired 51 66 8 19 3 112 166 3 422
Other additions 118 361 212 85 1 506 1 074 3 356
Impairment of assets 4 (28) (24)
Translation differences (net) ** (59) (7) (5) 1 (1) 52 (37) (56)

1 683 26 2 266 797 462 23 4 670 3 443 13 370
Other disposals (199) (11) (331) (119) (16) (1 079) (346) (2 101)
Depreciation (52) (1) (361) (123) (46) (1) (271) (680) (1 535)

Net balance at 30 September 2004 1 432 14 1 574 555 400 22 3 320 2 417 9 734

Less: Vehicle rental fleet and 
vehicles held for sale reflected 
under current assets 2 006

Balance reflected as property, 
plant and equipment 7 728

2003
Net balance at 1 October 2002 1 762 31 2 253 588 288 25 2 618 7 565
Subsidiaries acquired 26 1 2 6 35
Other additions 142 12 363 168 120 1 039 1 844
Impairment of assets (8) 102 1 95
Translation differences (net) ** (288) (422) (22) (536) (1 268)

1 634 43 2 297 737 408 25 3 127 8 271
Other disposals (8) (15) (69) (52) (18) (211) (373)
Depreciation (57) (2) (382) (103) (33) (1) (648) (1 226)

Net balance at 30 September 2003 1 569 26 1 846 582 357 24 2 268 6 672

2004 2003
* Future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases: Rm Rm

Within one year 1 116 266
Two to five years 1 073 393
More than five years 172 16

2 361 675

** The translation differences are made up as follows:
Cost (141) (2 703)
Accumulated depreciation 85 1 435

(56) (1 268)

Equipment rental assets include the following: 
– Materials handling equipment rented to customers in South Africa, the United Kingdom and the United States and capital

equipment in southern Africa and Europe.

Vehicle rental assets include the following:
– Short-term motor vehicle fleet in South Africa, Scandinavia, Botswana, Namibia and Mozambique for rent to customers for

periods varying between 1 to 30 days. In South Africa 22% of the fleet value carries a guaranteed buy-back from the
manufacturer and 100% in Scandinavia.

– Long-term vehicle fleet in southern Africa leased to customers for periods in excess of 12 months with an average lease term
of 32 months and a residual value of 40%.

Freehold
and Plant, Environ-

lease- equip- Capital- mental Rental
hold Invest- ment Vehicles ised rehabili- Rental assets –

land and ment and and leased tation assets – equip-
buildings property furniture aircraft assets assets vehicles* ment* Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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for the year ended 30 September 2004

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued
Company
Movement of property, plant and equipment
2004
Net balance at 1 October 2003 100 15 130 245
Other additions 6 6 61 73

106 21 191 318
Other disposals (1) (1)
Depreciation (3) (5) (12) (20)

Net balance at 30 September 2004 103 16 178 297

2003
Net balance at 1 October 2002 97 16 118 231
Other additions 6 5 23 34

103 21 141 265
Depreciation (3) (6) (11) (20)

Net balance at 30 September 2003 100 15 130 245

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm

5. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interest in subsidiaries 5 628 3 054
Listed and unlisted investments 56 56 5 5
Preference shares (note 35) * 247 247
Investment in Portland Holdings Limited 315
Bills and leases discounted with recourse and 

repurchase obligations 13 48
Pension fund assets (note 30) 205 175
Other receivables 206 143
Other derivatives 30 32
Other non-current loans and deposits ** 14 18
Barloworld Share Purchase Scheme # 10 12 10 12

1 096 699 5 675 3 071

Interest in subsidiaries
Shares as originally stated (note 34) 1 993 478
Amounts written off (2)
Amounts owing by subsidiaries (note 34) 4 212 3 452

6 205 3 928
Amounts owing to subsidiaries (note 34) 577 874

5 628 3 054

Freehold 

and leasehold Plant,

land and equipment Vehicles

buildings and furniture and aircraft Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm

5. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS continued
Available-for-sale investments (note 35)
Listed investments opening balance 8 17 1
Disposals and other movements (3) (5) (1)
Fair value adjustment in current year 3 (4)

Fair value of listed investments 8 8

Unlisted investments opening balance 48 52 5 5
Additions, disposals and other movements (4) (6)
Fair value adjustment in current year 4 2

Fair value of unlisted investments 48 48 5 5

Investment in Portland Holdings Limited 315

Total carrying value 371 56 5 5

Valuation of shares
Market value – listed investments 8 8
Directors’ valuation of unlisted investments 48 48 5 5
Directors’ valuation of Portland Holdings Limited 315

Total fair value 371 56 5 5

* The investment in preference shares is encumbered as per notes 14 and 28.
** Other non-current loans and deposits

Included in the 2003 non-current loans and deposits are the following housing loans made to directors in terms of members’
resolutions. These loans are secured by first mortgages over properties, bear interest at 7% per annum and are repayable in
full no later than six months after retirement, retrenchment or death. Where loans exceed R100 000, the excess bears
interest at 17% per annum. During 2004 all loans were repaid in full.

2004 2003

R R

Director
MD Coward 139 350
AJ Lamprecht 100 000

239 350

# Barloworld Share Purchase Scheme
Included are loans to executive directors for the purchase of shares amounting to R8 million (2003: R9 million). The loans are
secured by pledge of the shares and are repayable within 10 years of granting of the option or within nine months of death
or immediately on ceasing to be an employee, except in the case of retirement. Interest rates vary in accordance with the
terms and provisions of the trust deed and range from 3.17% to 8.5%.
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6. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2004
Cost
At 1 October 2003 1 935 406 71 2 412 40
Additions 1 410 44 9 1 463 1
Disposals (11) (3) (14)
Reversal of amounts previously written off 1 1
Translation differences (51) (9) (60)

At 30 September 2004 3 294 430 78 3 802 41

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 October 2003 627 176 29 832 8
Charge for the year (note 19) 148 62 7 217 3
Additions 2 1 3
Disposals (5) (3) (8)
Impairment 111 6 117
Translation differences (26) (7) (33)

At 30 September 2004 862 233 33 1 128 11

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2004 2 432 197 45 2 674 30

2003
Cost
At 1 October 2002 2 022 366 59 2 447 39
Restatement for change in treatment of 

foreign currency goodwill (note 31) 178 178
Additions 110 33 5 148 1
Reversal of amounts previously written off 7 7
Translation differences (375) 7 (368)

At 30 September 2003 1 935 406 71 2 412 40

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 October 2002 401 120 23 544 6
Restatement for change in treatment of 

foreign goodwill (note 31) 51 51
Charge for the year (note 19) 113 56 5 174 2
Additions 7 7
Impairment 131 3 1 135
Translation differences (76) (3) (79)

At 30 September 2003 627 176 29 832 8

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2003 1 308 230 42 1 580 32

GROUP COMPANY

Patents,

trademarks

and Patents

Capitalised development and

Goodwill software costs Total trademarks

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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7. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 
AND JOINT VENTURES *

Investment in associates 83 416
Interest in joint ventures 236 119

319 535

ASSOCIATES JOINT VENTURES

Cost of investment excluding goodwill 588 281 103 107
Share of retained earnings 161 131 22 12

Beginning of year 131 80 12 15
Increase for the year: 53 58 17 17

Normal and exceptional profit for the year ** 64 81 43 33
Dividends received (11) (23) (26) (16)

Other movements (23) (7) (7) (20)

Avis associate now a subsidiary (653)

Carrying value excluding amounts owing 96 412 125 119
Loans and advances (to)/from associates and joint ventures (13) 4 111

Carrying value including amounts owing 83 416 236 119

Carrying value by category
Listed associates – shares at carrying value 323
Unlisted associates and joint ventures 

– shares at carrying value 96 89 125 119

96 412 125 119

Valuation of shares
Market value – listed associate companies 595
Directors’ valuation of unlisted associate companies 

and joint ventures 193 189 237 204

193 784 237 204

Aggregate of associate companies and joint ventures’ 
net assets, revenue and profit (100%)

Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets 270 3 140 63 74
Current assets 311 2 302 702 314
Long-term liabilities 91 591 167 99
Current liabilities 150 155 403 151
Revenue 835 1 584 3 362 2 083
Profit after tax 77 135 85 71

* Refer notes 36 and 37 for a detailed list of associate and joint venture companies.
** Refer note 3 for a breakdown by business segment of equity accounted income.

GROUP GROUP

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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8. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
Amounts receivable under finance leases:
Gross investment 2 573 3 502
Less: Unearned finance income (406) (656)

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 2 167 2 846

Receivable as follows:
Present value
Within one year (note 10) 536 579
Non-current portion 1 631 2 267

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1 464 2 080
After five years 167 187

2 167 2 846

Minimum lease payments
Within one year 686 851
In the second to fifth year inclusive 1 697 2 464
After five years 190 187

2 573 3 502
Less: Unearned finance income (406) (656)

2 167 2 846

The fair value of the group’s finance lease receivables as at 30 September 2004 is R2 167 million (2003: R2 846 million).

Provisions for uncollectable finance lease receivables amount to R31 million (2003: R54 million).

Unguaranteed residual values of assets leased under finance leases are estimated at R475 million (2003: R362 million) for
non-South African leasing operations and nil (2003: R60 million) for South African leasing operations.

The interest rate charged in South Africa on the leases is linked to the prime rate for the lease term, which is three years on
average. The equipment leasing book was sold in the current year. The weighted average interest rate on lease receivables for
the year ended 30 September 2003 was 13.8%.

The interest rate charged in the United Kingdom and United States on the leases is fixed at inception for the duration of the
lease term which is typically between four and five years. The weighted average interest rate on lease receivables for the year
ended 30 September 2004 was 8% (2003: 10.5%).

Certain of the receivables in the United Kingdom and United States are subject to a securitisation arrangement – refer to note
14 for details.

GROUP

2004 2003

Rm Rm
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9. INVENTORIES
Raw materials and components 395 425
Work in progress 297 277
Finished goods 2 329 2 079
Merchandise 1 394 1 506
Consumable stores 92 102
Buy-back commitments 618 615
Other inventories 9 6

5 134 5 010

The value of inventories has been determined on the
following basis:

First-in first-out and specific identification 4 700 4 682
Weighted average 434 328

5 134 5 010

Inventory pledged as security for liabilities 6 42
The secured liabilities are included under trade 

and other payables (note 16)

Inventory recognised as an expense during the year 24 787 23 232
Amount of writedown of inventory to net realisable value 

and losses of inventory 35 85
Amount of reversals of previous inventory writedowns 4

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables 4 209 3 912
Less: Provision for doubtful debts (198) (194)
Finance lease receivables (note 8) 536 579
Bills and leases discounted with recourse 111 147
Fair value of derivatives 4
Other receivables and prepayments 606 476 6 13
Dividends accrued 2 232 9

5 266 4 924 238 22

Trade receivables of R2 million (2003: R2 million) are 
pledged as security for liabilities.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on deposit 1 294 1 500
Other cash and cash equivalent balances 149 47 9 4

1 443 1 547 9 4

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised as follows:
South African rand 313 297 9 4
Foreign currencies 1 130 1 250

1 443 1 547 9 4

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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12. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
Authorised share capital
500 000 6% non-redeemable cumulative preference 

shares of R2 each 1 1 1 1
300 000 000 ordinary shares of 5 cents each 15 15 15 15

16 16 16 16

Issued share capital
375 000 6% non-redeemable cumulative preference 

shares of R2 each (2003: 375 000) 1 1 1 1
222 892 403 ordinary shares of 5 cents each 

(2003: 215 430 249) 11 11 11 11
19 090 900 shares held by a subsidiary in respect 

of share buy-back (2003: 19 090 900) (2) (2)

10 10 12 12
Share premium 1 199 702 1 234 767

Balance at beginning of year 702 672 767 737
Premium on share issues 467 467
Equity movement on convertible bond realisation 30
Premium on odd lot share offer shares issued 30 30

Total issued share capital and premium 1 209 712 1 246 779

2004 2003

Issued shares
Total number of shares in issue at beginning of year 215 430 249 214 309 448
Issued during the year:
To acquire Avis Southern Africa Limited 5 589 763
Share options exercised 440 473 1 120 801
Convertible bond 1 431 918

222 892 403 215 430 249
Number of shares bought back in prior years (19 090 900) (19 025 200)
Number of shares bought back during the year 

in terms of odd lot offer (65 700)

Total number of shares in issue at end of year, 
net of buy-back 203 801 503 196 339 349

Unissued shares
Ordinary shares reserved to meet the requirements 

of the Barloworld Share Option Scheme 27 861 550 26 928 781
Ordinary shares reserved to meet the requirements 

of the US$75 million convertible bond 3 022 242
Ordinary shares 49 246 047 54 618 728

77 107 597 84 569 751

6% non-redeemable cumulative preference shares 125 000 125 000

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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12. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM continued
Notes:
1. No further shares were purchased by the company during the year in terms of its buy-back programme.

2. The members in general meeting on 23 January 1995 reserved shares for the purposes of the Barloworld Share Option
Scheme.

3. The company’s US$75 million convertible bond matured on 19 September 2004. Arising therefrom 1 431 918 shares were
issued and the need to reserve shares for purposes of the convertible bond has fallen away.

The following options granted to directors and executives are unexercised:

Option Date 

price from which Total options 

(cents) exercisable Expiry date Directors Executives# Ceded* unexercised

4 300 21 May 1999 21 May 2006 264 335 1 399 832 1 664 167
4 600 6 March 2000 6 March 2007 50 000 50 000
4 765 13 June 2000 13 June 2007 13 334 246 257 310 675 570 266
4 450 16 Feb 2001 16 Feb 2008 30 000 340 000 370 000
4 100 1 April 2001 1 April 2008 45 000 709 924 1 697 410 2 452 334
2 325 1 Sept 2001 1 Sept 2008 117 400 412 741 418 546 948 687
2 855 1 March 2002 1 March 2009 45 000 45 000
4 415 26 Feb 2003 26 Feb 2010 20 000 10 000 30 000
3 670 29 May 2003 29 May 2010 230 000 1 233 663 619 107 2 082 770
4 570 25 Sept 2004 25 Sept 2011 216 200 1 763 235 71 450 2 050 885
5 820 25 Sept 2005 25 Sept 2012 45 000 45 000
4 750 1 April 2006 1 April 2013 315 000 1 813 400 2 128 400
6 780 26 May 2007 26 May 2010 330 000 1 875 200 2 205 200

1 296 934 8 383 755 4 962 020 14 642 709

GROUP AND COMPANY

2004 2003

Movement for the year:
Options at beginning of year 12 897 848 12 088 210
Options granted 2 205 200 2 148 900
Options exercised or lapsed (460 339) (1 339 262)

Options unexercised at year-end 14 642 709 12 897 848

Held by:
Directors and executives 9 680 689 9 867 278
Financial institutions 4 962 020 3 030 570

14 642 709 12 897 848

* In terms of the rules of the Barloworld Share Option Scheme, options may be ceded to an approved financial institution.
# The unexercised share options granted to retired directors and executives are included in this column.
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13. DEFERRED TAXATION
Movement of deferred taxation
Balance at beginning of year
– deferred tax assets 456 385 36 34
– deferred tax liabilities 621 617

Net liability/(asset) at beginning of year 165 232 (36) (34)
Recognised in income statement this year 79 (21) (28) (3)
Rate change adjustment (2)
Arising on acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries 48 1
Translation differences 10 (73)
Accounted for directly in equity 1
Other movements 4 26 1

Net liability/(asset) at end of year 305 165 (64) (36)

– deferred taxation assets 498 456 64 36
– deferred taxation liabilities 803 621

Analysis of deferred taxation by type of 
temporary difference

Deferred taxation assets
Capital allowances (22) 63 (15) (2)
Provisions 336 310 3 1
Prepayments and other receivables 23 24
Effect of tax losses 139 74 76 41
Other temporary differences 22 (15) (4)

498 456 64 36

Deferred tax liabilities
Capital allowances 855 649
Provisions (52) (41)
Prepayments and other receivables (4) 20
Other temporary differences 4 (7)

803 621

Amount of deferred tax expense/(income) recognised 
in the income statement

Capital allowances 234 (63) 9 1
Provisions (27) (9) (1)
Prepayments and other receivables (26) 8
Effect of tax losses (21) 76 (35) (4)
Other temporary differences (81) (33) (1)

79 (21) (28) (3)

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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14. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Total SA rand and foreign currency
borrowings (note 32.3) 6 190 4 154 1 550
Less: Current portion redeemable and

repayable within one year (note 15) (1 319) (750)

Interest bearing 4 871 3 404 1 550
Liability portion of convertible bond #

Convertible bond 216
Equity portion (36)
Less: Current portion transferred to short-term loans (note 15) (180)

Non-interest-bearing liabilities 1 215 845 46

Post-retirement benefit provisions 151 130
Other provisions 352 124 46

Non-current provisions (note 17) 503 254 46
Bills and leases discounted with recourse and

repurchase obligations 413 444
Fair value of derivatives 34
Retirement benefit obligation (note 30) 69 13
Other creditors 196 134

Deferred tax liabilities (note 13) 803 621

Total non-current liabilities 6 889 4 870 1 596

# US$75 million was raised in 1994 through Barloworld International Investments Plc by way of a 10-year convertible bond issue guaranteed by Barloworld Limited.
The bonds carried a coupon rate of 7% and were convertible into Barloworld Limited ordinary shares at a conversion price per share of R35.20 at a fixed exchange
rate of R4.055 per US dollar. The bonds were convertible at the option of the holder between May 1995 and September 2004. The company, under certain
circumstances, had a call option to convert the bonds into ordinary shares at any time from 20 September 1999 to maturity date. During the current year bonds
to the value of $10.4 million (2003: nil) were repurchased with the remainder converted through the issue of 1 431 918 Barloworld shares.

Liabilities Net book value of 

secured assets encumbered

2004 2003 2004 2003

Included above are secured liabilities as follows: Rm Rm Rm Rm

Secured liabilities
Secured loans
South African rands 48 59
Foreign currencies 1 684 924 1 867 909

Liabilities under capitalised finance leases (note 28)
South African rands 530 452 491 661
Foreign currencies 935 898 818 789

Total secured liabilities 3 197 2 274 3 235 2 359

Assets encumbered are made up as follows:
Property, plant and equipment (note 4) 1 062 1 203
Finance lease receivables (note 8) 1 926 909
Investments (note 5) 247 247

3 235 2 359

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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14. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
continued

Summary of group borrowings by 
currency and by year of redemption 
or repayment

Group
R million
Total SA rand 3 091 48 841 330 176 1 696 1 459

US dollar 444 62 46 34 292 10 701
UK sterling 1 931 543 487 354 266 281 1 807
Norwegian krone 243 243
Swedish krone 409 409
Euro 36 36 172
Other 36 14 8 6 5 3 15

Total foreign currencies 3 099 1 271 577 394 563 294 2 695

Total SA rand and foreign 
currency liabilities 6 190 1 319 1 418 724 739 1 990 4 154

Included in secured liabilities are loans in the United Kingdom and United States amounting to R1 018 million (2003: R909 million),
which are secured by a charge over specific lease receivables under a securitisation transaction. Repayment of the loans will only
be made from cash received from the specific receivables subject to the securitisation transaction that amounted to R1 010 million
as at 30 September 2004 (R909 million as at 30 September 2003).

Total Repayable during the year ending 30 September Total
owing 2009 and owing

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 onwards 2003

Company
R million
Total SA rand * 1 550 1 550

* This amount represents the issue of a corporate bond in July 2004, which is listed on the South African Bond Exchange under the code BAW1. The bond matures
in July 2011 and carries a fixed coupon of 10.7% per annum which represents a premium of 112 basis points above the comparable Treasury stock R153 at the
time of issue. Fifty percent of the interest was converted to short-term rates through the conclusion of an interest rate swap (note 32.3).

GROUP COMPANY
2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm

15. AMOUNTS DUE TO BANKERS AND
SHORT-TERM LOANS
Bank overdrafts and acceptances 678 818 944
Short-term loans 842 991
Current portion of long-term borrowings (note 14) 1 319 750

2 839 2 559 944
Current portion of convertible bond (note 14) 180

2 839 2 739 944

Amounts due to bankers and short-term loans
are comprised as follows:

South African rand 1 133 1 571 944
Foreign currencies 1 706 1 168

2 839 2 739 944

Total Repayable during the year ending 30 September Total

owing 2009 and owing

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 onwards 2003
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16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables 5 073 4 470 32 35
Fair value of derivatives 88 129
Bills and leases discounted with recourse 

and repurchase obligations 111 147

5 272 4 746 32 35

17. PROVISIONS
Non-current (note 14) 503 254 46
Current 499 504 30 10

1 002 758 76 10

Environ-

mental Main- Post- Rights

Total reha- Onerous Insurance tenance retirement Warranty to Avis 

2004 bilitation contracts claims contracts benefits claims shares Other

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Group
Movement of provisions

Balance at beginning of 
year as previously reported 758 103 46 69 126 271 85 58

Amounts added 1 023 2 10 43 456 57 155 166 134
Amounts used (663) (20) (30) (262) (29) (158) (65) (99)
Amounts reversed unused (111) (2) (1) (102) (1) (5)
Unwinding of discount in 

present valued amounts 2 2
Translation adjustments (10) (4) (4) (1) (1)
Other 3 1 (1) (1) (1) 2 3

Balance at end of year 1 002 108 33 82 314 192 82 101 90

To be incurred:
Within one year 499 6 24 82 184 41 81 81
Between two to five years 308 19 8 130 40 1 101 9
More than five years 195 83 1 111

1 002 108 33 82 314 192 82 101 90

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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17. PROVISIONS continued
Environmental rehabilitation
The provisions relate to factory decommissioning and quarry rehabilitation costs in Pretoria Portland Cement. Group companies
are required to restore mine and processing sites at the end of their productive lives to an acceptable condition consistent with
the group’s environmental policies. The expected cost of any committed decommissioning or restoration programme,
discounted to its net present value, is provided at the beginning of each project.

Onerous contracts
The provisions include closure provisions for previously discontinued operations, consisting mainly of future rental costs on
unoccupied leased properties. The provision is calculated based on the discounted present value of contractual rental costs less
estimated future rental receipts.

Insurance claims
The provision arises from outstanding claims in Barloworld Insurance Limited which manages the group’s insurance programme.

Maintenance contracts
This relates to deferred revenue on maintenance and repair contracts on capital equipment, forklift trucks and motor vehicles.
Assumptions include the estimation of maintenance and repair costs over the life cycle of the assets concerned.

Post-retirement benefits
The provisions comprise mainly post-retirement benefits for existing and former employees. Actuarial valuations were used to
determine the value of the provisions where necessary. The actuarial valuations are based on assumptions which include
employee turnover, discount rates, the expected long-term rate of return of retirement plan assets, healthcare inflation cost
and rates of increase in compensation costs.

Warranty claims
The provisions relate principally to warranty claims on capital equipment, spare parts and service. The estimate is based on
claims notified and past experience.

Rights to Avis shares
Avis Southern Africa Limited (Avis) granted rights to their employees in terms of the Avis Share Incentive Scheme. On acquisition
of Avis, these rights were converted into cash-based payments. The provision represents the fair value of the liability for these
payments. Assumptions have been made regarding employee turnover, the discount rate and the pattern of exercise of the rights.

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm

18. REVENUE
Sale of goods 30 838 29 673
Rendering of services 3 223 3 075 192 160
Rentals received 1 633 1 055 50 37
Hire-purchase and finance lease income 960 739
Other 19 61

36 673 34 603 242 197

Where companies act as agents and are remunerated on a commission basis, only the commission income, and not the value of
the business handled, is included in revenue. Interest and dividends received are not included in revenue, but as income from
investments in note 22.
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19. OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit is arrived at after taking into 

account the items detailed below:
Cost of sales * 28 472 27 264
Included above is interest paid by leasing operations:
External 211 181
Group (note 22) 79 114

290 295

Operating expenses by nature
Income from subsidiaries:
Interest 113 105
Dividends 2 411 836

2 524 941

Depreciation (note 4) 1 535 1 226 20 20
Goodwill amortisation (note 6) 148 113
Amortisation of intangibles excluding goodwill (note 6) 69 61 3 2

Operating lease charges:
Land and buildings 262 226
Plant, vehicles and equipment 76 59 1

338 285 1

Research and development costs 48 37
Administration, management and technical fees paid 99 82 3 7
Auditors’ remuneration:

Audit fees 43 42 3 3
Fees for other services 10 11
Expenses 1 1

54 54 3 3

Directors’ emoluments paid by holding company 
and subsidiaries (note 33):

Executive directors
Salaries 17 20
Bonuses 17 20
Retirement and medical contributions 4 11
Share options exercised/ceded 6 5
Car allowances 2 1
Other benefits 2

46 59

Non-executive directors
Fees 3 3
Fees for services to subsidiaries 1 1
Share options exercised/ceded 3

4 7

Total directors’ emoluments 50 66

* Cost of sales includes depreciation of R1 074 million (2003: R924 million), as well as operating lease charges of R92 million (2003: R129 million) and staff costs
of R2 016 million (2003: R1 730 million).

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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19. OPERATING PROFIT continued
Staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments) 3 325 3 235 75 42
(Profit)/loss on disposal of rental assets, car hire 

and fleet rental vehicles (115) 25
Profit on disposal of other plant and equipment (15) (6)
Amounts expensed in respect of retirement benefit 
plans (note 30):

Defined contribution funds 223 210 7 5
Defined benefit funds 175 93 3

Fees paid to group companies 15 37
Other non-disclosable items 1 009 763 92 80

6 943 6 244 (2 306) (741)

Net operating expenses/(revenue) by function
Distribution costs 2 105 1 573
Administrative costs 3 918 3 378 218 200
Other operating costs 1 176 1 442
Other operating income (256) (149) (2 524) (941)

6 943 6 244 (2 306) (741)

20. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS ON 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Losses)/gains on conversion of foreign currency 
monetary items (22) 18

Losses on other financial instruments (85) (352) (8) (9)

(107) (334) (8) (9)

21. FINANCE COSTS
Interest paid:

Convertible bond (4) (20)
Other term borrowings (36) (42)
Bank and other borrowings (300) (371) (132) (108)
On capitalised finance leases (130) (89)

Monetary profit/(loss) on hyperinflation accounting 2 (9)

(468) (531) (132) (108)

22. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS
Dividends

Listed investments 1
Unlisted investments 29 29 1

Interest received 151 130 3 2
Group interest received from leasing operations * 79 114

259 274 3 3

* Interest paid by leasing operations disclosed under cost of sales (note 19).

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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23. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Profit on disposal of properties, investments and subsidiaries 108 123
Realisation of translation reserve on liquidation of 

offshore subsidiary (57)
Reversal of pension fund closure provision 100
Impairment of assets (108) (45)
Other 3 5 43

43 81 5 43
Attributable exceptional items of associates 

(impairment losses) (3)

Gross exceptional profits 40 81 5 43
Taxation (23) 11

17 92 5 43
Minority interest (1)

Net exceptional profits 17 91 5 43

24. TAXATION
South African normal taxation

Current year 444 249
Prior year (4) (10)

440 239

Foreign and withholding taxation
Current year 296 319 4 5
Prior year (10) (2)

286 317 4 5

Deferred taxation
Current year 114 8 5 3
Prior year 1 (18) 2 (6)
Attributable to a change in the rate of income tax (2)

113 (10) 7 (3)

Secondary taxation on companies
Current year 88 69
Deferred (36) (11) (35)

52 58 (35)

Taxation attributable to the company and its subsidiaries 891 604 (24) 2

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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24. TAXATION continued
Reconciliation of rate of taxation:
Group
Effective rate of taxation, calculated as:
Taxation (excluding prior year tax, exceptional taxation and secondary tax on companies) 

as a percentage of profit before taxation (excluding exceptional items and goodwill) 30.8 31.7

Reduction in rate of taxation 3.4 2.4

Exempt income 0.8 1.4
Adjustment due to inclusion of dividend income 0.3 0.5
Tax losses of prior periods 2.3 0.5

Increase in rate of taxation (4.2) (4.1)

Disallowable charges (2.0) (1.1)
Foreign tax differential (1.1) (2.4)
Current year’s tax losses in subsidiaries available for allowance against their 

future taxable profits (1.1) (0.5)
Capital gains tax (0.1)

Net increase in rate of taxation for the year (0.8) (1.7)

South African normal taxation rate 30.0 30.0

Company
Excluding dividend income, the holding company is in a breakeven profit position. Excluding 

the impact of STC, taxation paid in the current year relates to R4 million withholding tax.

Rm Rm

Group tax losses and STC credits at the end of the year, arising primarily 
from operating losses, allowable for taxation:

South African – Tax losses 249 122
– Unutilised STC credits 315 88

Foreign – Tax losses 128 34

692 244
Less: Utilised to reduce deferred taxation or create deferred taxation assets 595 244

Losses on which no deferred taxation assets raised due to uncertainty regarding utilisation 97

GROUP
2004 2003

25. NET PROFIT AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
25.1 Fully converted weighted average number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (net of share buy-back) 199 374 681 196 027 500
Increase in number of shares as a result of unexercised share options 4 837 422 3 410 348

204 212 103 199 437 848
Increase in number of shares assuming conversion of the convertible bond 3 022 242

Fully converted weighted average number of shares 204 212 103 202 460 090

Account is taken of the number of ordinary shares in issue for the period in which they are entitled to participate in the net
profit of the group.

GROUP

2004 2003

% %
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25. NET PROFIT AND HEADLINE EARNINGS 
PER SHARE continued

25.2 Net profit per share (basic)
Net profit for the year (R millions) 1 517 1 130
The weighted average number of ordinary shares 199 374 681 196 027 500
Net profit per share (basic) 760.9 576.4

Net profit per share (fully diluted)
Net profit for the year (R millions) 1 517 1 130
Adjusted for:
After-tax interest saving assuming conversion of 

convertible bond where effect is dilutive 14

Net profit for the year adjusted for diluted 
calculation 1 517 1 144

Fully converted weighted average number of shares (note 25.1) 204 212 103 202 460 090

Net profit per share (fully diluted) 742.9 565.0
Percentage dilution 2.4 2.0

25.3 Headline earnings per share (basic) Rm Rm

Net profit for the year 1 517 1 130
Profit on disposal of properties, investments and subsidiaries (108) (123)
Impairment of assets 108 45
Goodwill amortisation 148 113
Realisation of translation reserves on liquidation 

of offshore subsidiary 57
Interest in associate goodwill amortisation 6 9
(Profit)/loss on sale of plant and equipment 

excluding rental assets (15) (6)
Other exceptional items 4
Taxation on exceptional items (7) (11)
Attributable exceptional items of associates 

(impairment losses) 3
Interest of outside shareholders in exceptional items 1

Headline earnings 1 709 1 162

The weighted average number of ordinary shares 199 374 681 196 027 500
Headline earnings per share (basic) 857.2 592.8

Headline earnings per share (fully diluted)
Headline earnings (R millions) 1 709 1 162
After-tax interest saving assuming conversion of 

convertible bond where effect is dilutive 14

Headline earnings adjusted for diluted calculation 1 709 1 176

Fully converted weighted average number 
of shares (note 25.1) 204 212 103 202 460 090

Headline earnings per share (fully diluted) 836.9 580.9
Percentage dilution 2.4 2.0

GROUP GROUP

2004 2003 2004 2003

Cents Cents
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26. DIVIDENDS
Ordinary shares
Final dividend No 149 paid on 12 January 2004: 200 cents per share 

(2003: No 146 – 185 cents per share) 431 399
Special centenary dividend No 147 paid on 20 January 2003: 100 cents per share 215
Interim dividend No 150 paid on 14 June 2004: 115 cents per share 

(2003: No 148 – 90 cents per share) 255 195

686 809
Dividend attributable to the share buy-back (194) (73)

626 736

On 15 November 2004 the directors declared dividend No 151 of 265 cents per share.

This dividend will be paid to shareholders on 17 January 2005 and has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

In compliance with the requirements of the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa, the following dates are applicable:
Last day to trade cum dividend Friday 7 January 2005
Shares trade ex dividend Monday 10 January 2005
Record date Friday 14 January 2005
Payment date Monday 17 January 2005

Share certificates may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between Monday, 10 January 2005 and Friday, 14 January 2005,
both days inclusive.

GROUP AND 

COMPANY

2004 2003

Cents Cents

Analysis of dividends declared in respect of current year’s earnings:
Ordinary dividends per share
Interim dividend No 150 115 90
Final dividend No 151 265 200

380 290

6% cumulative non-redeemable preference shares
Preference dividends totalling R45 000 were declared on 7 October 2003

and 1 April 2004, and paid on 3 November 2003 and 3 May 2004 respectively.

GROUP AND 

COMPANY

2004 2003

Rm Rm
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27. BARLOWORLD SHAREHOLDERS’ ATTRIBUTABLE INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES
Holding company 2 440 865
Less: Dividends received from subsidiaries (note 19) (2 411) (836)

29 29
Attributable interest in the aggregate amount of profits

and losses of subsidiaries, after taxation, including associate companies:
Profits 1 682 1 310
Losses (194) (209)

Barloworld Limited shareholders’ interest 1 517 1 130

GROUP

2004 2003

Rm Rm

28. COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure commitments to be incurred:
Contracted 455 181
Approved 225 261

680 442

Share of joint ventures’ capital expenditure commitments to be incurred:
Contracted 12

12

Commitments will be spent substantially in 2005. Capital expenditure will be financed by funds generated by the business,
existing cash resources and borrowing facilities available to the group.

2009 and 2004 2003

thereafter 2008 2007 2006 2005 Total Total

Lease commitments Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Operating lease commitments
Land and buildings 725 213 233 265 298 1 734 1 166
Motor vehicles 7 15 33 56 82 193 155
Other 6 5 12 16 26 65 42

738 233 278 337 406 1 992 1 363

Land and buildings commitments include the following: 
– Commitments for the operating and administrative facilities used by the majority of business segments. The average lease

term is five years. Many lease contracts contain renewal options at fair market rates.
– Properties used for office accommodation and used car outlets in the major southern African cities. Rentals escalate at rates

which are in line with the historical inflation rates applicable to the southern African environment. Lease periods do not
exceed five years.

– Properties at airport locations. The leases are in general for periods of five years and the rental payments are based on a set
percentage of revenues generated at those locations subject to certain minimums.

Motor vehicle commitments are mainly for vehicles in use in the offshore operations. The average lease term is four years.

COMPANY

2004 2003

Rm Rm
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28. COMMITMENTS continued
Financial lease commitments
Present value of minimum lease payments
Land and buildings 104 4 2 1 111 318
Motor vehicles 12 10 11 12 14 59 5
Rental fleets 193 114 139 220 261 927 893
Other 68 160 113 13 14 368 134

377 288 265 246 289 1 465 1 350

Minimum lease payments
Land and buildings 158 17 16 14 13 218 437
Motor vehicles 13 11 12 14 16 66 6
Rental fleets 194 129 160 251 317 1 051 962
Other 97 196 140 28 30 491 236

Total including future finance charges 462 353 328 307 376 1 826 1 641

Future finance charges (361) (291)

Present value of lease commitments (note 14) 1 465 1 350

Land and building commitments are for certain fixed rate leases in the Motor division for trading premises with an average term
of twelve years including a purchase option at the end of the term.

Rental fleet commitments arise in Barloworld Finance in the United Kingdom, which has financed certain rental units under
capital leases with various institutions. These expire at the same time as the related lease with the customer.

Other commitments include the following items:
– Plant and equipment constructed at PPC’s Dwaalboom factory. The repayment terms are R100 million on 30 September 2007

(lease term of four years) and R147 million on 30 September 2008 (lease term of five years). Investments of R247 million have
been pledged as security against the liability.

– Plant leased by the Cement division from Saldanha Steel.

2009 and 2004 2003

thereafter 2008 2007 2006 2005 Total Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Guarantees for loans, overdrafts and liabilities of subsidiaries 4 798 3 000
Bills, lease and hire-purchase agreements discounted with 

recourse, other guarantees and claims 194 146

Litigation, current or pending, is not considered likely to have a material adverse effect on the group.

Buy-back and repurchase commitments not reflected on the balance sheet amount to R222 million (2003: R138 million). The
related assets are estimated to have a value at least equal to the repurchase commitment.

There are no material contingent liabilities in joint venture companies.

30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION
It is the policy of the group to encourage, facilitate and contribute to the provision of retirement benefits for all permanent
employees. To this end the group’s permanent employees are usually required to be members of either a pension or provident
fund, depending on their preference and local legal requirements.

Sixty two percent of employees belong to seven defined benefit and 23 defined contribution retirement funds in which group
employment is a prerequisite for membership. Of these, five defined benefit and 11 defined contribution funds are located
outside of South Africa and accordingly are not subject to the provisions of the Pension Funds Act of 1956. The balance of 38%
of employees belong to defined contribution funds associated with industry or employee organisations.

Defined contribution plans
The total cost charged to income of R223 million (2003: R210 million) represents contributions payable to these schemes by the
group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

GROUP

2004 2003

Rm Rm

Defined benefit plans
Amounts recognised in income in respect of these schemes are as follows:
Current service cost 134 113
Interest costs 197 179
Expected return on plan assets (192) (204)

139 88
Net actuarial loss recognised in income statement 36 5

Charge to income in respect of defined benefit funds for the year (note 19) 175 93

Actual return on plan assets 234 318

All defined benefit funds are valued by independent actuaries as follows:
Latest statutory

Valuation interval valuation

Barlows Pension Fund Triennial 31 March 2004
Barloworld UK Pension Scheme Triennial 1 April 2003
Bibby Pension Scheme Triennial 1 April 2003
Barloworld Australia Superannuation Fund Triennial 30 June 2002
Japan Pension Scheme Annual September 2003
PPC Retirement Fund Not exceeding three years 28 February 2003
Avis – Liva Bil AS Pension Fund – Norway Annual September 2004

GROUP COMPANY

2004 2003 2004 2003

Rm Rm Rm Rm
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION continued
Apart from the two funds mentioned below there are no material pension deficits.

The triennial valuation of the two United Kingdom defined benefit pension schemes at 1 April 2003 was done during 2003. The
funding position of these schemes has deteriorated since the last valuation primarily due to the significant falls in equity
markets, and increased liabilities due to reduced interest rates and the use of increased longevity tables in respect of members.
These schemes currently reflect a combined deficit, calculated in terms of IAS19, of £50.1 million (2003: £52.3 million), which
will be funded by means of increased company and employee contributions, together with an adjustment to benefits. The
schemes were closed to new entrants from 1 April 2002, with all new employees in the United Kingdom required to join the
recently established defined contribution scheme.

The pension plan assets consist primarily of equity (local and offshore), interest-bearing stock and property.

Amount included in the fair value of assets for Barloworld Limited shares amounts to nil.

Amount included in the fair value of the PPC Retirement Fund assets for property occupied or used by PPC is nil (2003: R8 million).

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the group’s obligations in respect of defined benefit retirement benefit
plans is set out below (this excludes the impact of the provision for pension fund closure costs*):

GROUP

2004 2003

Rm Rm

Present value of funded obligation (3 817) (3 576)
Unrecognised actuarial losses 809 828
Fair value of plan assets 3 158 2 927

Net asset 150 179
Less: Amount not recognised on balance sheet 14 17

Net asset per balance sheet 136 162

Asset (note 5) 205 175
Obligation (note 14) (69) (13)

Net asset 136 162

Movement in the net asset in the current year was as follows:
At beginning of year 162 247
Exchange differences 2 (69)
Contributions 147 80
Expenses (175) (96)

At the end of year 136 162

South Africa UK Australia Japan

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

% % % % % % % %

Key assumptions used
Discount rate 11.0 11.5 5.6 5.5 6.3 6.3 1.8 2.2
Expected return on plan assets 11.0 11.5 7.3 7.0 8.0 7.0 3.0 2.0
Expected rate of salary increases 7.5 8.0 3.5 3.3 4.0 4.0 2.2 3.0
Future pension increases 5.0 5.0 2.5 2.3 2.5 2.5 2.2 2.2

Historically, qualifying employees were granted certain post-retirement medical benefits. The obligation for the employer to
pay medical aid contributions after retirement is not part of the conditions of employment for new employees. A number of
pensioners and employees in the group remain entitled to this benefit, the cost of which has been fully provided.

* As reported in the prior year, the board approved a provision in 2002 of R100 million (R70 million net of deferred taxation) to cover additional costs on the
closure of one of the group’s South African pension funds. As the fund in question now has adequate reserves to cover projected costs, the provision is no longer
required and has been written back.
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31. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) on a
basis consistent with the prior year except for the adoption of the following new or revised standards.

– IFRS5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
– IAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements
– IAS2 Inventories
– IAS10 Events after the Balance Sheet Date
– IAS17 Leases
– IAS21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
– IAS24 Related Party Disclosures
– IAS28 Investments in Associates
– IAS31 Interest in Joint Ventures
– IAS32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation
– IAS33 Earnings per Share
– IAS39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
– IAS40 Investment Property

In terms of the revised IAS21 foreign currency goodwill must be translated at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
The group’s previous accounting policy was to translate foreign currency goodwill at rates ruling on the transaction date. The
impact of this change on the previous financial year is set out below. The impact on the results of 2004 is an additional goodwill
amortisation charge of R9 million. There is no impact on headline earnings. The impact of implementing the other new or
revised standards was not material.

The aggregate effect of the changes in accounting policy on the annual financial statements for the year ended 30 September
2003 is as follows:

Previously
stated Adjustment Restated

Rm Rm Rm

Income statement
Adjustment to opening retained income – 2003 6 727 (39) 6 688
Adjustment to net profit – 2003 (no taxation effect) 1 353 (11) 1 342

Balance sheet
Interest of all shareholders 10 320 116 10 436
Goodwill and intangible assets 1 464 116 1 580

In terms of IAS14 – Segment Reporting the following changes were implemented in the current year:
– the geographical segment “Rest of Africa” has fallen below the 10% threshold and has therefore been combined under the

“Southern Africa” segment;
– cash balances are excluded from Segment assets as the related interest received does not form part of Segment result;
– the Spanish finance business, which is an internal funding entity, has been reclassified as part of Tading within the

equipment segment.

In terms of Circular 3/2004 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants, goodwill amortisation has been
included in operating profit.

In the cash flow statement, investment in lease receivables is shown under investing activities and the buy-back of Barloworld
shares under financing activities.

In all cases, comparative information has been stated on a consistent basis.
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31. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES continued
Deconsolidation of Portland Holdings Limited (Porthold)
The results of Porthold, a wholly owned Zimbabwean subsidiary of Pretoria Portland Cement Company Limited, have in terms of
the exclusion contained in IAS27 (Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements) not been consolidated into the group results
as at 30 September 2004. The summarised results of Porthold, adjusted for hyperinflation and converted back to rands at the
prevailing auction rate were:

2004 2003
Rm Rm

Revenue 171.5 49.1

Operating (loss)/profit (5.4) 0.6

Loss before taxation (2.2) (0.4)
Taxation 5.4 3.0

Loss after taxation (7.6) (3.4)

Total assets 765.0 246.2
Total liabilities 250.9 81.6

Exchange rate (Z$: Rand) 860 770
Movement in the inflation index for the year (%) 363 534

Key assumptions concerning the future and key sources of estimation uncertainty
As required to be disclosed in terms of IAS1 (revised) there are no significant assumptions made concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, short-term investments,
accounts receivable and payable, loans to and from subsidiaries, bills, leases, hire-purchase agreements discounted with recourse
and derivatives. Details of the amounts discounted with recourse are included in note 29 to the annual financial statements.

Derivative instruments are used by the group for hedging purposes. Such instruments include forward exchange and currency
option contracts and interest rate swap agreements. The group does not speculate in the trading of derivative instruments.

32.1 Treasury risk management
A finance committee consisting of senior executives of the group meets on a regular basis to analyse currency and interest rate
exposure and to re-evaluate treasury management strategies in the context of most recent economic conditions and forecasts.

The group’s various treasury operations provide the group with access to local money markets and provide group subsidiaries
with the benefit of bulk financing and depositing.

32.2 Foreign currency management
Trade commitments
The group’s currency exposure management policy for the southern African operations is to hedge all material trade
commitments as soon as they arise. In respect of offshore operations where there is a traditionally stable relationship between
the reporting and transacting currencies, the need to take foreign exchange cover is at the discretion of the divisional board.

Each division manages its own trade exposure within the overall framework of the group policy. In this regard the group has
entered into certain forward exchange contracts which do not relate to specific items appearing in the balance sheet, but were
entered into to cover foreign commitments not yet due or proceeds not yet received. The risk of having to close out these
contracts is considered to be low.

All forward exchange contracts and currency options are valued at fair value with the resultant profit or loss included in income.
The only exception relates to the effective portion of cash flow hedges where profits or losses are recorded directly in equity
and either transferred to income when the hedged transaction affects income or are included in the initial acquisition cost of
the hedged assets or liabilities where appropriate.

Net currency exposure
The following table represents the extent to which the group has monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the
group companies’ local currency.

The information is shown net of forward contracts and options in place to hedge the foreign currency exposures.

Based on the net exposure below it is estimated that a simultaneous 10% change in all foreign currency exchange rates against
divisional functional currency will impact the fair value of the net monetary assets/liabilities of the group to the extent of
R53 million.
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CURRENCY OF ASSETS/LIABILITIES

Other

SA British US Australian Japanese African Other

rand Euro sterling dollar dollar yen currencies currencies Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
continued

32.2 Foreign currency management continued
Net foreign currency monetary 

assets/(liabilities)
Functional currency of group operation:
SA rand n/a 35 30 552 15 14 (2) 644
Euro n/a 1 (1) 1 1
British sterling 4 21 n/a (58) (4) 28 (9)
US dollar (2) (1) (1) n/a 1 (32) (35)
Japanese yen (2) n/a (2)
Other African currencies (92) 24 n/a (68)
Other currencies (2) 1 n/a (1)

As at 30 September 2004 (92) 55 30 517 15 14 (6) (3) 530

SA rand n/a (6) 22 295 18 2 (1) 330
Euro n/a 2 3 5
British sterling 27 8 n/a (217) 1 8 (173)
US dollar (3) (36) 6 n/a (7) 11 (29)
Japanese yen (2) n/a (2)
Other African currencies (58) (17) n/a (75)
Other currencies (3) n/a (3)

As at 30 September 2003 (34) (34) 28 58 1 18 3 13 53

Currency derivatives
As at September 2004, the group had 15 cross-currency interest rate swap contracts which were all designated as a hedge of a
net investment in a foreign entity. Details are as follows:

Foreign 2004
amount – Fair value 
notional Interest Maturity gain/(loss) 

Currency (000s) rate (%) date Rm

Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts EUR (84 569) 3.5 2005 – 2006
Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts GBP 53 325 4.4 2005 – 2006 (67)

Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts USD (30 000) 2.9 2005 – 2006
Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts GBP 32 201 4.6 2005 – 2006 16

Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts AUD (30 000) 6.1 2005 – 2007
Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts GBP 11 161 4.6 2005 – 2007 (7)

Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts JPY (1 250 000) 0.3 2005 – 2006
Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts GBP 6 553 4.3 2005 – 2006 4

Total (54)

}

}
}

}
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
32.3 Interest rate management

As part of the process of managing the group’s fixed and floating rate borrowings mix, the interest rate characteristics of new
borrowings and the refinancing of existing borrowings are positioned according to expected movements in interest rates. The
interest rate profile of total borrowings is as follows:

Year of
redemption/ Interest 2004 2003

Currency repayment rate (%) Rm Rm

Liabilities in foreign currencies
Secured loans GBP 2005/2008 Libor* +1 1 017 909

BWP 2005/2008 14.8 15 15
NOK 2005 2.8 243
SEK 2005 3.1 409

Unsecured loans USD 2008 Libor* + 0.80 437 701
EUR 2007 Libor* + 0.40 36 170
EUR 2004 5.5 2
USD 2005/2006 6.3 7

Liabilities under capitalised finance leases GBP 2004/2008 5 – 8 914 898
BWP 2005/2010 15 21

Total foreign currency liabilities 3 099 2 695

Liabilities in South African rand
Secured loans 2014 9.3 48
Unsecured loans 2006/2011 7.5 – 10.7 2 513 1 007
Liabilities under capitalised finance leases 2005/2013 12.2 – 13.8 530 452

Total South African rand liabilities 3 091 1 459

Total South African rand and foreign 
currency liabilities (note 14) 6 190 4 154

Interest rates
Loans at fixed rates of interest 2 167 1 282
Loans linked to South African money market 1 881 1 092
Loans linked to NIBOR ^/STIBOR † 652
Loans linked to Libor * 1 490 1 780

6 190 4 154

Interest rate derivatives
As at September 2004, the group had 21 interest rate swap contracts. Details are as follows:

2004
Amount – Fair value 

notional Interest Maturity gain/(loss) 
Currency (000s) rate (%) date Rm

Designated cash flow hedge interest rate 
swap contracts USD 66 030 2.38 – 4.65 2004 – 2007

Designated cash flow hedge interest rate 
swap contracts GBP 75 543 4.19 – 6.91 2003 – 2010 (3)

Designated fair value hedge interest rate 
swap contract ZAR 750 000 3m Jibar # + 55 bps 2011 30

Total 27

* Libor – London inter-bank offered rate
^ Nibor – Norwegian inter-bank offered rate
† Stibor – Swedish inter-bank offered rate
# Jibar – Johannesburg inter-bank acceptance rate

}
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued
32.4 Maturity profile of financial instruments

The maturity profile of the financial instruments are summarised as follows:
<1 2-4 >4 2004

year years years Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 443 1 443
Trade and other receivables 5 266 1 683 167 7 116

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 2 839 2 882 1 989 7 710
Trade and other payables 5 771 971 244 6 986

32.5 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
All financial instruments are carried at fair value or amounts that approximate fair value, except for the non-current portion of
fixed rate receivables, payables and interest-bearing borrowings, which are carried at amortised cost.

The carrying amounts for investments, cash, cash equivalents as well as the current portion of receivables, payables and interest-
bearing borrowings approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

The fair values have been determined using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies.

32.6 Credit risk management
Potential areas of credit risk consist of trade accounts receivable and short-term cash investments.

Trade accounts receivable consists mainly of a large and widespread customer base. Group companies monitor the financial
position of their customers on an ongoing basis.

Where considered appropriate, use is made of credit guarantee insurance. The granting of credit is controlled by application
and account limits.

Provision is made for both specific and general bad debts and at the year-end management did not consider there to be any
material credit risk exposure that was not already covered by credit guarantee insurance or a bad debt provision.

It is group policy to deposit short-term cash investments with major banks and financial institutions.

32.7 Liquidity risk management
The group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing facilities
are maintained.
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33. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS
Directors’ remuneration
The directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2004 was as follows:

Retirement Share
and medical options

contri- exercised/ Car Other Total
Salary Bonus butions ceded allowances benefits 2004

2004 R000 R000 R000 R000 R000 R000 R000

Executive directors
PJ Blackbeard (appointed 10 May 2004) 732 403 88 88 34 1 345
MD Coward 1 394 1 190 296 1 866 159 9 4 914
LS Day 1 535 982 369 594 149 35 3 664
BP Diamond 2 536 2 637 351 152 2 5 678
JE Gomersall 1 851 1 925 439 1 125 114 145 5 599
AJ Lamprecht 1 513 1 658 323 1 001 171 12 4 678
PJ Maybury (retired 31 March 2004) 1 329 1 825 734 124 4 012
AJ Phillips 2 725 2 963 640 170 253 6 751
PM Surgey 1 537 1 622 295 929 239 21 4 643
CB Thomson 1 551 1 708 272 519 246 21 4 317

16 703 16 913 3 807 6 034 1 612 532 45 601

Bonuses are performance related as set out in the remuneration committee report on page 27.

Other benefits include company vehicles, housing and Share Purchase Trust loans.

Fees for Share
services to options

Car sub- exercised/ Total
Fees allowances sidiaries ceded 2004

2004 R000 R000 R000 R000 R000

Non-executive directors
WAM Clewlow 1 100 112 611 1 823
MJ Levett 140 140
DB Ntsebeza 100 100
SB Pfeiffer 475 475
G Rodriguez de Castro Garcia de los Rios 

(appointed 30 January 2004) 319 314 633
LA Tager 100 100
EP Theron 140 87 227
RC Tomkinson 791 791

3 165 112 1 012 4 289

Total directors’ remuneration 49 890

There are no directors with service contracts with termination benefits exceeding one year’s salary and notice periods in excess
of one year.
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33. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS continued
Directors’ remuneration continued

Retirement Share
and medical options

contri- exercised/ Car Other Total
Salary Bonus butions ceded allowances benefits 2003

2003 R000 R000 R000 R000 R000 R000 R000

Executive directors
DC Arnold (retired 31 March 2003) 1 427 1 373 223 520 85 702 4 330
K Brown (retired 30 September 2003) 4 108 1 480 5 080 1 673 12 341
MD Coward 1 280 2 822 262 155 78 4 597
LS Day 1 239 1 329 297 724 167 91 3 847
BP Diamond 1 104 1 233 234 807 213 42 3 633
R Fernandez-Urrutia 

(retired 30 January 2003) 926 678 1 613 3 217
JE Gomersall 1 653 2 852 392 114 246 5 257
AJ Lamprecht 1 363 551 288 415 173 44 2 834
PJ Maybury 2 808 3 314 1 694 279 8 095
AJ Phillips 2 450 2 009 565 76 194 357 5 651
PM Surgey 1 384 2 575 262 221 177 4 619
CB Thomson (appointed 1 April 2003) 643 267 113 122 9 1 154

20 385 20 483 11 023 4 494 1 444 1 746 59 575

Fees for Share
services to options

Car sub- exercised/ Total
Fees allowances sidiaries ceded# 2003

2003 R000 R000 R000 R000 R000

Non-executive directors
WAM Clewlow 980 121 573 2 530 4 204
RKJ Chambers (retired 30 January 2003) 160 538 264 962
MJ Levett 140 140
DB Ntsebeza 100 100
SB Pfeiffer 386 386
G Ross-Russell (retired 30 January 2003) 203 203
LA Tager 100 100
EP Theron 140 54 194
RC Tomkinson 431 431

2 640 121 1 165 2 794 6 720

Total directors’ remuneration 66 295

# Share options exercised/ceded, granted as an executive director.
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33. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS continued
Interest of directors in contracts
The directors have certified that they were not materially interested in any transaction of any significance with the company or
any of its subsidiaries. Accordingly, a conflict of interest with regard to directors’ interest in contracts does not exist.

Interest of directors of the company in share capital
The aggregate beneficial holdings as at 30 September 2004 of the directors of the company and their immediate families (none
of which has a holding in excess of 1%) in the issued ordinary shares of the company are detailed below. There have been no
material changes in these shareholdings since that date.

Number of shares at 30 September

2004 2004 2003 2003

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Executive directors
MD Coward 24 415 24 415
LS Day 38 767 31 467
BP Diamond 8 904 100 11 903 100
JE Gomersall 110 000 1 000 80 000 1 000
AJ Lamprecht 13 000 20 000
AJ Phillips 115 400 115 400
PM Surgey 41 278 52 278
CB Thomson 403 403

351 764 1 503 335 463 1 503

Non-executive directors
RKJ Chambers 10 000
WAM Clewlow 378 668 16 320 378 668 16 320
MJ Levett 25 630 25 630
SB Pfeiffer 3 000
RC Tomkinson 2 000 2 000

407 298 18 320 414 298 18 320

759 062 19 823 749 761 19 823

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 September 2004
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33. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS continued
Interest of directors of the company in share options
The interests of the executive and non-executive directors in shares of the company provided in the form of options are shown
in the table below:

Number

Number Number of options Number

of options of options exercised/ Retired of options

as at granted ceded directors as at Date from

30 Sep during during during 30 Sep Option which

2003 the year the year the year# 2004 price exercisable

PJ Blackbeard * 13 334 13 334 47.65 13/6/00
20 000 20 000 41.00 1/4/01
15 000 15 000 23.25 1/9/01
25 000 25 000 36.70 29/5/03
20 000 20 000 45.70 25/9/04
20 000 20 000 47.50 1/4/06

35 000 35 000 67.80 26/5/07

RKJ Chambers 13 334 13 334 23.25 1/9/01

MD Coward 5 000 5 000 43.00 21/5/99
40 000 10 000 30 000 44.50 16/2/01
30 000 30 000 23.25 1/9/01
30 000 30 000 36.70 29/5/03
25 000 25 000 45.70 25/9/04
35 000 35 000 47.50 1/4/06

35 000 35 000 67.80 26/5/07

LS Day 20 000 10 000 10 000 36.70 29/5/03
25 000 8 300 16 700 45.70 25/9/04
35 000 35 000 47.50 1/4/06

35 000 35 000 67.80 26/5/07

BP Diamond 20 000 20 000 36.70 29/5/03
25 000 25 000 45.70 25/9/04
35 000 35 000 47.50 1/4/06

35 000 35 000 67.80 26/5/07

JE Gomersall 50 000 50 000 44.50 16/2/01
40 000 40 000 23.25 1/9/01
35 000 35 000 36.70 29/5/03
30 000 30 000 45.70 25/9/04
35 000 35 000 47.50 1/4/06

35 000 35 000 67.80 26/5/07

AJ Lamprecht 10 000 10 000 23.25 1/9/01
20 000 10 000 10 000 36.70 29/5/03
25 000 8 000 17 000 45.70 25/9/04
35 000 35 000 47.50 1/4/06

35 000 35 000 67.80 26/5/07

# Included as part of executives per note 12.
* New appointment. Existing options added to opening balance.
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33. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS continued
Interest of directors of the company in share options continued

Number

Number Number of options Number

of options of options exercised/ Retired of options

as at granted ceded directors as at Date from

30 Sep during during during 30 Sep Option which

2003 the year the year the year# 2004 price exercisable

PJ Maybury 10 000 10 000 41.00 1/4/01
7 500 7 500 23.25 1/9/01

25 000 25 000 36.70 29/5/03
25 000 25 000 45.70 25/9/04

AJ Phillips 13 400 13 400 23.25 1/9/01
50 000 50 000 36.70 29/5/03
40 000 40 000 45.70 25/9/04
50 000 50 000 47.50 1/4/06

50 000 50 000 67.80 26/5/07

PM Surgey 33 000 33 000 44.50 16/2/01
30 000 30 000 23.25 1/9/01
35 000 35 000 36.70 29/5/03
25 000 25 000 45.70 25/9/04
35 000 35 000 47.50 1/4/06

35 000 35 000 67.80 26/5/07

CB Thomson 20 000 20 000 46.00 6/3/00
25 000 25 000 41.00 1/4/01
19 000 19 000 23.25 1/9/01
15 000 15 000 36.70 29/5/03
17 500 17 500 45.70 25/9/04
35 000 35 000 47.50 1/4/06

35 000 35 000 67.80 26/5/07

1 242 068 330 000 194 300 80 834 1 296 934

A register detailing directors’ and officers’ interest in the company is available for inspection at the company’s registered office.

# Included as part of executives per note 12.
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34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARY 
COMPANIES

Avis Southern Africa Limited H ZAR 17 128 201 100 1 479 46
Barloworld Australia (Pty) Limited 5 O AUD 82 275 501 100 100
Barloworld Botswana (Pty) Limited 3 H BWP 35 329 536 100 100
Barloworld Capital (Pty) Limited F ZAR 30 100 000 100 100 30 30 1 518 986 327
Barloworld Coatings (Australia) 

(Pty) Limited 5 O AUD 27 246 000 100 100
Barloworld Coatings 

(Pty) Limited –  Ord O ZAR 2 197 295 100 100 37 37 101 101
– ‘A’ Ord ZAR 527 705 100 100
– ‘B’ Ord ZAR 1 952 509 100 100

Barloworld Equipment (Pty) Limited O ZAR 2 100 100 46 5
Barloworld Equipment UK Limited 1 O GBP 4 500 000 100 100
Barloworld Holdings Plc 1 H GBP 167 826 527 100 100
Barloworld Industrial 

Distribution Limited O GBP 2 125 000 100 100
Barloworld Insurance Limited 1 O GBP 4 100 000 100 100 63 13
Barloworld International

Investment Plc 1 F GBP 50 000 100 100
Barloworld Investments (Pty) Limited H ZAR 900 100 100 108 108 1 581 1 582
Barloworld Logistics (Pty) Limited O ZAR 100 100 100
Barloworld Motor (Pty) Limited O ZAR 600 000 100 100 1 1 5 5
Barloworld Investments Namibia 

(Pty) Limited 4 H NAD 1 450 000 100 100 4 4
Barloworld Scientific Group Limited 1 O GBP 17 000 000 100 100
Finanzauto SA 2 O EUR 44 414 042 99.7 99.7
Pretoria Portland Cement 

Company Limited O ZAR 53 750 139 71.6 67.4 35 35 7 6
RIH Investments (Pty) Limited – Ord O ZAR 3 264 730 100 100 131 131 195 195

– ‘A’ Ord ZAR 587 651 100 100
Sociedade Technica De

Equipamentos e Tractores SA 6 O EUR 4 000 000 99 99
Zeda Car Leasing (Pty) Limited 

t/a Avis Fleet Services # O ZAR 100 50
Other foreign subsidiaries * 31 31 96
Other subsidiaries * 74 88 865 683 98 667

1 993 478 4 212 3 452 577 874

All companies are incorporated in (or operate principally in) the Republic of South Africa except where otherwise indicated
as follows:
1. United Kingdom 4. Namibia
2. Spain 5. Australia
3. Botswana 6. Portugal

Keys to type of subsidiary
H – Holding companies O – Operating companies F – Finance companies

Any material changes which have taken place during the year are dealt with in the appropriate operational reviews.

* A full list of subsidiaries and a list of the special resolutions of those companies are available to the shareholders, on request, from the registered office of the company.

# Not legally a subsidiary, but as the group exercises control this company’s results are consolidated.

Effective Interest of Amounts 
percentage holding company owing to 

Issued capital holdings Shares Indebtedness subsidiaries
Cur- 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003

Type rency Amount % % Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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35. LISTED AND UNLISTED INVESTMENTS
Number of shares held by the holding company and by subsidiaries, 

where material, are as follows:
Securities Number of shares
exchange 2004 2003

Listed investments
Astra Industries Limited Zimbabwe 15 311 155 15 311 155
Cairns Holdings Limited Zimbabwe 15 311 155 15 311 155
Tractive Power Holdings Limited Zimbabwe 15 311 155 15 311 155

Unlisted investments
BoE Bank Trust – preference shares 246 850 000 246 850 000
Business Partners Limited 2 209 594 2 209 594
Energyst B.V. 31 407 31 407

The detailed registers of investments are open for inspection at the registered office of the companies.

36. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
Issued Percentage

share held by

capital investors

Investor company/associate Principal products or activities R000 2004 2003

Barloworld Australia (Pty) Limited

Chemcorp Australia (Pty) Limited 1 Paint colourant manufacturer 200 50

Mercedes-Benz of Melbourne (Pty) Limited 1 Motor retailer 9 380 49 49

Barloworld Coatings (Pty) Limited

Herberts – Plascon (Pty) Limited Automotive coatings 21 49 49

International Paints (Pty) Limited Industrial coatings 20 49 49

Longridge (Pty) Limited Paint colourant manufacturer 1 50

Sizwe Paints (Pty) Limited Decorative paint distributor 30 30

Valspar (SA) (Pty) Limited Can coatings manufacturer 17 20 20

Barloworld Equipment Company

Surcotec (Pty) Limited Metal spraying and 

general engineering 40

Umndeni Circon (Pty) Limited Generator set manufacturing 1 33 33

Barloworld Holdings Plc

Barzem Enterprises (Pty) Limited 4 Caterpillar dealer 48 35 35

Select Trucks LLC 2 Used truck dealer 50

Barloworld Investments (Pty) Limited

Avis Southern Africa Limited Car rental 171 282 35
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36. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE COMPANIES continued

Issued Percentage

share held by

capital investors

Investor company/associate Principal products or activities R000 2004 2003

Barloworld Motor (Pty) Limited

Investment Facility Company 383 (Pty) Limited

t/a Sizwe Car Rental Short-term car rental 231 500 49

Midlands Car Hire Limited 

t/a Avis Rent-A-Car Zambia 6 Short-term car rental 100 45

Barloworld Robor (Pty) Limited

Bonskia Investment (Pty) Limited Steel and metal traders 49

Mine Support Products (Pty) Limited Pit props 1 50 50

Stewarts & Lloyds Trading 

(Wadeville) (Pty) Limited Steel and metal traders 40 65

Pretoria Portland Cement Company Limited

Amanzi Lime Services (Pty) Limited Lime services 4 50

Kgale Quarries 5 Aggregate manufacture 378 50

Shaleje Service Trust Administration service 38 38

All companies are incorporated in (or operate principally in) the Republic of South Africa except where otherwise indicated.
1. Australia
2. United States of America
3. Spain
4. Zimbabwe
5. Botswana
6. Zambia

37. SIGNIFICANT JOINT VENTURES
Percentage

held by

investors

Investor company/joint venture Principal products or activities 2004 2003

Barloworld Equipment Company

Barloworld Optron Technologies (Pty) Limited GPS technology on earthmoving equipment 50.0

The Used Equipment Co (Pty) Limited Traders in used Caterpillar equipment 50.0

Barloworld Motor (Pty) Limited

NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Limited Motor retailer 50.0 50.0

Auric Auto (Pty) Limited Motor retailer 49.0

Pretoria Portland Cement Company Limited

Slagment (Pty) Limited Slag-based products 33.3 33.3

Barloworld Holdings Plc

Finaltair Barloworld SA Energy generation 50 50



170

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 September 2004

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Various transactions are entered into by the company and its subsidiaries during the year with related parties. Unless specifically
disclosed these transactions occurred under terms that are no less favourable than those entered into with third parties. Intra-
group transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

The following is a summary of transactions with related parties during the year and balances due at year-end:

Joint
control or
significant Joint ventures
influence in which 

holders Associates the group
R millions in the group of the group is a venturer

Group
2004
Goods and services sold to
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company SA Limited 25
The Used Equipment Co (Pty) Limited 103
Avis Southern Africa Limited prior to acquisition 

of 100% of the company 61
Herberts – Plascon (Pty) Limited 64
Mine Support Products (Pty) Limited 49
International Paints (Pty) Limited 24
Amanzi Lime Services (Pty) Limited 21
Select Trucks LLC 21
Other sales to related parties 52 25

25 292 128

Goods and services purchased from
Avis Southern Africa Limited prior 

to acquisition of 100% of the company 56
Select Trucks LLC 58
Other purchases from related parties 48 4

162 4

Other transactions
Interest paid to Old Mutual Life Assurance Company 
SA Limited on short-term borrowings 25
Management fees received from associates 13

25 13

Amounts due from/(to) related parties as at end of year *
The Used Equipment Co (Pty) Limited (payment terms 60 days) 110
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company SA Limited – 

short-term borrowings (2)
Loans and other trade related amounts due from related parties 44 3

(2) 44 113
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued
Joint

control or
significant Joint ventures
influence in which 

holders Associates the group
R millions in the group of the group is a venturer

Group
2003
Goods and services sold to
Avis Southern Africa Limited 119
Herberts – Plascon (Pty) Limited 70
Select Trucks LLC 56
Sizwe Paints (Pty) Limited 52
Mine Support Products (Pty) Limited 52
Amanzi Lime Services (Pty) Limited 29
Other sales to related parties 28 3

406 3

Goods and services purchased from
Avis Southern Africa 42
Select Trucks LLC 89
Longridge (Pty) Limited 67
NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Limited 4

198 4

Other transactions
Interest paid to Old Mutual Life Assurance Company 

SA Limited on short-term borrowings 68
Management fees received from associates 15

68 15

Amounts due from/(to) related parties as at end of year *
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company SA Limited – 

short-term borrowings (81)
Loans and other trade related amounts due from related parties 37

(81) 37

Terms on outstanding balances
Unless otherwise noted, all outstanding balances are payable within 30 days, unsecured and not guaranteed.

Associates and joint ventures
Details of investments in associates and joint ventures are disclosed in note 7 and 36 to 37.
Income from associates and joint ventures is disclosed in note 7.

Subsidiaries
Details of income from subsidiaries are disclosed in note 19.
Details of investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 5 and 34.

Directors
Details regarding directors’ remuneration and interests are disclosed in note 33, and share options are disclosed in note 12.

Transactions with key management and other related parties
There were no material transactions with key management or close family members of related parties.

* There are no doubtful debt provisions raised in respect of amounts due from/to related parties and no bad debts incurred during the year on these balances.
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued
Shareholders
The principal shareholders of the company are disclosed on page 15.

The group’s borrowings include short-term loans of R2 million from Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (South Africa) Limited
as at 30 September 2004 (2003: R81 million).

Retirement fund contributions are made on behalf of employees to the Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (South Africa) Limited.

Contingent liabilities
Details disclosed per note 29 include repurchase obligations to Avis Southern Africa of R26 million as at 30 September 2003.

Barloworld Medical Scheme
Contributions of R58 million were made to the Barloworld Medical Scheme on behalf of employees (2003: R55 million).

Joint
control or

Significant With Between
influence subsidiaries subsidiaries

holders in of the of the 
R millions the company company company

Company
2004
Goods and services sold to 236

Goods and services purchased from 17

Dividends, interest and other transactions – (expense)/income (25) 2 441 750

Inter group loans and other amounts due (to)/from related parties 
as at end of year * (2) 3 592

2003
Goods and services sold to 196

Goods and services purchased from 35

Dividends, interest and other transactions – (expense)/income (68) 857 285

Inter group loans and other amounts due (to)/from related parties 
as at end of year * (81) 2 578

* There are no doubtful debt provisions raised in respect of amounts due from/to related parties and no bad debts incurred during the year on these balances.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Barloworld Limited
Registration number 1918/000095/06
JSE codes: BAW and BAWP
ISIN codes: ZAE000026639 and ZAE000026647
(“Company”)

Notice is hereby given that the eighty-eighth annual general meeting of the members of the company will be held in the Tokyo
Meeting Room, Barloworld Corporate Office, 180 Katherine Street, Sandton, on Thursday, 20 January 2005, at 12:00 for the following
purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. To receive and adopt the group annual financial statements, incorporating the auditors’ report, for the year ended 30 September

2004. 

2. To elect the directors retiring by rotation in terms of the articles of association and who have been appointed during the year and
are retiring in terms of the South African Companies Act, 1973, as amended.

Directors retiring by rotation:
WAM Clewlow
BP Diamond
JE Gomersall
DB Ntsebeza
EP Theron

Directors who have been appointed during the year:

PJ Blackbeard 10 May 2004
G Rodriguez de Castro Garcia de los Rios 30 January 2004

All of the directors are available for election or re-election, as the case may be, and there are no further candidates.

The curriculum vitae for each director appears on pages 18 to 20 of this annual report.

The nominations committee recommends the candidates for favourable consideration by members at the annual general meeting. 

3. To consider the retention of Deloitte & Touche as external auditors of the company and of the group for the year ending
30 September 2005.

On the advice of the audit committee, the board recommends to the members of the company that Deloitte & Touche be re-
appointed as external auditors.

4. On the recommendation of the remuneration committee, to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass with or without modification the
following ordinary resolution:

Resolved that in terms of article 61 of the company’s articles of association, the fees payable to the Chairman and non-executive
directors for their services to the board, audit committee and board committees be revised with effect from 1 January 2005
as follows: 

Present Proposed

Chairman of the board, inclusive of fees payable as chairman of board committees R1 100 000 R1 250 000
Resident non-executive directors R100 000 R110 000
Non-resident non-executive directors £40 000 £44 000
Chairman of the audit committee £20 000 £20 000
Resident members of the audit committee R20 000 R30 000
Non-resident members of the audit committee £2 500
Resident members of each of the three (2003: two) board sub-committees R10 000 R25 000
Non-resident members of each of the three (2003: two) board sub-committees £2 500



SPECIAL BUSINESS
5. To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass with or without modification, the following ordinary resolution: 

Resolved that the directors be and they are hereby authorised as a specific authority in terms of section 221 (2) of the South African
Companies Act, 1973, as amended, to allot and issue from time to time in accordance with and for the purposes of the Barloworld
Share Option Scheme, unissued ordinary shares in the authorised capital of the company equal to not more than 12.5% of the total
issued ordinary shares of the company from time to time. In addition and in accordance with the provisions of the Barloworld Share
Option Scheme and the Barloworld Share Purchase Scheme, to allot such number of ordinary shares as have, from time to time,
been taken up and paid for in full in terms of those schemes by retired employees or former employees after the expiry of one year
from the date on which such employees ceased to be employed or became retired and the shares in question had been paid for
in full.

Further, that the directors referred to hereafter having been granted options (and in the case of PJ Blackbeard in the years prior to
his appointment as a director of the company) in terms of the Barloworld Share Option Scheme as approved and adopted by the
company on 1 July 1985, the company hereby approves in terms of section 222(1)(a) of the South African Companies Act, 1973, as
amended, the allotment and issue to any director referred to, of the number of shares set out against his name insofar as he
exercises his options:

PJ Blackbeard 148 334
MD Coward 35 000
LS Day 35 000
BP Diamond 35 000
JE Gomersall 35 000
AJ Lamprecht 35 000
AJ Phillips 50 000
PM Surgey 35 000
CB Thomson 35 000

The reason for proposing this ordinary resolution is for the directors to obtain authority from the members to allot and issue shares
to these directors as and when share options granted to them in terms of the Barloworld Share Option Scheme are exercised.

6. To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass with or without modification, the following special resolution:

Resolved that article 69.4.2.3 of the company’s articles of association reading:
“guaranteeing its contracts, obligations or liabilities” be amended by the addition of the words “. . . and those of its subsidiary companies.”

In its fullest context the article will now read:
“The directors may make such arrangements on behalf of the company as they think advisable for the guaranteeing of its contracts,
obligations or liabilities and those of its subsidiary companies.”

The reason and the effect of the special resolution is to allow the company to guarantee the obligations of its subsidiaries.

Any member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and, on a poll, vote in his/her
stead. The person so appointed need not be a member of the company. Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the company’s
transfer secretaries or United Kingdom registrars by not later than 12:00 (South African time) on Tuesday, 18 January 2005.

Holders of dematerialised shares, other than “own-name” dematerialised shareholders, who wish to vote at the annual general
meeting, must instruct their Central Securities Depositary Participant (CSDP) or broker accordingly. Holders of dematerialised shares,
other than “own-name” dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the annual general meeting in person need to arrange the
necessary authorisation as soon as possible, through their CSDP or broker, in terms of the agreement existing between them.

By order of the board

MJ Barnett
Secretary

Sandton
15 December 2004
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Barloworld Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

Registration number 1918/000095/06
JSE codes: BAW and BAWP

ISIN codes: ZAE000026639 and ZAE000026647
(“the company”)

Only for the use of registered holders of certificated ordinary shares in the company and the holders of dematerialised ordinary shares
in their own name in the capital of the company at the annual general meeting of members to be held in the Tokyo Meeting Room,
Barloworld Corporate Office, 180 Katherine Street, Sandton, on Thursday, 20 January 2005, at 12:00 (South African time).

Holders of ordinary shares in the company (whether certificated or dematerialised) through a nominee must not complete this proxy
form but should timeously inform that nominee, or, if applicable, their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or stockbroker
of their intention to attend the meeting and request such nominee, CSDP or stockbroker to issue them with the necessary
authorisation to attend or provide such nominee, CSDP or stockbroker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend
the meeting in person. Such ordinary shareholders must not return this proxy form to the transfer secretaries.

I/We _____________________________________________________________ of ______________________________________________________
being a holder(s) of _______________________________________________ ordinary shares _________________________________________
hereby appoint ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________
of _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
or failing him/her, __________________________________________________________________________________________________________
of _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
or failing him/her, the chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to attend and speak and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the
meeting which will be held for the purpose of consideration and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary
and special resolutions to be proposed at the meeting and at each adjournment of the meeting and to vote for or against the ordinary
and special resolutions or to abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued ordinary share capital of the company
registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions (see note 9): 

*Insert an X or the number of ordinary shares (see note 9)

Agenda item *Vote in favour *Vote against *Abstain

1. Adoption of annual financial statements

2. Election of directors:
PJ Blackbeard
WAM Clewlow
BP Diamond
JE Gomersall
DB Ntsebeza
G Rodriguez de Castro Garcia de los Rios
EP Theron

3. Appointment of auditors

4. Approval of non-executive directors’ fees

5. Authority to issue shares in terms of the share option scheme

6. Amendment to articles of association

Insert an X in the relevant spaces above according to how you wish your votes to be cast. However, if you wish to cast your votes in
respect of a lesser number of ordinary shares than you own in the company, insert the number of ordinary shares held in respect of
which you desire to vote (see note 9).

Signed at ________________________________________________________ on _____________________________________________________

Signature(s) ______________________________________________________ Date ___________________________________________________

Assisted by me (where applicable)____________________________________________________________________________________________

Each member is entitled to appoint a proxy (who need not be a member of the company) to attend, speak and vote in place of that
member at the meeting.

Please read the notes on the reverse side of this proxy form.
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PROXY FORM



Instructions on signing and lodging of the annual general meeting proxy form. 

1. A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank spaces need not be signed or initialled. Any alterations must
be signed, not initialled. 

2. The chairman shall be entitled to decline to accept the authority of a signatory:
(a) under a power of attorney; or
(b) on behalf of a company
unless the power of attorney or authority is deposited with the transfer secretaries, Ultra Registrars (Pty) Limited, 11 Diagonal
Street, PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000, South Africa, or the United Kingdom registrars, Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway,
Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6DA, England, by not later than 12:00 (South African time) on Tuesday, 18 January 2005. 

3. The signatory may insert the name of any person(s) whom the signatory wishes to appoint as his/her proxy in the blank space/s
provided for that purpose. 

4. When there are joint holders of shares and if more than one such joint holder be present or represented, then the person whose
name appears first in the register of members in respect of such shares or his/her proxy, as the case may be, shall alone be entitled
to vote in respect thereof. 

5. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the signatory from attending the annual general meeting and
speaking and voting in person thereat should such person wish to do so, to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof. 

6. If, in the appropriate place on the face of the proxy, there is no indication of how to vote in respect of any resolution the proxy
shall be entitled to vote as he/she deems fit in respect of that resolution. 

7. The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any proxy form which is completed other than in accordance
with these instructions, provided that in the event of acceptance, he/she is satisfied as to the manner in which a member wishes
to vote. 

8. If the shareholding is not indicated on the form of proxy, the proxy will be deemed to be authorised to vote the total shareholding
registered in the member’s name. 

9. Please insert an X in the relevant space according to how you wish your votes to be cast. However, if you wish to cast your votes
in respect of a lesser number of ordinary shares than you own in the company, insert the number of ordinary shares held in respect
of which you wish to vote. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from
voting at the meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the ordinary shareholder’s votes exercisable at the meeting. An ordinary
shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the ordinary shareholder or by his/her proxy, but the
total of the votes cast in respect of which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total number of votes exercisable by the
ordinary shareholder or by his/her proxy.

10. A form of proxy sent by electronic medium to the Secretary or Transfer Secretaries within the time allowed for submission, shall
be deemed to constitute an instrument of proxy.

11. Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the company’s Transfer Secretaries, Ultra Registrars (Pty) Limited, 11 Diagonal Street,
PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000, South Africa or the United Kingdom registrars, Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing,
West Sussex BN99 6DA, England, by no later than 12:00 (South African time) on Tuesday, 18 January 2005.

176

NOTES TO THE PROXY FORM



CONTENTS
2 Chairman’s review and financial summary

6 Value Based Management

7 Chief executive officer’s statement

12 Organisational profile

15 Stakeholder overview

16 Report scope and profile

18 Board of directors

22 Governance

32 • Management of risk

43 GRI index

44 Performance indicators

44 • Economic

48 • Environmental

52 • Social

64 Index to annual financial statements

64 Currency conversion guide

65 Report of the independent auditors

65 Certificate by secretary

66 Directors’ responsibilities and approval

68 Finance director’s review

72 Operational reviews

104 Six-year summary

108 Summary in other currencies

110 Balance sheets

111 Income statements

112 Cash flow statements

113 Notes to the cash flow statements

114 Statement of changes in equity

117 Notes to the annual financial statements

173 Notice of annual general meeting

175 Proxy form

IBC Shareholders’ diary

IBC Corporate information

Sustainability reporting in terms of the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)

This report is prepared in accordance with the guidelines for sustainability reporting
developed by the GRI, which is attracting growing support from organisations such as
ours around the world.

It presents and analyses the performance of Barloworld in economic, environmental and
social terms, which are generally agreed to be the crucial determinants of sustainability
and are known as “the triple bottom line”. 

We believe that the GRI structure, which is the framework for this report, promotes
transparency, enhances the clarity and credibility of our communication with our diverse
stakeholders, facilitates comparisons across organisations throughout the world and
addresses issues that concern the broad sweep/spectrum of stakeholders.

Our intention is to give users of this report a clearer understanding of our operations, the
principles that drive them and the impact that they make on the economic, social and
physical environments in which we conduct our business.

In fact, the elements of sustainability are embedded in Barloworld’s Value Based
Management approach, in which our entire business is geared to creating value for all
our stakeholders simultaneously – our shareholders, customers, employees, principals and
suppliers, and the wider community, including custodianship of the physical environment. 

These value creation objectives underpin the sustainability of our enterprise.

For further information on the GRI visit www.globalreporting.org
www.globalreporting.org

The GRI Index

Throughout this report, the GRI content index is referenced in the margins of the pages.
All “Core Indicators” are discussed in the report. The references in the margins also
indicate those aspects of the GRI framework that have not been reported on. These are
listed as “NOT ASSESSED” and are all “Additional Indicators”.

Photography

The photographs on pages 17 to 41 illustrate some of Barloworld’s diverse product
range. The photographs on pages 45 to 61 are of the business unit finalists in our annual
CEO’s Award competition. The overall winner for 2004 was Alex Frielingsdorf of
Barloworld Motor (see page 61).

SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

Financial year-end 30 September
Annual general meeting 20 January 2005

Reports and profit statements Published:
• Half-yearly interim report May
• Results for the year November
• Annual report December

Dividends Declared: Paid:
• 6% cumulative preference shares March April

September October
• Ordinary shares – interim May July

– final November January

Details of final dividend declared
• Cents per share 265
• Date declared Monday, 15 November 2004
• Last day to trade cum dividend Friday, 7 January 2005
• First trading day ex dividend Monday, 10 January 2005
• Record date Friday, 14 January 2005
• Payment date Monday, 17 January 2005

Share certificates may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between Monday, 10 January 2005 and Friday, 14 January 2005, both
days inclusive.

Secretary
MJ Barnett

Business address and registered office
180 Katherine Street
PO Box 782248, Sandton, 2146
South Africa
Telephone +27 11 445 1000
Telefax +27 11 444 3643
Website www.barloworld.com

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche
Deloitte & Touche Place
The Woodlands
Corner Woodlands and Kelvin Drives
Woodmead, 2199
South Africa
Telephone +27 11 806 5000
Telefax +27 11 806 5003

Attorneys
Bowman Gilfillan Inc
165 West Street, Sandton
PO Box 785812, Sandton, 2146
South Africa
Telephone +27 11 669 9000
Telefax +27 11 669 9001

Transfer secretaries
Ultra Registrars (Pty) Limited
11 Diagonal Street
PO Box 4844
Johannesburg
2000
South Africa
Telephone +27 11 834 2266
Telefax +27 11 834 4398
E-mail barloworld@ultrareg.co.za

United Kingdom registrar
Lloyds TSB Registrars
The Causeway, Worthing
West Sussex, BN99 6DA, 
England
Telephone +44 190 350 2541
Telefax +44 190 385 4031

Principal bankers
Absa Group Limited
Australia and New Zealand Banking
Group Limited
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria S.A.
Bank of America, NA
Citibank International plc
FirstRand Bank Limited
Lloyds TSB Bank plc
Nedbank Limited

Royal Bank of Scotland plc
(National Westminster Bank plc)
The Standard Bank of South Africa
Limited
WestLB AG, London Branch

Company registration number
1918/000095/06
JSE codes: BAW and BAWP
ISIN codes: ZAE000026639 and

ZAE000026647

Sponsor
Cazenove, South Africa (Pty) Limited

(Johannesburg)
First Floor, Moorgate
Dunkeld Park, 6 North Road
Dunkeld West
PO Box 412468, Craighall, 2124
Johannesburg, South Africa
Telephone +27 11 280 7900
Telefax +27 11 341 0377

(London)
20 Moorgate
London EC2R6DA
England
Telephone +44 207 588 2828
Telefax +44 207 606 9205
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